PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record. TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due.

	DATE DUE	DATE DUE
OWA CO MAN		
9 17 25 200 4		
SET 2 5 2009 		
122709		
		-

MSU is An Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution

		1
		1
		I
		Ì
		, ,
		· ·
		i i
		•
		Ì

KNOWLEDGE AND SKILL AREAS ASSOCIATED WITH DISABILITY MANAGEMENT PRACTICE FOR REHABILITATION COUNSELORS

By

Susan Maria Scully

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to
Michigan State University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements
for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Counseling, Educational Psychology and Special Education

1996

ABSTRACT

KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS AREAS ASSOCIATED WITH DISABILITY MANAGEMENT PRACTICE FOR REHABILITATION COUNSELORS

By

Susan Maria Scully

A national survey of disability management providers was conducted in order to identify and delineate the knowledge and skills perceived by practitioners to be important in disability management service provision. Furthermore, this study explored the reported preparedness of disability management providers. Participants included 790 individuals who were either associated with professional health and injury management associations or were Certified Rehabilitation Counselors in Michigan, Ohio and California. Participants were mailed the Disability Management Skills Inventory (DMSI) which was developed for this investigation. A total of 311 individuals responded for an overall response rate of 39.4%. Sixty-seven individuals reported no involvement in disability management thus, yielding 244 usable questionnaires. The final sample of respondents consisted of 149 rehabilitation counselors, 18 business professionals, 9 social workers and psychologists, 30 nurses, 23 physical and occupational therapists, and 13 "other" professionals. Factor analysis of the DMSI revealed 94 knowledge and skill items distributed across 3 competency areas: (a) Fundamentals of Disability Management; (b) Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation; and (c) Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy. Multivariate and univariate analyses of variance revealed significant differences in perceived importance of various knowledge and skill areas according to respondents' provider setting and professional classification. In addition, significant differences in reported preparedness on the various knowledge and skill areas according to professional

classification were found. Results were presented and discussed according to their implications for rehabilitation counselor practice, education and future research.

To my mother, Dorothy, and my son, Aleksander; my best friends.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This dissertation would not have been possible without the guidance and assistance of faculty members, family and friends. I would like to offer sincere gratitude and thanks to my committee, Dr. Michael Leahy, Dr. Rochelle Habeck, Dr. Nancy Crewe, and Dr. Betsy Becker. A special thank you and appreciation is extended to my dissertation director, Dr. Michael Leahy. Without his tireless support and guidance, the dream of completing this dissertation would not have been realized. My deepest gratitude and appreciation is extended to my advisor, Dr. Rochelle Habeck. Dr. Habeck has provided countless hours of support, understanding, and wisdom. Her commitment to excellence is appreciated and admired.

It is important to acknowledge my family and friends who offered assistance and understanding throughout the course of my doctoral program. My mother provided unlimited support and encouragement, and it is truly acknowledged that without her this degree would not have been accomplished. I would like to recognize and thank many of my friends who contributed to the earning of this degree. My best friend, Sally Smith offered much support, encouragement and understanding throughout this process. She was my biggest cheerleader, always offering encouraging words to keep me going. My dear friend, Margaret Sebastian provided support and shared care taking responsibilities for my son, Aleksander. She always offered to help even though her load was just as heavy. Finally, I wish to extend a sincere thank you to my friend and fellow classmate, Manuela Kress. She always managed to keep me going; she was a comfort and a big motivator.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
Statement and Signficance of the Problem	3
Purpose of the Study	8
Definition of Terms	12
Assumptions and Limitations	13
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	16
The Concept of Disability Management	16
Disability Management and Rehabilitation	16
Definitions of Disability Management	20
Components of the Disability Management	
Approach	23
Employer Support for Disability Management Strategies	27
The Practitioners Role in Disability Management	31
Current Issues Impacting Disability Management	38
The Evolution of Rehabilition in the Private Sector	39
History	39
Rehabilitation Counseling and Individuals with	
Industrial Injuries	44
Specialization in Rehabilitation Counseling	45
Competency Studies in Rehabilitation Counseling	51
Research Efforts to Further Define Rehabilitation	
in the Private Sector	58

CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY	66
Subjects	66
Description of the Sample	66
Sampling Procedures	70
Instrumentation	71
Instrument Development	71
Procedures	80
Design	80
Data Collection	80
Data Analysis	82
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	85
Characteristics of the Sample	85
Provider Settings and Professional Classifications of	
theTotal Sample	86
Provider Settings and Professional Classifications of	
the Final Sample	88
Characteristics of the Sampling Frame	90
Education	94
Certification Status	97
Perceived Importance and Preparedness of DMSI Items	97
Factor Analysis	111
Factor One: Fundamentals of Disability Management	126
Factor Two: Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation	126
Factor Three: Elements of Facilitative Counseling	
and Advocacy	130
Perceived Importance and Preparedness for Factors	135
Differences According to Provider Setting and Professional	
Classification	135

CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION	
Observations About Disability Management	
Providers	144
Importance and Preparedness of Knowledge and Skill Areas	
Associated with Disability Management Practice	147
Importance and Preparedness in Fundamentals	
of Disability Management	148
Importance and Preparedness in Elements	
of Vocational Rehabilitation	149
Importance and Preparedness in Elements	
of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy	152
Limitations	154
Conclusions	156
Implications for the Rehabilitation Profession	159
Implications for Further Research	161
APPENDICES	
Appendix A: Disability Management Skills Inventory	163
Appendix B: Demographic Questionnaire	171
Appendix C: Original Pilot Study Instrument	174
Appendix D: Means and Standard Deviations of Provider Categories	
for Survey Items	183
Appendix E: Rehabilitation Skills Inventory	185
Appendix F: Transmittal Letter for First Mailing	190
Appendix G: Transmittal Letter for Second Mailing	191
Appendix H: Transmittal Letter for Disability Management	
Conference	192
Appendix H: Follow-up Postcard	193
Appendix I: Means and Standard Deviations for Provider Settings on	
DMSI Items	194
Appendix J: Means and Standard Deviations for Professional	
Classifications on DMSI Items	204
LIST OF REFERENCES	225

LIST OF TABLES

Table	1-Rating Scales for the DMSI	78
Table	2-Total Sample by Subsample Group and Professional	
	Classification	89
Table	3-Final Sample by Provider Setting and Professional	
	Classification	91
Table	4-Final Sample by Subsample Group and Professional	
	Classification	92
Table	5-Final Sample Highest Degree Obtained by Provider	
	Setting	95
Table	6-Respondents' Highest Degree Obtained by Professional	
	Classification	96
Table	7-Means and Standard Deviations for the Final Sample	
	on Importance	99
Table	8-Means and Standard Deviations for the Final Sample	
	on Preparedness	112
Table	9-Items in Factor One: Fundamentals	
	of Disability Management	127
Table	10-Items in Factor Two: Elements	
	of Vocational Rehabilitation	131
Table	11-Items in Factor Three: Elements of	
	Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy	133
Table	12-Factor Analysis Results for the DMSI	136
	13-Means and Standard Deviations on Factors for	
	Provider Settings	137
Table	14-Means and Standard Deviations on Factors for	
	Professional Classification	138
Table	15-Two-way Analysis of Variance for Importance	
	Factor One	140
Table	16-Two-way Analysis of Variance for Importance	
	Factor Two	140
Table	17-Two-way Analysis of Variance for Importance	
	Factor Three	141

Table	18-Two-way Analysis of Variance for Preparedness	
- 00-10	Factor One	14:
Table	19-Two-way Analysis of Variance for Preparedness	
	Factor Two	142
Table	20-Two-way Analysis of Variance for Preparedness	
	Factor Three	142

Chapter I

Introduction

The field of vocational rehabilitation has experienced many changes over the years including the shift from predominantly public sector to private sector and industry-based service provision. Initially, rehabilitation counselors were employed primarily in the state/federal system, however, today rehabilitation counselors are employed in a variety of settings such as school systems, hospitals, employee assistance programs, private practice and private industry (Desmond, 1985; Garvin, 1985; Lynch & Herbert, 1984). This service sector and setting shift also represents a change in rehabilitation emphasis.

Previously the majority of rehabilitation services were provided to assist persons with disabilities to obtain employment, whereas in contrast, the private sector or industry-based rehabilitation services have focused on assisting persons with disabilities to maintain employment. This change in rehabilitation service emphasis has been influenced by economic, social and legislative factors that have subsequently impacted the way that employers manage their workers with disabilities and has created the need for industry-based disability intervention strategies.

Specific factors which have contributed to the development of disability management programs in the workplace include anti-discrimination laws and regulations, cost containment in health care and workers' compensation, increased numbers of qualified people with disabilities entering the labor market, and the expansion of social consciousness about employing persons with disabilities (Pati, 1985; Galvin, 1991). As a result of these factors and the shift to a more global economy, employers have begun to realize the importance of hiring and retaining a skilled, dependable work force along with controlling health and disability costs to remain profitable and competitive. Tate, Habeck, and Galvin (1986) indicated that these business trends have prompted employers to

become more aware of the need for and potential benefits of managing disability through disability management programs.

Over the past decade, disability management programs have gained credibility as a natural alternative for employers in addressing premature disability or early retirement for those employees who have experienced serious injuries or illnesses (Akabas, Gates, & Galvin, 1992). Employers are recognizing that disability costs are significant and that with the help of disability management programs, these costs can be controlled (Habeck, Leahy, Hunt, Chan, & Welch, 1991; Hunt, Habeck, VanTol, & Scully, 1993; Shrey, 1990). Disability management programs have not only been recognized as a valuable alternative for employers, but for workers with injuries and disabilities as well (Habeck et al., 1991). Safety, health and stability of employment are major concerns for workers. According to Akabas, Gates, and Galvin (1992), one in five males and one in seven females between the ages of 20 and 60 will become disabled, therefore supporting the need for programs that assist injured and disabled workers to maintain productivity and financial independence. Disability management programs, if implemented and administered effectively, are intended to achieve a win-win situation for both employees and employing organizations (Habeck, 1991).

The concept of disability management has been applied to rehabilitation service provision. From the perspective of a rehabilitation service provider, disability management is an organizational strategy that combines clinical and case management approaches typically characterized by vocational rehabilitation counseling with the multi-disciplinary team approach of rehabilitation and the principles of organizational development. These approaches are blended into a comprehensive framework of strategies that are managed and coordinated within organizations (Tate, Habeck & Galvin, 1986).

(

d (!

ı.s

fi

Statement and Significance of the Problem

The costs of work-related injuries and illness have become major concerns for employers. Chelius, Galvin, and Owens (1992) reported that disability costs total over 8% of payroll and in 1986, disability cost the United States \$87.3 billion dollars. This figure represents actual dollars paid in lieu of wages to individuals who could not work due to a physical or mental disability. Over the past 10 to 15 years, these costs have increased between 300% and 400% and it is expected that these costs will continue to increase if solutions to control these costs are not sought (Shrey, 1990; Victor, 1989). A safety services study conducted by DuPont in 1990 cited that one lost work day case as a result of a disabling injury can cost an employer about 13,000 dollars. Included in this figure are direct costs such as wages and insurance costs, along with indirect costs like accident investigation and the loss of productivity (MacDonald, 1990). In 1990, the incidence rate of occupational injuries and illnesses was 8.8 per 100 full-time employees, which yielded an incidence total of 6.8 million workers with injuries or illnesses. This represents an increase of 177,000 injuries or illnesses over the preceding year along with an increase in the severity of injuries and illnesses (Hansen, 1992). Gilbride, Stensrud, and Johnson (1994) estimated that 8.6% to 12.1% of people in the United States had experienced some type of work disability in 1988. These figures indicate that work injuries and illnesses are not isolated events that are occurring with low frequency. In actuality, workplace disability is on the rise and is affecting large numbers of companies and their workers (Shrey, 1990). As severity of work disability increases, it is evident that intervention strategies are needed to prevent and control the impact of such occurrences.

Companies are concerned not only with the economic costs of disability in the workplace but with the human costs as well. Employers have become more aware of their valuable human resources and the importance of retaining their skilled workforce. As frequent turnover and employment of unskilled workers threaten the productivity and

profitability of the company, employers have realized the value in maintaining their current workforce (Tate, Habeck, & Galvin, 1986). Disability management is an approach that allows companies to address both the human and economic costs of disability while at the same time allowing for increased employer control over the rising costs of work-related disability. As our economy has moved toward being more service and information-oriented, a favorable climate has been created for efforts aimed at reducing workplace accidents and returning injured workers to their jobs as their contributions to the company are viewed as valuable (Backer, 1987). Furthermore, the results of two recent employer studies (Habeck, Leahy, Hunt, Chan & Welch, 1991; Hunt, Habeck, VanTol & Scully, 1993) have supported the benefit of employer based disability intervention strategies and have demonstrated that there is a relationship between an employer's disability prevention and management strategies and their overall experience with disability. Companies that have rigorously implemented the strategies associated with disability prevention and management have been effective in reducing the incidence of disability in their workplace (Habeck et al., 1991; Hunt et al., 1993).

As will be demonstrated in the literature review section for this investigation, the rehabilitation literature clearly supports the trend toward private sector employment options for rehabilitation counselors. Because of employers increased awareness of employees with disabilities and the economic implications associated with high disability incidence, it is reasonable to assume that many rehabilitation counselors employed in the private sector will provide services to business and industry during their careers. In 1986, the Research and Training Institute at the Human Resources Center in Albertson, New York conducted a nation-wide survey of 114 companies investigating their process for handling employees who experience a disabling injury or illness. Sixty-two percent of the companies responding had indicated that they had set up a disability management program and sixty percent of the companies without a disability management program felt that they

could benefit from one (Gottlieb, Vandergoot, & Lutsky, 1991). As companies continue to experience the growing costs of workplace injury and disability and look for strategies to mitigate these costs, knowledgeable, skilled practitioners will be needed to develop and implement disability management programs.

In order for rehabilitation counselors to serve as disability management practitioners, they need to possess the knowledge required to provide employers with information about the value of disability management and to communicate this knowledge in a language that employers understand. Rehabilitation counselors also need the skills to set up and operate a disability management program within a company. These knowledge and skill needs related to effective disability management practice may pose a challenge for rehabilitation counselor education programs. Kilbury, Benshoff and Riggar (1990) recognized the considerable challenge facing rehabilitation educators as they continue to prepare curriculums that are up to date and reflect the current trends facing the profession. As the trend toward employer based rehabilitation strategies became evident, Habeck and Ellien (1986) recognized that the rehabilitation counseling profession needs to become educated about how to work both with companies and individuals. Rehabilitation counseling curriculums also need to incorporate business concepts into their programs to recognize that employers as well as individuals with disabilities are the clients of rehabilitation services.

The Leadership Forum on Disability Management (Galvin, Habeck & Kirchner 1992), recognized that in order to develop a relevant curriculum to prepare graduate level rehabilitation counselors for the disability management role, it is necessary to first identify the core disability management functions and the skills required to perform these functions effectively. Education and training programs could then be developed to build these necessary skills. Findings from this investigation could provide rehabilitation counselor educators with empirical evidence to consider when looking to modify currently existing

curriculums and to develop training and continuing education programs that produce qualified professionals for employer-based practice. This information can therefore assist educators in the challenging endeavor of structuring education and training programs that will enhance graduate employment options in business and industry.

Many research efforts to date have been conducted to identify the roles and functions and competencies of rehabilitation counselors in a number of settings (e.g., Berven, 1979; Emener & Rubin, 1980; Jacques, 1959; Leahy, Wright, & Shapson, 1987; Matkin, 1983). However, to date none have specifically dealt with the competencies of rehabilitation counselors in disability management. This study marks the first attempt at investigating practitioners involved in providing disability management services and documenting the perceived importance of the knowledge and skills utilized by these practitioners.

The shift of rehabilitation counselors to the disability management arena makes it critical that rehabilitation professionals have thorough knowledge and skills of the concepts and interventions of the disability management approach. But first, the specific components and strategies of disability management service provision need to be identified and examined to find out more about what constitutes effective disability management practice. Both rehabilitation counselors who are currently providing disability management services and those who are interested in providing these services will need a knowledge and skill base on which to draw from when considering and launching into this area of practice. Szymanski, Linkowski, Leahy, Diamond, and Thoreson (1993) recognized that the basic underpinnings of any profession or specialty area are the identification of specific knowledge and skills that are required for effective service provision. Research in the field of rehabilitation counseling has continued to play an important role in the process of professionalization for rehabilitation counselors and it is under this premise that this investigation is based.

Rehabilitation professionals have been identified as a natural source to help employers meet the challenges of rising disability costs and incidence (Gottlieb, Vandergoot, & Lutsky, 1991). Havranek (1994) claimed that the unique knowledge and skills required to provide disability management programs are those which the effective rehabilitation professional already possesses. Matkin (1983) stated that rehabilitation counseling applied to the industrially injured does not involve the development of new and different counseling skills, methods or techniques. Although many agree that the field of rehabilitation and more specifically the rehabilitation counselor possesses many of the required skills necessary to provide effective disability management services, to date these assertions have not been empirically examined.

However, others disagree that rehabilitation counselors possess all of the skills and techniques required for effective disability management. For example, Shrey (1992) took a somewhat different perspective when he indicated that traditional vocational rehabilitation strategies are not adequate for returning injured workers to their jobs. He states that the vocational rehabilitation perspective tends to overemphasize the physical and psychological characteristics of individuals with injuries or illnesses and fails to recognize the importance of company and external environmental factors that impede successful return to work. In contrast, disability management as an approach to managing disability and returning injured workers to their jobs recognizes disability as a complex phenomenon that cannot be managed by clinical interventions alone but in combination with organizational strategies (Habeck, 1993).

These assertions and claims about the appropriateness of rehabilitation counselors as a qualified practitioner and the compatibility of the vocational rehabilitation process in disability management need to be investigated further. The skills and knowledge areas that are common to rehabilitation counseling practice and to the disability management role need to be identified and documented. It is also essential to determine those

knowledge and skill areas that go beyond traditional rehabilitation practice and are thought to belong exclusively to the disability management role. As disability management services continue to develop as an approach to controlling and managing workplace injuries and resulting disability in the workplace, it will be important to determine which practitioners are qualified to provide effective services.

Purpose of the Study

As public sector employment options continue to decline for rehabilitation counselors and as private industry realizes the human and economic benefits of preventing and managing disability, private sector employment for rehabilitation counselors in disability management may become a viable alternative. Fienberg and McFarlane (1979) noted that since 1973 the employment market for new professionals graduating from rehabilitation education programs has shifted from the public sector to other less traditional employment settings. Title V of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and the more recent Americans with Disabilities Act (1990) contributed to an awareness among business and industry concerning the needs and rights of their disabled workers. As a result of these events, rehabilitation counseling professionals must be educated in how to work with companies as well as individuals with disabilities when providing rehabilitation services (Gottlieb, Vandergoot, & Lutsky, 1991). Gottlieb, Vandergoot, and Lutsky's (1991) investigation was based on the recognition that it is critical to identify the important knowledge and skill areas that define effective disability management practice so that practitioners operating in this arena are prepared to deliver quality services. It is also recognized that rehabilitation counseling professionals will need to develop and acquire some of the less traditional skills that are identified as being important to disability management practice. For example, it has been noted in the literature that rehabilitation counselors will need skills in marketing and publicizing disability management services to

employers and once within companies (Gottlieb, Vandergoot, & Lutsky, 1991). Further, they must be sure to target their services to specific employers' needs and base these services on a thorough assessment of the company's disability experience (Habeck, 1991).

The purpose of this investigation was to examine and further validate the perceived importance of various knowledge and skill areas believed to be related to effective disability management practice. Furthermore, this study attempted to explore the reported preparedness of practitioners in these knowledge and skill areas. Comparisons were made with regard to the perceived level of importance and preparedness across practitioner dimensions (e.g., professional classification and provider setting). Rehabilitation counselors and other practitioners providing disability management services within three provider settings were surveyed and their responses analyzed for this investigation.

Along with answering the following specific research questions, results from this investigation provided descriptive information obtained from the demographic portion of the survey questionnaire. Information such as respondents' age, gender, educational level, and credentialling status were analyzed in relation to disability management provider's professional classification (rehabilitation counselors, nurses, physical therapists, etc.) and work setting (internal, external/private consultant, insurance based). This information was analyzed in an attempt to further describe the population of rehabilitation counselors and other practitioners providing disability management services. The specific research questions addressed in this investigation were as follows:

- 1. What are the knowledge and skill areas perceived to be important by disability management providers to achieve the outcomes of effective disability management practice?
- 2. Does the perceived importance of these knowledge and skill areas differ in relation to the provider's professional background (rehabilitation counselors, nurses, physical therapists, occupational therapists, etc.) and the provider's work setting (internal, external\private consultant, insurance-based)?

	·	

- 3. To what degree do disability management providers feel prepared in the knowledge and skill areas?
- 4. Does the reported preparation differ in relation to the provider's professional background (rehabilitation counselors, nurses, physical therapists, occupational therapists, etc.) and the provider's work setting (internal, external/private consultant, insurance-based)?

Implications for rehabilitation counselor practice, education, and research.

Based on its recency, continued growth, and increasing sophistication, rehabilitation counseling as a profession has been the focus of much research and discussion. The most noteworthy form of rehabilitation counseling research is role and function studies (Janikowski, 1990). Role and function and competency studies have traditionally served a useful purpose in rehabilitation counselor education and practice. Their results have provided clear and concise descriptions of the tasks and duties performed by rehabilitation counselors (Janikowski, 1990). Empirically derived competencies and functions have been used specifically for curriculum development and accreditation standards, as well as serving as a basis for rehabilitation counselor certification (Szymanski, Linkowski, Leahy, Diamond, and Thoreson, 1993). Additionally, Szymanski et al. (1993) indicated that empirically derived competencies and functions have assisted the rehabilitation counseling field to identify training needs among practitioners and serve as a basis for developing a professional identity.

This investigation is unique in that it will attempt to further identify the specific knowledge and skills required by rehabilitation counselors to provide disability management services. The results from this investigation are considered to have valuable implications for rehabilitation counselor practice, education and research.

On the basis of the recency of disability management as an employer-based disability strategy, rehabilitation counselors interested in pursuing this area of practice may initially face some difficulty locating job descriptions or even a network of peers that can

I i

in Ca

De De

to

d

п

ħ

assist them in identifying the multidisciplinary competencies needed for practice. Furthermore, those practitioners who are employed within companies as internal disability management providers may be responsible for writing their own job descriptions and defining their own job tasks related to their company's disability related needs. Private providers/consultants will also be responsible for marketing disability management services and developing service proposals targeted to their potential employer customers. Rehabilitation counselors need to have access to information that documents the nature of disability management practice and delineates the specific knowledge and skills necessary for effective service provision. Results from this investigation can provide rehabilitation counselors with empirically derived competencies that will identify strategies and interventions characteristic of the disability management approach. These competencies can then serve as the basis on which rehabilitation counselors can develop job descriptions, plan service proposals and perform personal knowledge and skill assessments. The results can also help rehabilitation counselors to identify the specific knowledge and skill areas in need of further development in order to provide effective disability management services. It is hoped that this study will be a stimulus for rehabilitation counselor educators to critically analyze the rehabilitation counselor's involvement in disability management and to review their curriculums to determine if alterations are needed to prepare graduates for effective practice in disability management. Results can also be used to analyze and develop training and continuing education programs that address disability management competencies.

Finally, this study could be a stimulus for other research in this area of practice to more fully validate and evaluate the competencies required for effective disability management service provision. Additional research in disability management practice will be needed to determine if this area warrants consideration of specialty status within the profession of rehabilitation counseling.

Det

<u>Dis</u> is a

WT

reto (Ca

Re

Ga

ph; per

pro in 3

ca: (e

an (S

Pı

jn.

m

Pr er

D

Definition of Terms

Disability Management: Disability management as defined for the use of this investigation is a proactive approach in the workplace to reduce economic and human costs associated with disability by preventing disability incidence or remediating its effects and coordinating return-to-work strategies for retaining employees with disabilities in employment (Carruthers, 1993; Habeck, Leahy, Hunt, Chan, & Welch, 1991; Schwartz, Watson, Galvin and Lipoff, 1989).

Rehabilitation Counselor: Practitioner with a master's degree who assists persons with physical, mental, developmental, cognitive and emotional disabilities to achieve their personal, career, and independent living goals through the utilization of the counseling process. Some of the specific techniques and modalities used by rehabilitation counselors include: (a) assessment and appraisal, (b) diagnosis and treatment planning, (c) career/vocational counseling, (d) case management, referral and service coordination, (e) program evaluation, (f) intervention to remove barriers (environmental, employment, and attitudinal), and (g) job analysis, job accommodation, and job placement services (Scope of Practice for Rehabilitation Counseling, 1994).

Provider Setting: Individuals' primary employment setting when providing disability management services. Internal providers are company employees who directly provide/administer disability management services in-house. External providers are independent, private providers or employees of firms that are contracted to develop and/or provide disability management consultation or services. Insurance-based providers are employed by an insurance carrier or third party administrator that provides disability management services.

Pr

de

cla

ps. an

<u>C</u>

SA.

Ą

lt dis

Th We

m

and Po

ŝe

Par

e.d

inf

<u>Professional Classification</u>: Individual's professional background and identity as self-designated on the Disability Management Skills Inventory. The following professional classification groups were represented in the study: (a) rehabilitation counselors; (b) psychologists and social workers; (c) business professionals; (d) nurses; (e) physical and occupational therapists; and (f) other professionals.

<u>Competencies</u>: Term that refers to the specific knowledge (what individuals know) and skill (what individuals do) areas required of practitioners to provide effective services intended to meet the needs of employers and individuals with disabilities.

Assumptions and Limitations

The first assumption underlying this investigation is related to the instrument used. It is assumed that the DMSI has accurately captured the competencies related to effective disability management practice; however, outcome studies were not used to verify this. The 101 knowledge and skill items on the Disability Management Skills Inventory (DMSI) were inferred from the literature and have not been connected to actual disability management outcomes.

The second assumption underlying this investigation relates to the validity of using self-report methods to assess the perceived importance and preparedness of knowledge and skill areas necessary for effective disability management service provision. It is possible to assume that survey respondents may not accurately report their responses to survey items and thus threaten the validity of the investigation. However, a substantial part of disability management providers' jobs requires that they assess the needs of workers with disabilities and assess the needs of employers related to their disability experience. More specifically, disability management providers assess and review medical information, client capacities and job requirements to determine vocational implications

(Scu

wie

cons Res

hon:

base are

198

hav. det

disa

the pop

ma Ma

of i

We dis

40 pra

ma ja,

ma

Pra Ша

(Scully & Habeck, 1993). Therefore, the perspective of disability management providers when evaluating the importance and preparedness of the knowledge and skill areas is considered to be based on "practice-based professional judgment" (Leahy, 1986).

Respondents are felt to have the skill, ability and professional judgment for accurately and honestly assessing the professional skills related to disability management. Self report based survey research has been a frequently used approach for defining competencies that are not directly observable or that can be reflected in many forms of behavior (Boyatzis, 1980). It is however acknowledged that other methods such as direct observation could have been incorporated into the study design to increase the study's validity and further determine importance and preparedness in the knowledge and skill areas related to disability management practice.

The third assumption related to this investigation deals with the generalizability of the results from the study sample. A limitation is recognized in that the accessible population and subsequent study sample include disability management practitioners who may not be representative of the entire population of disability management practitioners. Many associations and conferences have arisen to address the continuing education needs of individuals working in the disability management arena. Three such conference samples were used in this study and it is unknown how they compare with the larger population of disability management practitioners. It is recognized that the sample selected for this study could represent ideal practice versus current standard practice in that these practitioners are motivated to increasing their level of knowledge and skill in disability management through participation in disability management training events. This investigation represents one of the first attempts to define a population of disability management practitioners. It is recognized that generalizing from the sample of practitioners surveyed in this investigation to the larger population of disability management providers may pose some limitations in that the sample may not be

iebie

Sixty

and s speci

pers

effec

Courthe s

perc

effe;

knov

reha reha

reha

of d

representative of the general population of disability management providers.

The fifth assumption is related to the Disability Management Skills Inventory. Sixty four items (63.4%) were developed from the Rehabilitation Skills Inventory, an instrument considered to be a comprehensive, standardized questionnaire of knowledge and skill competencies for rehabilitation counselors and rehabilitation counseling specializations. The DMSI is therefore biased toward a rehabilitation counselor perspective as the RSI items included have not been validated as being involved in effective disability management.

Finally, the selection of the fourth group, the Commission on Rehabilitation

Counselor Certification (CRCC) sample, causes a bias toward rehabilitation counselors in
the study sample. This was done to fulfill the study's purpose which was to examine the
perceived importance of various knowledge and skill areas believed to be related to
effective disability management practice and to explore provider's preparedness in these
knowledge and skill areas. The findings would be discussed for their implications for
rehabilitation counselors. It is recognized that the results are biased toward the
rehabilitation counseling perspective and are more likely to be generalizable to the
rehabilitation counseling population in disability management rather than to all providers
of disability management.

coater

rehabi

retat

to de

man

a550

wer disa

Ţ:

19 be

th

Ī

Ī

i

Chapter II

Review of the Literature

A review of literature was conducted to inform this research and to provide a context for the investigation and to examine past research and events in the field of rehabilitation counseling that support the need for empirical research on the competencies currently performed in effective disability management practice. Competency studies in rehabilitation counseling were reviewed for their methodological approaches and findings to develop a foundation for this present study. Literature was reviewed in disability management and private rehabilitation practice to identify and infer competencies associated with disability management practice. Outcome studies in disability management were also reviewed to infer practices and thus competencies associated with effective disability management.

The Concept of Disability Management

Disability management and rehabilitation.

It was not by chance that the concept of disability management emerged during the 1980s. During this decade, employers, insurers, policy makers, and service providers became aware of the critical effects of health care costs, the aging of the workforce, and the increase in the incidence of disability in the workplace. These trends negatively impacted the business "bottom line" and paralleled foreign competition in businesses and industries which were once dominated by American companies (Galvin, 1991). Employers began to show an increased interest in disability management. Since the formal introduction of this concept in the literature, disability management has stimulated the development of publications and provider organizations facilitating the implementation of

amioy

Stully

20000

provid

betei

:0::::: :0:::::

מנות

wag

add

de

car Th

W

d: b

ä

employer disability management programs in numerous work places (Habeck, Kress, Scully & Kirchner, 1994).

Since the early days of rehabilitation, there has been a clear connection between economics and the goals of rehabilitation. As early as the 1500s, rehabilitation was provided for injured naval personnel and merchant seamen. In the late 1700s disability benefits were paid to soldiers during times of military conflict and in the 1800s workers' compensation was paid to railroad workers. Even at that time it was recognized that failure to meet the needs of workers with disabilities would create costs for society in a number of ways. Workers with injuries and disabilities impact industry directly in terms of wage loss benefits, health care and the financial costs of increased labor turnover in addition to the costs of recruitment and training of new workers. Also, the resulting decrease of workers in the labor force impacts social insurance and benefit systems that can only function adequately when large numbers of people are employed (Galvin, 1983). These early programs for injured workers clearly demonstrated that rehabilitation services were needed to reduce the financial costs of disability while at the same time demonstrating the value of promoting independence and economic productivity. Industry based rehabilitation has evolved since these early days when intervention mainly occurred after an injury or disability was acquired and has become more projective in that combiners. and rehabilitation professionals are concerned with proventing injuries and disabilities from Selfrances

Thus, the practice of disability management has important implications for both workers with disabilities and their employers (Habeck, Shrey & Growick, 1991). The opportunities that the disability management movement has created have been a source of interest for rehabilitation counselors, but only recently has this interest gained momentum (Habeck et al., 1994). This is partially due to the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). Enacted in 1990, the ADA legislatively addressed discrimination against people with

disabilities in employment. Although unanticipated, there was a significant relationship between the legal requirements of the ADA and the goals and objectives of disability management (Habeck et al., 1994). This has further strengthened the potential for the rehabilitation profession and private businesses to share resources and work collaboratively to address public policy mandates as well as the human and economic costs of disability in the workplace.

History.

Over the past 15 years, the concepts of disability management and industrial rehabilitation have emerged as critical components of business management and rehabilitation practice (Habeck, Shrey & Growick, 1991). Before this time, disability management was a new concept and was not yet operationally defined. The economic climate, labor market changes, cost containment in health care, workers' compensation costs, and legislative forces have contributed to the adoption of rehabilitation strategies and disability management programs in the workplace (Pati, 1985; Habeck et al., 1991; Naisbitt & Aburdene, 1985). In an attempt to respond to and control these critical forces, business and industry began to experiment with a variety of interventions such as employee assistance programs, wellness programs, public and private rehabilitation programs, and job modification. However, these interventions were provided in a somewhat "piece-meal" fashion which did not comprehensively address company and employee needs and therefore, were only moderately successful (Tate, Habeck, & Galvin, 1986).

Rehabilitation practitioners in the United States were more formally introduced to the concept of industry-based rehabilitation interventions in the 1980s. At this time, the World Rehabilitation Fund sponsored several international exchanges in this area including a tour by Aila Jarvikoski from the Rehabilitation Foundation of Helsinki, Finland to lecture to rehabilitation professionals in the U.S. about his project with the City of Helsinki. The

(II)

:함.

...

act ain

:0:

3. Se

3

;

]

City of Helsinki conducted a project in 1980 to develop and test the effectiveness of a rehabilitation program for two major Helsinki employers. This program was specifically implemented to develop an effective method for screening employees needing early rehabilitation services and to develop rehabilitation strategies to be implemented at the actual work site (Galvin, 1983). This early program included a number of interventions aimed at rehabilitating injured workers including worker assessment, counseling, job reassignments, modification of work tasks and ergonomic solutions. Preventative strategies were also implemented such as exercise and relaxation sessions, and educational sessions addressing back pain, stress and cardiac impairments.

During this time period, similar workplace rehabilitation programs were being developed in other countries as well. In Sweden, firms established groups that were responsible for adapting jobs to workers with disabilities, and the Swedish government often paid up to fifty percent of costs related to modifying jobs and providing special assistive devices for employees. In Australia, many large employers rehabilitated injured workers through in-house rehabilitation programs (Galvin, 1983).

Disability management efforts in the United States also began to surface in the early 1980s. One of the first companies to develop a disability management program was Burlington Industries in North Carolina with a pilot program aimed at managing osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis (Tate, Habeck, & Galvin, 1986). Burlington implemented rehabilitation services to workers before they became permanently disabled and could not continue to work. This initial program included services such as medical screening, training for company personnel, disability and career counseling, functional assessment, job analysis and job modifications (Tate, Habeck, & Galvin, 1986).

These early disability management programs have led the way for other companies to follow and implement workplace rehabilitation strategies as it was increasingly recognized that new solutions were needed that effectively addressed the complex issue of

work disabilities. Furthermore, experiences with disability revealed that it is not simply a medical problem which can be dealt with by using medical solutions alone. Employers and rehabilitation professionals realized that preventing and managing industrial injuries had to occur within the context of the employing organization in order to achieve maximum results for both employers and employees (Habeck, 1991). Thus, the practice and conceptual foundation of disability management as a strategy for addressing the human and economic costs of disability emanated from both the domestic and international experiences of business, rehabilitation practitioners, researchers, and government (Galvin, 1986).

Definitions of disability management.

One of the first and most frequently cited definitions of disability management came from two social workers in Finland. Jarvikoski and Lahelma (1980) discussed the concept of early rehabilitation in the workplace in their lecture tour to the United States sponsored by the World Rehabilitation Fund. Jarvikoski and Lahelma (1980) described disability management as a coordinated activity directed toward individuals with chronic or permanent functional limitations or disabilities, or an activity directed toward individuals with symptoms indicating that there is risk of such limitations or disabilities. Disability management services according to Jarvikoski and Lahelma (1980) are intended to restore an individual's work capacity. Disability management services include strategies aimed at developing an individual's resources or removing barriers imposed by the work environment.

Galvin (1983) also provided an early definition of disability management, stating that it is an orientation within business and industry that emphasizes the early identification of disability-related problems. This orientation also includes the management of physical symptoms of disability, the modification of jobs within the company, and the development

οÍ

La

fo t£:

Š

. III., Æ.

> tte ma

red sub

ţ:o ide

and

101 trac

con "fa(

disa min

The **a**lio

dec (]9

of policies that facilitate the return-to-work of employees with injuries or disabilities.

Later, this definition was broadened by Schwartz, Watson, Galvin, and Lipoff (1989) and focused on the goal of disability management versus the specific services provided within the context of disability management. Disability management was described to include the services, people, resources and materials which are utilized to (a) minimize the costs and impact of disability on the company and the employees; and (b) encourage rehabilitation and return to work for disabled employees.

LeClair and Mitchell (1993) posed two separate definitions in an effort to describe the management and prevention of injury and disability. They defined disability management as a proactive approach in which employer based strategies are developed to reduce the employment impact of injury and disability. Disability prevention was subsequently defined as the employer's proactive involvement in developing policies and procedures for employee health care, rehabilitation and return to work in addition to identifying health and safety practices and risks in order to minimize the impact of injury and disability in the work environment.

Shrey (1990) begins his definition by first clarifying what disability management is not. He states that disability management is not claims management, it is not the traditional vocational rehabilitation process and it is not an expensive approach to controlling injury and disability costs. Furthermore, disability management is not a "faddish" health promotion program nor is it a "canned" approach to managing injury and disability. Shrey (1990) describes disability management as an active process which minimizes the impact of injury or disability on the worker's ability to perform his/her job. The basic principles of Shrey's definition include disability management as a process that allows the employer to have control and to assume the responsibility for making proactive decisions as well as planning and coordinating appropriate intervention services. Shrey (1990) also includes the promotion of disability and injury prevention strategies,

3

\ 6

th:

pa (1

dia oc

Ç0,

CO(

UD (

pro effe

disa

WIL

H-01

rehabilitation services, and return to work initiatives in his description of effective disability management programs.

Akabas, Gates and Galvin (1992) defined disability management as "a workplace prevention and remediation strategy that seeks to prevent disability from occurring or. lacking that, to intervene early following the onset of disability, using coordinated, costconscious, quality rehabilitation service that reflects an organizational commitment to continued employment of those experiencing functional work limitations" (p.2). Carruthers (1993) described disability management as a proactive, preventive, positive organizational program which promotes integration of individuals into the work force versus isolation. The disability management program according to Carruthers provides services from a central source and is accepted by all company employees. The goals of this organizational program include providing a humanistic approach to managing disability, developing a single contact point with accessible communication among all parties, and reducing the costs of disability. Habeck, Leahy, Hunt, Chan and Welch (1991) also offered a comprehensive definition of disability management. They described disability management as a proactive, employer based program designed to (a) prevent the occurrence of injury and disability. (b) intervene early to mitigate disability risks, and (c) coordinate services for cost effective restoration and return to work.

These definitions share many common elements and together provide a clear understanding of the concept of disability management. Disability management is a coordinated, comprehensive, employer-based approach to managing disability which provides a win-win situation for both employers and employees. In order to be fully effective, disability management should be a proactive, positive and preventive approach with the goals of reducing economic and human costs associated with disability, reducing disability incidence and retaining the productivity of employees by coordinating return to work

Components of the disability management approach.

Based on the above definitions of disability management, proponents of disability management identified components and elements characteristic of this approach. Galvin (1986) pointed out that effective disability management programs do not just happen, but rather that there are critical conditions or factors which must be present for programs to be successful. First, top management in the company must be fully committed to managing injury and disability and returning employees to their jobs if injury or disability does occur. Successful disability management programs within companies have practices which encourage a comprehensive study and analysis of injury and disability occurrence among their workforce and have implemented policies and procedures that encourage and support their return to work commitment. Second, successful companies possess a caring, trusting environment where the quality of life and well-being of the injured/disabled worker is valued. Also, in order to successfully manage injury and disability, these companies involve labor officials or representatives in the return to work effort. Third, all company personnel (supervisors and general employees) are educated about the benefits of managing workplace injury/disability and return to work in companies with successful programs. Within this educational component Galvin also notes that it is important for other service providers participating in the return to work process to be trained as they are potentially valuable resources in the accommodation effort. Fourth, successful programs collaborate cooperatively with public agencies and private service providers. At times, supplemental services are required to return an employee to work and partnerships with outside agencies can aid in this process. Finally, Galvin recognizes that the rehabilitation process has much to offer employers who are investing in the physical and mental wellbeing of their employees. He indicates that rehabilitation services should be planned, coordinated and monitored by a skilled provider. This provider may have a variety of

backgrounds such as, counseling, personnel or psychology and should have knowledge of company services as well as community services (Galvin, 1986).

If the previously mentioned conditions are present, then the following steps are taken to implement a disability management program (Mitchell, 1982; Galvin, 1986):

- 1. Development of a corporate policy which demonstrates a commitment to rehabilitation and that addresses the specific injury/illness/disability characteristics present in the organization.
- 2. Development of an educational program for all company employees which defines the disability management concept and outlines the duties of all parties involved in the process.
- 3. Identification of the critical decision points related to medical care, disability benefits, return to work outcomes, and disability retirement.
- 4. Establishment of comprehensive and systematic rehabilitation services.
- 5. Development of a systematic return-to-work plan which involves such components as job analysis, job modification, and other placement services in order to return employees to work.
- 6. Development of an evaluation system for program review and program improvement.

As these steps for implementation of a disability management program suggest, all programs are unique and must be tailored to fit the company's specific injury and disability problems. However, successful disability management programs share many of the same components. Schwartz et al. (1989) identified key features that were present in effective disability management programs based on their case study research. The following components were presented as elements of successful programs:

- 1. A company-wide commitment to reducing disability costs and to providing the services needed to encourage return-to-work.
- 2. A thorough analysis and modification of appropriate benefits and policies which support disability management objectives.

- 3. A comprehensive assessment of the company's needs, experiences and responses to incidents of illness and injury.
- 4. Organization and coordination of the disability management approach across all levels and locations of the company, with clearly assigned responsibilities and accountability among all of the key parties and operating units.
- 5. The creation of a manageable and effective information system which documents, analyzes, manages, and evaluates data regarding employees, costs, services, and the overall impact of injury and disability.
- 6. Educational initiatives directed toward managers, supervisors, and production workers to communicate the company attitude regarding disability management efforts.
- 7. Contact with injured/ill employees and the treating physician within 24 hours after the incident occurs.
- 8. Facilitating and coordinating early return to work of disabled workers through modifications in job assignments, work hours and/or work duties.
- 9. Preparing an individual service and return to work plan by the responsible case manager along with the participating employee.
- 10. Coordinating the use of professionals with the expertise to design accommodations that permit employees with disabilities to perform their work in a productive, satisfactory manner.
- 11. Collaboration with public and private service agencies to provide mental health and rehabilitation services when appropriate.

Habeck (1991) has also identified some main features which successful employer disability management programs share. She states that the goals and aims of the disability management approach are common sense notions to effective business managers and rehabilitation professionals, however, the concepts associated with disability management are often hard to achieve in a unified way in companies. Habeck also points out that there is no specific formula or recipe for a disability management program that companies should implement blindly. The disability management program should address the particular and sometimes unique disability problems experienced by the company and its

workforce. A disability management program needs to evolve and adapt to the specific environment present within the company. According to Habeck (1991), these key features of successful disability management programs include the following:

- 1. Commitment of top management within the company.
- 2. Education and employee involvement at all levels within the company.
- 3. Involvement and participation from union/labor representatives.
- 4. A coordinated, team approach across company departments for effective case management and return to work.
- 5. Active use of safety and prevention initiatives to prevent occurrences.
- 6. Systematic procedures for effective use of health and rehabilitation services.
- 7. Early intervention strategies and continuous monitoring for all types of disability.
- 8. An organized return-to-work program, with supportive policies and modified duty work options.
- 9. The use of incentives and accountability measures to encourage participation of managers, supervisors, and employees in the disability management process.
- 10. An integrated management information system to monitor incidence, benefit usage, services, costs and outcomes.

Dent (1990) describes the process of effective disability management as neither a passive nor an aggressive approach. He describes disability management as an approach aimed at returning injured and disabled employees back to work and within this approach consistent steps are taken from the beginning, to facilitate a disabled employee's return to work. Dent (1990) offers these ways that disability management programs facilitate return to work:

1. Early identification of potential or problem disability cases.

- 2. Early contact with injured and disabled workers and assessment of motivation and resources for return to work.
- 3. Action planning or the mutually understood blue print for successful re-entry into the workplace.
- 4. Supervisors' support and cooperation with return to work efforts.
- 5. Open and frequent communication with the injured/disabled worker and all parties involved in the return to work effort.
- 6. Vocational rehabilitation including job analysis and modification, modified duty assignments and special devices and aids which allow the disabled worker to perform job duties.

Disability management is a complex initiative that consists of many components and involves many individuals from the company in addition to the involving resources from the community. Disability management programs continue to develop and change over time and need to do so in order to remain responsive to the evolving needs and circumstances experienced within the company. Therefore, the components of a company disability management program depend on the characteristics of the company, the type of work performed, the nature of the workforce, and the available resources (Akabas, Gates, and Galvin, 1992).

Employer support for disability management strategies.

Research in the area of disability management is limited and still relatively recent, however, empirical evidence does exist which supports the impact of internal firm behavior and disability management strategies on an employers' overall disability experience. Rousmaniere (1989) conducted a study of 24 hospitals in the northeastern part of the United States and found that injury incidence and severity were similar across all hospitals. However, he also revealed that there was tremendous variability in the costs incurred by these similar incidents within the hospitals studied, as well as tremendous

variation in the frequency of lost time injuries, total lost work days and workers' compensation losses at the compensation losses at hospitals with high disability rates were twice as high per employee as hospitals with low disability rates. The study found that the most important factor impacting the variability of disability rates was the hospital's internal system of risk management and post injury response. In other words, the hospitals with systematically developed disability prevention and management programs experienced much better disability rates and costs. This study concluded that over 50% of workers' compensation costs can be directly attributed to the organization's handling and management of injured workers and their claims. National Rehabilitation Planners (1993) similarly asserted that companies can reduce their workers' compensation costs by roughly 25-30% in the first year after implementing a disability management program.

Two recent studies (Habeck, Leahy, Hunt, Chan & Welch, 1991; Hunt, Habeck, VanTol & Scully, 1994) of employer practices with regard to injury and disability management have clearly illustrated the connection between disability management policies and procedures and disability outcomes within the company. The first study consisted of two parts. The first part was an analysis to determine incidence rates of workers' compensation claims among Michigan employers (Hunt, 1988). It was found that there was at least a 10 times difference in workers' compensation claim rates between the highest and lowest claims firms within each of the 30 industries studied and that this variability was only partially explained by the firm's size, industry type and location. It was found that the high claims firms which were studied had twice as many accidents and four times as many workers' compensation claims as the low claims companies. The second part of the study was a survey of 124 Michigan firms with the purpose of exploring the empirical relationship between disability prevention and management strategies and the firms' workers' compensation claims experience (Habeck, et al. 1991). The study

attempted to determine how company practices along with the structural characteristics of the company influenced their workers' compensation experience. A number of conclusions were reached from this study. It was determined from the study that this particular finding supported assertions indicating that there are two well-defined components to the disability management process; the first component consisting of strategies that prevent the occurrence of incidents, and the second component consisting of the process to manage incidents after they occur. Most importantly, it was found that a firm's management philosophies and their policies and practices related to disability prevention and management were significantly related to a positive claims experience. That is, if the firm possessed an open managerial style, a human resource orientation, rigorous implementation of safety and injury prevention strategies, and specific company procedures aimed at preventing and managing disabilities then their claims experience was positive (Habeck et al., 1991).

The second study was an outgrowth of this first study and had as its purpose the goal to provide more refined statistical and behavioral evidence about the impact of company policies and practices have on disability prevention and management (Hunt et al., 1993). This investigation studied 220 Michigan firms in seven industrial classifications. The results clearly showed that companies which frequently engaged in behaviors such as safety diligence, safety training activities, and proactive return to work strategies, experienced significantly lower rates of injuries which resulted in lost work days. Furthermore, companies implementing these behaviors also experienced fewer lost work days and fewer workers' compensation claims than those companies not engaging in these behaviors. Again, this study strongly suggested a causal connection between a firm's policies and procedures in disability prevention and management and their performance on disability measures.

This study had a qualitative component to its design which included making site visits to 32 of the companies which participated in the larger survey. Companies with the highest and lowest disability performance representing each of the industry classification groups and size categories were chosen for site visits. This qualitative component was undertaken in an attempt to better understand how disability prevention and management policies and practices are implemented and carried out within a company. Also, information on how these policies and practices actually contributed to preventing and controlling disability was sought. A number of observations were made about the characteristics of companies which successfully manage injuries and disabilities.

Successful companies make extensive use of data to identify their injury and disability problems and they analyze these problems to identify the root causes of injury and disability in their company. They use this data to measure their overall disability performance and they develop and target interventions to mitigate the causes of injury and disability. Successful companies have a top level of management which supports the goals, policies and procedures of disability prevention and management and they have an educated labor force which understands the importance of safety and disability strategies in relation to the overall well-being of the company and to themselves. Companies with a positive disability experience incorporate ergonomic strategies into their prevention efforts and they have developed effective, cooperative relationships with knowledgeable and responsive health care providers. These companies are active in case management and they implement systematic return to work strategies in such a way that the needs of individual situations and problems are addressed (Hunt, Habeck, VanTol & Scully, 1994).

These research efforts have supported the effectiveness of specific disability prevention and management strategies on the outcomes that companies can achieve with rigorous implementation. The results described in this section support the definitions and components of disability management as outlined previously. Therefore the findings were

used to develop knowledge and skill statements that constitute the Disability Management Skills Inventory developed for this investigation. Thus, data obtained from this investigation can assist in further identifying the knowledge and skills that rehabilitation counselors are performing when providing disability management services.

The practitioner's role in disability management.

In his position paper entitled "The Role of the Rehabilitation Counselor in Industry", Garvin (1985) indicates that the survival of rehabilitation depends on communicating the worth of rehabilitation services not only to persons with disabilities but to the employer community as well. He states that the rehabilitation counseling profession must consider the employer as a client or as Shawhan (1983) points out, rehabilitation counselors must acknowledge that employers are viable consumers of rehabilitation services. Pati (1985) stated that the future success of rehabilitation is directly related to the rehabilitation professional's ability to create effective partnerships with business and industry. These positions occurred at a time when disability management as an employer based initiative was gaining recognition among rehabilitation professionals and the employer community. These positions served to provide support to this concept of employer based interventions and demonstrate to rehabilitation professionals the need to acquire skills and knowledge in order to effectively interface with business and industry.

Disability management has been described by Habeck and Munrowd (1987) as an employer-based rehabilitation strategy. It is important to define what is meant by employer-based initiatives. Habeck and Munrowd (1987) state that employer-based rehabilitation describes strategies that are implemented by employers to prevent the unnecessary exit of injured employees from their jobs and to promote the retention and productivity of these employees. They indicate that it is important to distinguish employer-based strategies from employer oriented strategies such as supported

employment and projects with industries; and from private rehabilitation where service is retained by an external consultant. However, many employer-oriented rehabilitation services and disability management programs are provided by contracted providers of rehabilitation services. In addition, many of the original disability management programs were developed by insurance companies to control costs incurred by organizations insured by their company. This increased utilization of DM services provided by private providers and insurance companies has developed many opportunities for private rehabilitation to expand into this market (Welch, 1979).

At the time of Habeck and Munrowd's writing in 1987, they noted that the trend toward employment of rehabilitation counselors within internal, employer based company programs was a small one and was not a significant market at that date. The Institute for Disability Management and Rehabilitation (Schwartz, 1986) conducted a survey of 400 employers and found that only a small percentage of responding companies had a formal, identifiable internal disability management program. Results from a pilot study entitled "The Role of the Rehabilitation Counselor in Disability Management" (Scully & Habeck, 1993) revealed similar findings. Internal disability management providers were outnumbered 4 to 1 by private and insurance based providers collectively. Nevertheless, the opportunities that the workplace represents for impacting the lives of many employees by implementing effective disability management strategies (Habeck & Munrowd, 1987), is significant regardless of the source of intervention efforts.

Habeck (1991) developed a matrix to delineate two parameters that impact the nature of the role and the services provided by disability management practitioners. The two parameters are "focus of service" (i.e. the focus of service is directly on the individual employee or is indirect on the organization) and "relation to the company" (i.e. an internal company employee or an external contracted provider). Habeck (1991) asserted, that depending upon the combination of parameters, very different tasks are completed in

relation to disability management. She stated that rehabilitation counselors who focus on direct services to the individual with a disability will most likely use the skills characteristic of a professional rehabilitation counselor whereas practitioners who work with employees within the company will most likely perform the tasks of case management, service coordination, assessment and job placement within the context of the company. However, rehabilitation professionals who are focusing services on the organization are more likely to perform activities that are beyond the scope of traditional rehabilitation counselor practice. These practitioners will need knowledge of the many factors which impact health and disability in the workplace and also will require knowledge of business management and company operations.

Shrey (1990) discussed the role and function of the disability manager as a designated individual who (a) plans for effective allocation of employer resources including time, (b) coordinates rehabilitation services, develops and manages the return to work plan, and (c) reviews the progress of injured workers who have returned to work in order to determine the effectiveness of services. Shrey (1990) states that case management is an essential component of the disability management process and therefore disability managers must have the necessary skills, knowledge and resources to coordinate case management services for injured and disabled employees. In addition to case management skills, disability management practitioners must possess a working knowledge base in medical management, legal management, psychosocial management, labor relations, claims management, and other interdisciplinary skills that affect disability outcomes. Shrey (1990) asserted that the following topics must be addressed in training practitioners to function as disability managers: (a) the principles of the disability management process, (b) cost-effective disability management strategies, (c) company disability analysis, (d) the barriers which impede return to work and work retention, (e) claims and medical management, (f) the psychosocial aspects of injury and disability, (g) health promotion, risk reduction and disability prevention strategies, (h) the impact of labor relations on disability claims, (i) occupational medicine resources and interventions, (j) vocational rehabilitation services, (k) disability management program development, and (l) disability management program evaluation.

Shrey (1990) also suggested a sample training program outline which provides five training modules addressing the knowledge and skill competencies needed for disability managers (pp. 104-105). The five modules consist of topics and objectives for disability management issues, corporate health and disability analysis process, case management strategies, selection and evaluation of medical and rehabilitation providers for treatment of vocational services, and disability management program evaluation.

Habeck and Ellien (1986) indicated that rehabilitation services in the workplace are a logical application and expansion of the knowledge and skills utilized for traditional rehabilitation service. Based on this assertion, they conducted a review of the roles and functions of rehabilitation counselors in the workplace. This review and additional field research served as the basis for Habeck and Munrowd's (1987) conceptualization of disability management skill needs. They categorized the skills needed for disability management service provision in three areas; clinical and direct service skills, administrative skills, and organizational skills.

Habeck and Munrowd (1987) characterize clinical and direct service skills as counseling skills, vocational assessment, evaluation skills, and the ability to integrate occupational, educational, and social information into a plan of action. This area also includes knowledge of the medical, psychosocial and social impact of disability. Merrill (1985) indicated that the basic skill needed in this category of clinical skills are vocational assessment and planning, referral and coordination of services, and coordination of return to work.

Administrative skills are necessary to manage and coordinate effective rehabilitation services. This area of skills includes program evaluation and cost data analysis along with leadership abilities to develop and maintain disability management programs. Leadership skills are also needed for resolving and mediating conflicts between the different parties involved in the disability management process. Disability management practitioners require business skills and the capacity to perform management duties. Specific knowledge is also needed to perform effectively in the disability management role. Practitioners need to understand benefit systems, financial procedures, organizational behavior and development, collective bargaining and the role of labor unions, and technology available for worksite accommodations and modifications. Preventive strategies are also included here as practitioners require knowledge of prevention strategies such as ergonomics, health promotion and wellness strategies.

The disability management practitioner is a change agent according to Habeck and Munrowd (1987) and requires organizational development skills. The practitioner must evaluate the needs of the employer organization and thus perform an organizational analysis. This requires an investigation of the employer's policies, procedures and practices in addition to the impact that these policies and behaviors have on the proposed interventions. Practitioners must have knowledge of the company culture, values and dynamics which occur across the various departments and personnel. Habeck and Munrowd (1987) concluded that employer-based rehabilitation practice requires competence in vocational rehabilitation skills along with a number of other skills in the areas of organizational development and administration.

When discussing disability management and its implications for rehabilitation counselors, (Tate, Habeck and Galvin, 1986) described the practitioner's role in a similar fashion. They argued that the disability management concept is basically applied at three intervention levels: clinical (direct employee service), educational (training and assisting

service providers), and consultative (facilitating communication and coordination among the different parties in the disability management process). Tate et al. (1986) assert that practitioners entering the disability management arena need to adopt a systems perspective to intervention. Practitioners must have knowledge of management concepts and organization structures in addition to knowledge of company policies and benefit administration. Tate et al. (1987) state that this systems approach requires skills in negotiating cross-departmental cooperation and facilitating a team approach with all parties involved.

Disability management practitioners, according to Tate et al. (1987) also need to possess clinical skills which will enable them to address the psychosocial impact of injury and disability, to mediate the barriers to rehabilitation and return to work, and to coordinate the participation of the parties involved in the disability management process. Furthermore, practitioners must have the skills to develop and monitor information systems for determining company costs and outcomes and must have knowledge of strategies that emphasize job and worker assessment and matching job modifications.

Gottlieb, Vandergoot and Lutsky (1991) conducted a study of 114 companies to determine programs and practices in place within these companies to minimize the impact of disability on their employees. Results of this study suggested several ways that the rehabilitation community can become involved in disability management. Rehabilitation counseling professionals can provide information about the overall value of disability management; they can suggest ideas about interventions and services offered in disability management programs; and they can conduct training on case management and subsequently provide case management and evaluation services.

Based on their study, Gottlieb et al. (1991) identified a number of implications for rehabilitation counseling professionals. Disability management practitioners need to base their intervention strategies on a thorough assessment and understanding of the company

and its workforce. Rehabilitation practitioners in this area of practice will need to be educated in how to work effectively with business and industry and need to view the employer as a consumer of services as well as the individual with a disability. As state and federal governments become increasingly concerned about the impact of disability on employers, disability management practitioners should be prepared to assist employers in framing corporate policies to address disability. Practitioners in disability management should also be prepared to assist employers in developing and implementing management information systems that monitor those individuals utilizing disability benefits, the services they receive and the costs associated with disabilities.

Habeck, Kress, Scully and Kirchner (1994) in their article entitled "Determining the Significance of the Disability Management Movement for Rehabilitation Counselor Education", caution against quickly concluding that there is a close match between the traditional skills and competencies of the rehabilitation counselor and the competencies needed for provision of disability management services. Habeck et al. (1994) argue that the disability management approach includes much more than the provision of rehabilitation services to employees after the onset of disability. It is important to realize that disability management is an organizational approach which is often a component of a company's human resources or medical services department. Depending on the focus of service and the relation to the company, the rehabilitation counselor's educational needs for the unique and often times advanced knowledge and skills will change.

This assertion is supported by other disability management proponents as well (Dent, 1990; Shrey, 1994; Olsheski, 1993). Shrey (1994) argues that the traditional vocational rehabilitation approach is not sufficient to accomplish the goal of return to work. He states that the vocational rehabilitation approach over emphasizes the characteristics of the individual and does not address environmental influences which impact return to work. Olsheski (1993) asserts that the different context in which

area and which add: conc

disal

envi

serv:

man Gro

curr

care

prot

con: is di

targ

disa to co

whic

effe(

whic

disability management services occur requires that rehabilitation counselors be skilled in areas such as the fundamentals of organizational behavior, labor relations, ergonomics, and human resource management. He states that rehabilitation counselors need skills which are beyond client assessment and intervention; they need competencies in addressing the organizational and environmental factors that impact on return to work. In conclusion, it would appear that in order to provide effective disability management, services must be dual focused including both the individual (clinical) and on the work environment (system) (Habeck et al., 1994).

Current issues impacting disability management.

Habeck, Kress, Scully and Kirchner (1994) recently summarized the factors currently facing the disability management movement. They indicate that current health care reform efforts and the current negative economic climate are impacting disability management efforts. They cite an issues paper prepared by the Washington Business Group on Health (May 1994) which states that employers continue to face increasing problems in managing both occupational and non occupational disability and that costs continue to rise faster for workplace disability than for health care in general. Due to constant changes in health care delivery systems and ongoing corporate reorganization, it is difficult for employers to develop and implement effective programs and benefits which target their disability problems. Employers are specifically challenged by exploding disability costs which question the value of programs they have implemented in an attempt to control these costs. In addition, employers are in need of reliable empirical information which can assist them in assessing their company's needs and in developing the most effective strategies/programs to meet their specific health and disability needs.

Habeck et al., (1994) discuss the controversy about health care reform proposals which focus on managed care. This has caused increased concern as it is felt that relying

on an

> fea pr

> m: en

> > 'n

s d

tÌ

pr

th

t

]

th

on third parties for managed care will ultimately reduce incentives for disability prevention and management in the workplace and subsequently the employer involvement. It is feared that employer-based disability management programs will be replaced with provider-based case management services. However, many proponents of the disability management movement including employers feel that disability management as an employer based strategy to prevent and control disability and related costs will be a lasting initiative.

The current negative economic climate facing business and industry and subsequent management trends was also cited by Habeck et al. (1994) as an issue facing disability management, particularly downsizing the workforce and re-engineering the work environment in an attempt to meet cost and quality demands. An important component of the disability management approach is maintaining the connection between employer and employee when an injury or disability occurs. Retention is becoming harder to accomplish as employers are challenged to expand job duties and worker tasks in an attempt to produce more with fewer workers. Further, downsizing is occurring not only with production workers but with human resource and benefit personnel as well.

Consequently, personnel with little or no knowledge of disability are assuming the role of the disability manager and thus potentially compromising the effectiveness of disability management strategies. Based on these economic concerns, Habeck et al., (1994) argue that it becomes increasingly necessary for employers to gain credible information about the costs and benefits of disability management programs.

The Evolution of Rehabilitation in the Private Sector

History.

Disability management as it is applied by rehabilitation counselors, emanated from the movement toward private sector rehabilitation practice. This movement toward providing services in the private sector impacted the rehabilitation counseling profession and changed rehabilitation counselor education to reflect the role and function of counselors in this setting. Rehabilitation counseling is considered a unique profession as it was originally created and supported by the federal government. In the late 1970s and early 1980s, accountability, inflation, and budgetary limitations contributed to the decrease in federal and state funding for rehabilitation services (Anderson & Parente, 1982). This decrease in funding could have potentially slowed the growth of rehabilitation; however, at the same time, developments in worker's compensation provided alternative labor markets for rehabilitation counselors. Thus, the rehabilitation counseling profession expanded into the private sector and the federal and state government was no longer the only employer of rehabilitation counselors.

Griswold and Scott (1979) argued that it wasn't until the latter part of the 1970's that rehabilitation in the private sector had increased sufficiently to be viewed as a significant competitor to public sector rehabilitation. This competitive advantage was viewed as the result of limited available public funds to meet the needs of many persons with disabilities, particularly those individuals who were industrially injured (Matkin, 1980). Further, Diamond and Petkas (1979) explained that the traditional service delivery practices of public sector rehabilitation caused some concern among employers/insurance carriers and the workers' compensation officials in regard to services provided for the industrially injured. These concerns were mostly related to the differences in philosophical approaches and timeliness in the provision of rehabilitation services. The approach of the traditional state/federal rehabilitation program is to maximize a client's potential whereas the workers' compensation approach is to rehabilitate the worker with an injury back to their level of functioning prior to the injury (Diamond & Petkas, 1979). Another difference according to Diamond and Petkas (1979) was the outcome expectations of the two approaches. The state/federal vocational rehabilitation program seeks to find a

spec

mon

ESI

Fma

prog

bett

appi indr

198

Con

to ii

Wor.

reha onti

the e

Law

impr which

(Nat

felt t to re

bior

specific job placement which could require lengthy and formal training. The employer or insurance carrier of an injured worker seeks an early closure by job placement or a monetary settlement. Lengthy training programs are too costly to the insurance carrier. Finally, Diamond and Petkas (1979) argued that the state/Federal vocational rehabilitation program has not aggressively attempted to change its rehabilitation approach in order to better accommodate the needs of those who are injured on the job. Subsequently a new approach emerged which emphasized the needs of employers, insurance carriers and those individuals injured on the job and began to gain momentum in the late 1970s and early 1980s.

The movement toward providing more effective vocational rehabilitation services to injured workers was encouraged and supported by the federal government. Conferences were held which provided information to states regarding rehabilitation and workers' compensation. At the same time, several initiatives were developed to review state workers' compensation laws and to determine the adequacy of vocational rehabilitation services provided (Lewin, Ramseur, & Sink, 1979). Perhaps the most critical factor contributing to the development of rehabilitation in the private sector was the establishment in 1971 of the National Commission on State Workers' Compensation Laws which developed guidelines to assist states in providing an adequate workers' compensation system. This Commission recommended changes that would serve to improve the workers' compensation system. Included in the changes was one objective which dealt with the provision of sufficient medical care and rehabilitation services (National Commission on State Workmen's Compensation Laws, 1972). The Commission felt that workers' compensation was not doing an effective job of assisting injured workers to recover lost abilities and return to work and suggested that rehabilitation services be provided by the employer or a designated provider (Lewin, Ramseur, & Sink, 1979).

Based on the Commission's findings and subsequent recommendations for rehabilitation services to be provided for workers' compensation recipients, the state vocational rehabilitation program was considered to be the logical source to obtain these services. Formal agreements were then made between worker's compensation and vocational rehabilitation (Lewin, Ramseur, & Sink, 1979). However, it was not long before the state/federal vocational rehabilitation system came under close scrutiny and criticism for their inability to deliver these services to workers' compensation recipients.

McMahon (1979) looked specifically at the problems inherent in the public service delivery system based on Whittington's (1975) proposal to privatize mental health services. According to McMahon (1979) there are four main problems with public rehabilitation service provision for private sector applications. First, the nature of public funding is not conducive to providing prompt, direct services to clients. Second, there are managerial restraints which are highly influenced by legislative changes. These legislative changes can alter the course of rehabilitation at a given moment. In addition, the civil service philosophies or regulations make it difficult to reward superior performance or to discipline ineffective employees. Third, consumers of the public rehabilitation program do not control vocational rehabilitation dollars and therefore lack a free choice. Thus, they cannot monitor or change their treatment or control the services they receive. Finally, McMahon (1979) cites limited resources as a problem with public vocational rehabilitation service provision. He states that the need for vocational rehabilitation services far exceeds the capabilities of the public service delivery system. He specifically states that some populations are neglected by the public system such as older workers and the industrially injured. These problems and the need for solutions prompted the development of a network of private rehabilitation providers.

Matkin (1980) stated that the scope of services provided and the client population served in the private sector may explain the short term approach of the private

rehabilitation provider as compared to the long term approach within the public sector. Private rehabilitation service providers have primarily worked with workers' compensation recipients and do not encounter the wide diversity of disability types that public sector service providers do. In addition, timeliness of rehabilitation services is emphasized in the private sector and based on the public sector's priority system, those individuals with industrially injuries were generally considered to be less severely disabled and could not receive services in a timely manner (Diamond & Petkas, 1979; Griswold & Scott, 1979; Matkin, 1980). Diamond and Petkas (1979) reported that the main differences between these two service sector approaches are the timeliness of service and a more personalized case management approach in the private sector. They indicated that there is little difference in the range of services provided by either sector. Referrals for the private sector of rehabilitation service generally come from insurance carriers, self-insured employers, attorneys, physicians, and state workers' compensation agencies. McMahon (1979) also indicates that services provided in this sector generally mirror those offered in the public sector but vocational evaluation and job placement services are more frequently requested in the private sector while counseling and training are less frequently emphasized.

Matkin (1983) indicated that the principle element shaping the context in which rehabilitation counselors operate in the private sector is the insurance industry. The insurance industry thus influences the types of services provided and the skills and knowledge required by private rehabilitation providers (Lynch & Martin, 1982; Matkin, 1982). Individuals referred for rehabilitation services within the private sector are most often injured or disabled in the workplace and are covered by workers' compensation insurance (Diamond & Petkas, 1979; Griswold & Scott, 1979; Lewin, Ramseur & Sink, 1979; McMahon, 1979; Organist, 1979; Sales, 1979; Shrey, 1979).

Rehabilitation counseling and individuals with industrial injuries.

The above mentioned factors contributed to a new sector of rehabilitation counseling practice which focused on providing rehabilitation services to individuals with industrial injuries. Shrey (1979) stated that this private sector was becoming more responsible for the rehabilitation of workers' injured on the job as the consequences of these industrial accidents became more onerous. He recognized that escalating benefit levels were becoming a challenge to employers and insurers and that it was necessary to find new approaches to "disability management". Rehabilitation was cited as an important component of workers' compensation claims management and thus, vocational rehabilitation was seen as an important vehicle for controlling the social and economic factors associated with industrial injuries (Sawyer, 1976). In the mid to late 1970s, research in the area of vocational rehabilitation of the industrially injured was relatively new; however, some evidence did support the fact that industries could financially benefit by returning injured workers' to their jobs as soon as possible after an injury (Shrey, 1979). Industry did see this as a financial incentive and as a way to reduce turnover rates through the utilization of rehabilitation services.

Industries began to recognize the importance of rehabilitation efforts as they realized that they lacked much of the necessary experience and skills required to redesign jobs and accommodate injured workers. Sawyer (1976) stated that "insurance carriers and employers have a strong inducement to provide vocational services for disabled workers whose prospects indicate that they may return to work and give up their claims to weekly benefits" (p.23). Akabas (1976) further identified several areas in which employers lack information and consequently need direct involvement with rehabilitation counselors to address these areas. She states that industry does not have access or knowledge regarding the variety of disabling conditions and their potential impact on job placement and employee productivity. Employers have little information about the rehabilitation process

and the utilization of assistive devices or technology for workers with disabilities. Akabas (1976) states that employers do not possess the skills or knowledge for job restructuring or job accommodation and that employers lack information and resources to assist workers with problems such as alcoholism, substance abuse, depression, and anxiety.

Rehabilitation counselors who provide rehabilitation services to industrially injured clients work in a setting that combines a variety of complex, diverse, and sometimes unrelated systems; each with its own set of rules, regulations, regulatory bodies, and legal and philosophical foundations (Matkin, 1983). Matkin (1983) identified the many systems that rehabilitation counselors needed be familiar with in order to effectively enter in to the private sector service arena. These systems included: (a) workers' compensation, (b) insurance coverage for injuries sustained in unrelated work activities, (c) automobile nofault insurance coverage, (d) coverage provided under the Railroad Workers' Retirement Act, and (e) benefits covered under Social Security Disability Insurance. Empirically derived competencies related to private sector and insurance rehabilitation practice will be discussed later.

Specialization in Rehabilitation Counseling

As new knowledge, technology, medical advances, and legislation continue to develop, specialty practice areas emerge in an effort to address new service needs. Rehabilitation counseling is not exempt from this emergence into specialty practice areas. Patterson (1967) stated that anyone who is aware of new developments in science and the professions, realizes that we live in the age of specialization and that this specialization is inevitable. He discusses specialization as a "natural development in a situation where there are large numbers of clients who form clearly definable subgroups, or where complex professional functions can be easily or logically subdivided" (p.147). Over the

years since its inception as a profession, rehabilitation counseling has been faced with opposing viewpoints about the need for specialization.

Wright (1980) describes rehabilitation counseling as a profession which possesses an extensive body of knowledge and technology but this great and expanding accumulation of information and skill related to rehabilitation counseling has exceeded the realm of the practicing generalist. Therefore, he argues that it is necessary for the rehabilitation counseling profession to accommodate and utilize this expanding knowledge through specialization.

Wright (1980) provides a comprehensive history of the changing role and function of the rehabilitation counselor since the early days of the profession. In the 1920s when public rehabilitation was implemented, the rehabilitation counselor was a "jack of all trades" or was all things to all clients. This is the generalist role where the rehabilitation counselor is responsible for everything and everyone in a specified area. Generalists basically provide a variety of services and serve a variety of clients throughout the entire rehabilitation process regardless of the client's unique needs. In the mid 1950s when the federal government began funding rehabilitation counselor education programs, the "counseling" counselor role emerged (Wright, 1980). At this time there was a singular training focus on the counseling process which perpetuated the notion that there was a clear distinction between counseling and other rehabilitation related functions. In the mid 1960s, counseling as a professional function was moved into proper focus according to Wright (1980) as one of the facilitating activities in the vocational adjustment of persons with disabilities. Rehabilitation counselor education programs gave increased emphasis to traditional rehabilitation functions and began preparing graduates for employment in state rehabilitation agencies as generalists in various capacities (Wright, 1980).

Another historical perspective on specialization was offered by Patterson (1957) who stated that rehabilitation functions other than counseling were "nonprofessional" and

argued against including these other "coordinator" type functions into the rehabilitation counselor curriculum. Patterson recommended that a subprofessional provide these coordinator functions such as casework and job placement. Later, Patterson (1967) still adhered to his counselor versus coordinator distinction but acknowledged the difficulty in specializing in the various professional functions associated with rehabilitation counseling. He acknowledged that specializing in just the counseling function would serve to break the client into individual parts and thus fragment the total rehabilitation process. Patterson (1967) felt that specialized training should occur above and beyond the two year master's program in rehabilitation counseling and that rehabilitation counselor education should concentrate on the counseling function during this two year program.

DiMichael (1967) proposed a two-way classification system of rehabilitation counselor specialization. He discussed horizontal specialists as those who work with a particular disability type and vertical specialists as those who provide one function in the rehabilitation process. DiMichael (1967) argued that being either a horizontal or vertical specialist sacrifices the continuity of the rehabilitation process and felt that a role encompassing both types of specialization was optimum. Empirical research served to support his proposal (e.g. Sather, Wright, & Butler, 1968; Ayer, Wright, & Butler, 1968).

Wright (1980) proposed that it would be most desirable to combine DiMichael's (1967) argument for case continuity with the expertise of a specialist to ensure the effectiveness of rehabilitation services. Wright (1980) also felt that the role of specialist should include education or preparation which is above and beyond the rehabilitation counseling master's degree. He stated that specialization was needed in rehabilitation based on the following issues:

1. The challenge of an expanding base of knowledge and the difficulty that practitioners have in keeping up to date with new knowledge and the new literature relevant to rehabilitation.

- 2. The pressures of accountability which are upon the rehabilitation process, agency, and profession.
- 3. The challenge to maintain a level of flexibility and innovation to accommodate expanding needs, services and client populations.
- 4. The need for recognition of new groups of rehabilitation specialists who perform client services which are not of a counseling nature.

Most specialists operate within an existing discipline, institution or profession. Specialists are employed to perform tasks or functions which are unique to a discipline and are consistent with the goals and philosophies of that discipline. Nadolsky (1975) stated that specialization or the development of specialized fields within a discipline is accomplished through the elevation of one or more functions related to the discipline to the status of a role. An example in rehabilitation would be vocational evaluation as it has become a specialized discipline by elevating to a role selected functions of the vocational rehabilitation counselor (Nadolsky, 1975.)

In his article discussing trends in rehabilitation counselor specialization, Thomas (1982) uses the term specialization but indicates that the terms "subspecialization" or "emphasis" would be more appropriate. In Thomas's (1980) opinion, rehabilitation counseling is a specialization within the field of counseling and thus further specializations would in fact be subspecializations. He indicates that further specialization or subspecialization is virtually inevitable for rehabilitation counseling based on the following reasons:

- 1. Rehabilitation counselors, educators, and students have diverse interests and abilities.
- 2. University training programs have different capacities to offer various types of instruction.
- 3. There are a variety of extensive roles and functions expected of rehabilitation counselors.

- 4. Clients served in the rehabilitation process possess a wide variety of disabilities.
- 5. Rehabilitation counselors are employed in a wide variety of settings which may have different requirements for success.
- 6. The effectiveness of the generalist will be limited by the additional knowledge gained about various client groups and different aspects of the rehabilitation process.
- 7. The rehabilitation counseling field is constantly being inundated with new priorities.
- 8. The federal government has agreed to provide separate funds for graduate programs which do not conform to the traditional generic training model.

Reagles (1981) proposes another perspective of rehabilitation counseling specialization. He proposes a model of the disciplines related to rehabilitation which he feels are more contemporary than Thomas's view. He indicates that rehabilitation principles, knowledge and competencies form the core base of rehabilitation counseling. Reagles (1981) views rehabilitation counseling and vocational evaluation as disciplines related to rehabilitation. In other words, rehabilitation is the core profession in which rehabilitation counseling shares knowledge and expertise.

Nevertheless, it would seem that based on these assertions, specialization or subspecialization is inherent or inevitable within the field of rehabilitation counseling. The reasons and issues raised by Wright (1980) and Thomas (1982) provide a solid rationale for the need to encourage specialization within rehabilitation counseling. Thomas (1982) identified four broad categories of rehabilitation counselor specialization which currently exist. He indicated that rehabilitation counselors can specialize to work (a) with specific disability groups, (b) in particular settings, (c) providing counseling in specific life areas, and (d) in applying particular treatment methods. Private sector and industrial rehabilitation fit within these categories for specializations as services are provided in distinct settings and are often provided to specific disability groups.

Private sector rehabilitation was gaining momentum at about the same time that the specialization debate was becoming more heated. This was evidenced by the development of a separate professional organization to meet the needs of rehabilitation counselors in the private sector. The National Association of Rehabilitation Professionals in the Private Sector was founded in 1977 as this sector's need were not accommodated by the already existing rehabilitation organizations (Reagles, 1981). Further debate continued about the merger of professional organizations into a single, independent rehabilitation counseling organization. Based on the attitudes conveyed by leaders of the professional organizations a merger became highly unlikely (Parker & Thomas, 1981). Scher (1979) discussed the survival of the rehabilitation counseling profession in the 1980s as being dependent upon three factors: (a) practitioners are qualified to provide rehabilitation services, (b) an accreditation process is available which develops and enforces standards, and (c) organizations exist which speak for the needs of everyone. Despite this warning, the current state of rehabilitation counselor education, accrediting bodies and professional organizations seems to reflect the trend toward specialization in the field of rehabilitation counseling.

Specialization issues are also relevant to disability management as this area of practice could potentially constitute a specialty area within rehabilitation counseling. Disability management services occur in a nontraditional setting for rehabilitation counselors. Services are often provided to specific disability types which occur frequently in the workplace. However, prior to concluding that disability management warrants a position as a specialty or subspecialty area, it is important to empirically define the specific competencies that are needed for effective service provision.

Competency Studies in Rehabilitation Counseling

Fundamental to the debate regarding rehabilitation counselor specialization, rehabilitation counseling research has been involved in the development of an extensive body of knowledge identifying the job functions and competencies important to rehabilitation counseling practice (e.g., Berven, 1979; Emener & Rubin, 1980; Fraser & Clowers, 1978; Harrison & Lee, 1979; Jacques, 1959; Leahy, Wright & Shapson, 1987; Muthard & Salomone, 1969; Porter, Rubin, & Sink, 1979; Rubin, Matkin, Ashley, Beardsley, May, Onstott, & Puckett, 1984; Wright & Fraser, 1975). These studies have been undertaken in an attempt to further define and affirm rehabilitation counseling as a profession (Walker & Myers, 1988). Szymanski, Linkowski, Leahy, Diamond, and Thoreson (1993) stated that the foundation of any profession or professional specialty area is the identification and delineation of specific knowledge and skills which are required for effective service provision. Findings of competency studies can also establish an empirical basis for unifying professional activities (Wright, Leahy, & Riedesel, 1987).

Professional competency, role and function, knowledge validation, and job analysis research are terms that describe the process of systematically studying practitioners in a specific area of practice to identify important functions and tasks or knowledge and skills that are associated with the area of practice (Leahy, 1994). Role and function research provides an empirically derived description of the tasks and functions that are associated with a practitioner's role. The knowledge that is required to perform functions is indirectly inferred from the description of the functions and tasks. In contrast, knowledge validation and professional competency studies provide descriptions derived directly from assessments of the knowledge and skills characterizing a particular role, but the actual functions and tasks performed are indirectly inferred based on the knowledge and skills needed by the individual for effective practice (Leahy, 1994).

Competencies can be described as existing in three distinct domains: (a) knowledge (what an individual knows), (b) skill (what an individual can do), and (c) affective characteristics (personal attributes such as attitudes, values, beliefs, motives) (Berven, 1987). Competencies describe the attributions or characteristics of individuals performing jobs, whereas functions refer to the actual job characteristics.

Traditionally, two methods have been utilized most often to identify the competencies of rehabilitation counselors (Leahy, 1986). One method often utilized is self report, survey research which asks practitioners to identify tasks which are important for effective practice. Another method used to identify competencies is to directly assess the tasks performed by rehabilitation counselors. Job task analysis has been used to identify the requirements of a job and serve as criteria for inferring knowledge, skill and other characteristics which cause certain behaviors to occur (Leahy, 1986).

In this section a chronological account of the major studies conducted to identify the important rehabilitation counselor competencies will be presented. Those studies which specifically investigated the competencies of rehabilitation counselors in the private or insurance sector will be discussed later.

Jacques (1959) was one of the first to conduct a study of rehabilitation counselor competencies. This study employed a critical incidents approach to a nationwide sample of 404 rehabilitation counselors and supervisors in various settings and agencies. This investigation was conducted to: (a) identify the critical job elements of counseling in rehabilitation settings, (b) identify the training needs of rehabilitation counselors, and (c) explore the differences that academic preparation imposes in terms of what counselors perceive to be critical incidents in counseling situations. Results from this study identified six sub-roles found within the counseling process: (a) creating a therapeutic climate, (b) structuring-arranging, and structuring-defining limits, (c) gathering information (d) evaluating, (e) giving information, (f) interacting. Another important finding was that

the type of behavior reported by trained counselors was different from the behavior reported by untrained counselors. From this Jacques (1959) concluded that counselors who had graduate level training were more sensitive and aware of the importance of critical job requirements.

Ten years later, Muthard and Salomone (1969) conducted what was to become a landmark role and function study in the field of rehabilitation counseling. This study was sponsored by the American Rehabilitation Counseling Association and was undertaken to provide information for the rehabilitation counseling profession regarding their work role. A stratified random sample of 378 rehabilitation counselors employed by state vocational rehabilitation agencies, state agencies for the blind, and private non-profit agencies were surveyed using the Rehabilitation Counselor Task Inventory. The task inventory identified a range of duties performed by rehabilitation counselors through a task analysis. This study posed a number of research questions including: (a) what functions are performed by rehabilitation counselors in various settings, (b) to what extent are the work setting and characteristics of counselors related to their actual functions, and (c) what are the implications of the study for rehabilitation counselor preparation. The study's findings identified eight major categories which described the rehabilitation counselor's role: (a) affective counseling, (b) eligibility and case finding, (c) group procedures, (d) placement, (e) vocational counseling, (f) test administration, and (g) test interpretation. The study also found that approximately one-third of rehabilitation counselor's time was spent on counseling and guidance activities while approximately 25% of time was spent on other duties such as case reporting and recording and performing clerical-type tasks. Based on the study's findings Muthard and Salomone (1969) reported that a generic curriculum for rehabilitation counselor preparation was appropriate. Since 1969, a number of researchers have either replicated or extended this work by Muthard and Salomone.

Using a smaller regional sample, Fraser and Clowers (1978) attempted to determine how rehabilitation counselors were spending their time and also the level of difficulty of their job functions. This investigation surveyed 78 vocational rehabilitation counselors who were attending a conference on severe physical disabilities. A function survey was developed based on reviews and categorization of rehabilitation counselor tasks by rehabilitation educators and agency counselors. Fifteen functions were identified and rehabilitation counselors were asked to provide an estimate of the amount of time spent in each function during an average work week and to provide a rating in regard to the functions complexity. Results of this investigation revealed that counseling and planning, and case recording and reporting were judged by rehabilitation counselors to be the most time consuming functions. Counseling and planning consumed 20% of rehabilitation counselor's time and case recording and reporting consumed approximately 16% of their time in an average week. Of these more time consuming functions, only counseling and planning were rated as highly complex. Fraser and Clowers (1978) concluded that the results revealed slightly less time spent in counselor-client functions and reduced time spent in professional growth or public relations activities as compared to earlier studies.

Role and function studies have been widely used to determine training needs for rehabilitation counselors and to develop rehabilitation counselor curriculums which adequately prepare graduates for effective practice. Berven (1979) stated that in order for rehabilitation counseling training programs to address the most critical training needs, they must first be identified. Berven (1979) subsequently conducted an investigation to define the training needs of rehabilitation counselors employed in the state agency in Region II. This study attempted to define the pre-professional training needs of rehabilitation counselors by determining the importance of various areas of competence. The sample utilized for this study included 680 rehabilitation counselors and supervisors from Region

Il as well as a nationwide sample of 70 trainers. The Rehabilitation Training Needs

Questionnaire was constructed for use in this investigation and was developed on the basis
of a literature review to define the areas of knowledge and skill required of rehabilitation
counselors. The study revealed six areas of competence which received the highest
rankings and Berven (1979) designated the following areas as the highest priority of preprofessional training needs: (a) psychological information, (b) case management, (c)
medical information, (d) resource utilization and job placement, (e) counseling, and (f)
special rehabilitation problems.

Emener and Rubin (1980) also conducted a study using a survey research design to determine an accurate description of the role and function of the rehabilitation counselor in the late 1970s. They asserted that Muthard and Salomone's (1969) study provided an accurate picture of rehabilitation counseling in the mid 1960s but competency studies conducted since that time using smaller samples were showing an indication that this role was changing (e.g., Fraser & Clowers, 1978; Parham & Harris, 1978; Rubin & Emener, 1979; Zadny & James, 1977). Emener and Rubin's (1980) investigation sought to identify a number of issues, specifically the following research questions were addressed in the study: (a) to what extent are the items on the Abbreviated Task Inventory a part of the rehabilitation counselor's job, (b) do rehabilitation counselors desire changes in their roles and functions, and (c) to what extent are the roles and functions of rehabilitation counselors similar to those reported by rehabilitation counselors in the mid 1960s. A nationwide sample of 352 rehabilitation counselors, administrators and educators were surveyed using the Abbreviated Task Inventory which was developed by Muthard and Salomone (1969). This investigation yielded many findings but was significant in that although many of the job tasks were reported as being substantial parts of rehabilitation counselor's job regardless of work setting, specific differences were found. For example,

state agency counselors attributed higher importance to tasks such as test interpretation, medical referral, and eligibility case finding.

In 1984, Rubin, Matkin, Ashley, Beardsley, May, Onstott and Puckett examined the work duties of certified rehabilitation counselors employed in a variety of work settings. The Job Task Inventory was administered to a nationwide sample of 6,400 certified rehabilitation counselors with a 17.6% response rate. This study attempted to identify the roles and functions of certified rehabilitation counselors and to determine if the roles and functions differed across employment settings. A factor analysis of the responses revealed five major work categories and 11 subcategories. Additionally, the data analysis revealed significant differences in perceived importance of various work tasks according to the rehabilitation counselor's work setting.

Results from earlier studies which revealed differences in work tasks across work settings provided a stimulus for a group of researchers from Wisconsin to further determine the significance of this important finding. Leahy, Shapson, and Wright (1987) conducted the first empirically based effort to investigate three specializations of rehabilitation counseling (rehabilitation counseling, job placement and development, and vocational evaluation) across three primary employment settings (public agencies, private nonprofit facilities, and private for -profit firms). The study attempted to address these specific research questions: (a) what are the patterns of competency importance for the three specializations of practitioners, and (b) do perceptions of competency importance and attainment differ according to practitioner specialization and employment setting. The Rehabilitation Skills Inventory (RSI) was developed for this investigation and was considered to be a comprehensive, standardized questionnaire of knowledge and skill competencies. The RSI was empirically verified through extensive field tryouts and rigorous pretesting. Sample frame construction was also a major task as no pre-existing sampling frame was available that adequately stratified practitioners by specialization and

sector. A sample of 3,614 participants was selected for this study and a response rate of 37.1% was obtained. A cluster analysis was performed on responses and yielded ten clusters of items: (a) vocational counseling, (b) assessment planning and interpretation, (c) personal adjustment counseling, (d) case management, (e) job placement, (f) group and behavioral techniques, (g) professional and community involvement, (h) consultation, (i) job analysis, and (j) assessment administration. The results from this study offered many interesting findings for the field of rehabilitation counseling. The findings revealed that the three specializations of rehabilitation counseling shared a common core of competencies but there were significant differences in the level of importance attributed to the various competencies. Differences in the perceptions of competency importance were also revealed in relation to the employment settings of practitioners. Thus, the results from this study provided support to previous research which indicated that setting-based factors influence the importance of practitioner competencies.

Most recently, the Council on Rehabilitation Education (CORE) and the Commission on Rehabilitation Counselor Certification (CRCC) initiated an on-going research project co-sponsored by the American Rehabilitation Counseling Association (ARCA) and the National Rehabilitation Counseling Association (NRCA). The purpose of this on-going research project was to conduct research for continual validation and updating of the CORE standards for rehabilitation counseling curriculums and the CRCC examination content areas across settings and over time (Szymanski, Linkowski, Leahy, Diamond, and Thoreson, 1993). The rationale for this longitudinal, knowledge validation study was based on current trends in rehabilitation-related legislation, expanding employment settings and client populations, and new technologies and service delivery strategies (Jenkins, Patterson, & Szymanski, 1992). They recognized that competency

areas which emanate from these trends must be examined and incorporated into rehabilitation education programs in addition to accreditation and certification standards.

The nationwide sample used for this investigation consisted of certified rehabilitation counselors and individuals graduating from CORE accredited rehabilitation counselor education programs. The instrument developed for this study contained items from the CRCC examination content areas or the CORE curricular standards. The purpose of this study was to examine and validate the importance of empirically derived knowledge domains in rehabilitation counseling. The study found that grouping respondents according to their employment settings and job titles accounted for the most frequent differences in knowledge importance. The researchers concluded that the results from this study provided a clear description of the professional identity of rehabilitation counselors by identifying the knowledge base upon which services are provided (Leahy, Szymanski, & Linkowski, 1993).

Research efforts to further define rehabilitation in the private for profit sector.

Based on previously cited research, it is evident that setting-specific factors account for variability within rehabilitation counselors' work roles and may also account for differences in counselors' perceptions of important competency or knowledge areas needed for effective service delivery. Fienberg and McFarland (1979) stated that among the many factors which influence the rehabilitation counselor's role and function, the work setting in which the counselor is employed is considered to be an extremely potent variable in determining the nature of professional practice. These assertions along with the empirical evidence supporting the variability of role and functions across rehabilitation counseling employment settings, provided a stimulus for researchers to take a closer look at the role of the rehabilitation counselor in the private for profit sector.

Lynch & Martin (1982) began research efforts in private sector rehabilitation practice based on the rationale that employment opportunities for rehabilitation counselors in this sector had continued to increase and there was very little research which examined whether educational preparation programs were adequately preparing graduates for this sector of practice. The purpose of their study was to begin the process of determining the various knowledge and skill areas which were considered to be important for effective provision of rehabilitation in the private sector. The sample for this investigation consisted of 147 members of the National Association of Rehabilitation Professionals in the Private Sector (NARPPS). A survey instrument was developed based on a review of the literature in the area of rehabilitation counseling in the private sector and consisted of 41 items. Survey items were analyzed using descriptive statistics. The study found that a number of knowledge and skill items which are typically associated with rehabilitation education were also rated as important by private sector rehabilitation practitioners. However, Lynch & Martin (1982) indicated that based on their findings, some changes in traditional course offerings may be warranted. Private sector rehabilitation practitioners in this study rated of primary importance items such as assessment, job analysis and placement, and communication and organization. Of least importance were items related to generic interpersonal counseling.

Matkin (1983) conducted a similar study to identify the functions of the rehabilitation counselor working in the private sector. The rationale for his study emphasized that research efforts prior to this time did not address the roles and functions of rehabilitation specialists in the private sector. Subsequently, Matkin (1983) conducted this national study directed toward rehabilitation specialists employed within insurance companies, private rehabilitation companies, self-insured industrial settings, and private practice. The sample consisted of 850 NARPPS members or individuals who were employed by NARPPS members. The Rehabilitation Specialists Task Inventory was

developed for this study and consisted of 132 items gathered from past competency studies and literature describing the tasks of the private rehabilitation specialist. A factor analysis of responses revealed five major work role categories. These work role categories were as follows: (a) planning and coordinating client services, (b) business and office management, (c) job development and placement, (d) diagnostic assessment, and (e) other professional activities. Based on this study, Matkin (1983) provided recommendations for rehabilitation education, credentialling in the private sector, and cooperation between public and private sectors.

In 1984, Matkin and Riggar conducted two national studies which were basically designed to gather demographic information about the rise of private sector rehabilitation employment and its effect on graduate level training programs. Although these investigations are not competency studies, it is important to note their findings as they supported the trend toward private sector employment for rehabilitation counselors and validated the need to continue research efforts in the area of practice. Matkin and Riggar (1984) found that based on their review of the literature increased attention was being given to employment in the private for profit sector. Additionally, they cited the sudden increase in membership within the National Association of Rehabilitation Professionals in the Private Sector during its first nine years of existence (1977-1986) as evidence of increasing private sector employment for rehabilitation counselors. Two concurrent studies were conducted of NARPPS members and National Council on Rehabilitation Education (NCRE) members. Participants were surveyed and responses revealed that there was in fact an increase in employment opportunities within the private sector and that these opportunities were influencing rehabilitation counselor education programs. Specifically, additional courses were being developed which addressed private sector issues and interactive strategies with private sector rehabilitation providers were being employed that enhanced the preparation of graduates.

Matkin (1987) continued to move ahead with this line of research identifying the role and function of private sector rehabilitation practitioners. He recognized that rehabilitation services were rapidly expanding into insured health care programs (e.g. personal injury protection policies, workers' compensation, Social Security) and the skills needed in these areas of practice were not reflected in the traditional coursework of rehabilitation counselor education programs. As a result, Matkin (1987) stated that consumers of such services and practitioners began to look for information and resources that could provide them with knowledge of various disability insurance systems. Based on this need, Matkin reviewed results from a study conducted by the Board for Rehabilitation Certification (BRC) which identified work functions and knowledge requirements in "insurance rehabilitation". Results from this two year study revealed four knowledge areas which reflected service provision in this area of practice. The four knowledge areas derived were as follows: (a) rules, regulations, policies, and procedures of disability compensation systems; (b) service applications within disability compensation systems; (c) forensic rehabilitation; and (d) cost containment and resource acquisition. After considering this study's findings, Matkin (1987) proceeded to recommend training sites which would allow for knowledge acquisition in insurance rehabilitation.

Gilbride, Connolly, and Stensrud (1990) surveyed and interviewed employers of insurance rehabilitation specialists to determine which knowledge, case handling, and personal skills outcomes they felt were most important to obtain from graduate rehabilitation counselor education programs. A 28-item instrument was developed for this investigation to obtain information from employers of insurance rehabilitation specialists on the educational outcomes they desired from rehabilitation education programs. The instrument was constructed from a review of insurance rehabilitation literature and consisted of three sections: (a) knowledge, (b) case handling skills, and (c) personal skills. The survey was distributed to all of the major insurance rehabilitation employers in

Iowa. Results indicated that insurance rehabilitation employers found job placement and development techniques, job analysis/modification/restructuring, transferable skills analysis and case management as the most important knowledge areas desired. The most important case handling skills were time management, decision making, and writing. The most important personal skills desired were independent working ability and organizational skills. The results from this investigation were used by Gilbride, Connolly, and Stensrud (1987) to design a market driven model of private rehabilitation curriculum development.

Finally, in the area of disability management, currently no competency studies have been published. However, in 1993 a pilot study entitled "The Role of the Rehabilitation Counselor in Disability Management" was conducted (Scully & Habeck, 1993). The purpose of this study was to identify the key functions performed by rehabilitation counselors in disability management and to identify the important knowledge and skill areas needed for effective disability management service provision. An instrument was developed for this investigation based on a review of relevant literature from vocational rehabilitation, business and health, and workers' compensation. Subjects consisted of a nationwide sample of 70 rehabilitation counselors who attended a conference at Michigan State University on the rehabilitation counselor's role in disability management. Survey responses were categorized and analyzed according to three major work settings: (a) internal providers, (b) insurance based providers, and (c) external providers. Participants in the study were asked to list the key functions that they performed in relation to disability management and were also asked to rate 35 items according to their perceived importance when providing disability management services. Although there were several areas of divergence among major work settings of disability management practitioners, there was agreement that several core aspects of the rehabilitation counselor's role were inherent in the role of the disability management provider.

Rehabilitation counselors in disability management reported that knowledge about disability-related legislation and benefit systems was needed in addition to a number of other tasks related to developing and maintaining a systematic process aimed at returning injured/disabled workers to productive employment. Specific tasks included development of a positive working relationship with injured workers and assessing medical and employment information in order to develop return to work strategies.

This study revealed that very few of the individuals were actually employed within the employer organization as rehabilitation counselors but it was also felt that this minority group of providers could offer a more direct view of the needs of employers in the area of disability management practice. This group of respondents demonstrated the importance of interventions which focused directly on the organization. External providers on the other hand reported more involvement in tasks such as mitigating psychosocial barriers to return to work, utilizing community resources, identifying transferable skills, and monitoring the medical aspects of a case. This study revealed many interesting findings and served as a pilot investigation for the proposed investigation involving disability management practitioners.

As is characteristic of role and function and competency study findings, implications for rehabilitation counselor education have been identified. With the shift from public sector employment for rehabilitation counselors to private-for-profit rehabilitation settings, rehabilitation counselor education programs have attempted to incorporate competency study findings into their curriculums. The rehabilitation counseling literature has reflected the attempts of rehabilitation counselor educators who have provided recommendations and proposed curriculums aimed at addressing the needs of practitioners in the private sector (e.g. Sales, 1979; McMahon & Matkin, 1983; Matkin, 1983; Crystal, 1987; Scofield, 1987; Gilbride, Connolly, & Stensrud, 1990; Kilbury, Benshoff, & Riggar, 1990; Rasch, 1992).

In conclusion, the literature review creates a context and rationale for the proposed study which will attempt to delineate the competencies required of practitioners providing services in disability management. The shift from public sector rehabilitation to private sector rehabilitation and subsequently industry-based rehabilitation efforts have been major factors influencing the emerging role of the rehabilitation counselor in disability management. Factors both within the field of rehabilitation counseling and within the business community have contributed to the evolution of the disability management approach. As the review of competency studies has demonstrated, the role of rehabilitation counselors varies greatly across different settings. Thus, it is reasonable to conclude that the emerging area of disability management as it relates to rehabilitation counseling will experience some divergence from the traditional rehabilitation counseling competencies as well. None of the earlier competency studies conducted have specifically addressed the knowledge and skills required for disability management practitioners. Therefore, this investigation could provide practitioners and educators with much needed information regarding this area of practice. Based on the specialty literature in rehabilitation counseling, disability management services are considered to occur in a nontraditional service setting for rehabilitation counselors and could potentially represent a specialty area for practitioners. However, before concluding that disability management is a viable specialty within rehabilitation counseling, it is necessary to further examine the specific knowledge and skill base on which services are provided.

Habeck, Kress, Scully, & Kirchner (1994) asserted that if the rehabilitation counseling profession wishes to make a significant contribution to disability management, it will be important to identify and address the areas where its activities and competencies do not match the goals and competencies required for effective disability management. This proposed study will attempt to identify these specific areas where disability management knowledge and skills match and do not match those associated with

traditional rehabilitation counseling practice and to offer implications for addressing competency needs in this area of practice.

Chapter III

Methodology

The purpose of this study was to identify and delineate the knowledge and skills perceived to be important by disability management service providers. In addition, this study explored the reported preparedness of disability management practitioners in the important knowledge and skill areas. The findings from this investigation can provide empirically derived competencies that will identify the knowledge and skill areas important to rehabilitation counselors in disability management. Furthermore, the findings can provide an empirically-derived knowledge and skill base from which rehabilitation counselor's in disability management practitioners can draw for effective service provision. A survey research design was utilized with a nationwide pool of subjects involved in disability management service provision.

Subjects

Description of the sample.

The sample used in this investigation consisted of subjects drawn from a nationwide, accessible population of practitioners who were believed to be involved in disability management service provision. No pre-existing sampling frame existed for individuals providing disability management services in the United States. Therefore, a unique sampling frame was constructed for use in this investigation based on the names of practitioners collected from four distinct sources. The four sources used in sample frame construction were as follows.

The first source included rehabilitation counselors who participated in a national disability management conference held in June 1995 at Michigan State University. This conference, "Disability Managers' Training Conference: Refining and Expanding Skills for

the Workplace", was attended by approximately 180 rehabilitation counselors and other professionals were either directly involved in providing disability management services or who were interested in learning more about this area of practice. Many of these participants responded to a pilot study specifically examining the role of the rehabilitation counselor in disability management. The responses of these "pioneers" in the field of rehabilitation and disability management served as the basis for development and validation of the Disability Management Skills Inventory, which was used for this current investigation. The participants from the conference were appropriate to involve in this follow-up investigation based on their previous exposure to disability management concepts and practices. In addition, these participants were presumed to be involved in disability management based on their known work affiliation or interest in disability management. The Disability Management Skills Inventory, the Demographic Questionnaire, and a detailed cover letter were distributed to 87% of conference attendees for a total of 156 individuals. Those selected to receive the survey were those individuals who did not appear on other lists comprising the sampling frame and who were not conference personnel.

The second source of practitioners used for sample frame construction was the list of individuals who attended the fall 1994 conference sponsored by the Washington Business Group on Health (WBGH), a major national organization representing large employers on issues related to health care. For the past nine years, the WBGH conducted the National Disability Management Conference dealing with current issues facing employers regarding disability management. The conference is attended by employers, insurers/third party administrators/benefits administrators, case managers, risk managers, public employers, labor representatives, occupational health nurses, rehabilitation professionals, employee assistance professionals, social workers and psychologists. A list of the 1994 conference participants was obtained and used as the second major source of

subjects for sample frame construction. The individuals attending the WBGH conference on disability management are a cross-disciplinary group of program and policy administrators and practitioners involved in disability and injury management. These individuals are appropriate for this investigation based on their involvement in disability management and their cross-disciplinary nature. These practitioners have had exposure to disability management concepts and practices as demonstrated by their attendance at the disability management conference. The list of participants for this conference consisted of 440 individuals. Thirty-five percent of these individuals were chosen for participation the study. Systematic random sampling procedures were used and every third name was chosen for inclusion in the study thus yielding a total of 150 individuals. These 150 individuals received the Disability Management Skills Inventory and the Demographic Questionnaire and were asked to participate in the study.

Work Injury Management subscribers comprised the third source for sample frame construction. Work Injury Management (WIM) is a publication with 400 subscribers who are currently involved or interested in disability and injury management. Most WIM subscribers are physical therapists or occupational therapists. WIM holds an annual conference related to these themes. For example, the 1995 Work Injury Management conference was entitled "The Application of Principles of Quality Management to Reduce Work Injury Costs." This conference is typically attended by approximately 550 physical and occupational therapists, vocational rehabilitation specialists and employers who are either interested in managing and controlling workplace injury and disability or those currently providing these services. The WIM subscriber and conference participant lists were combined to comprise this third source of sample frame construction. These lists were then cross-referenced with the MSU and WBGH conference participant lists to eliminate duplication of names. This combined list of WIM conference participants and subscribers consisted of 1431 names. Systematic random sampling procedures were used

to select individuals from these lists. Twenty percent of these individuals were chosen for participation in the study. Every seventh individual was selected from this list yielding a total sample of 204. These individuals were mailed the Disability Management Skills Inventory, the Demographic Questionnaire and were asked to participate in the study.

The final source used for the sampling frame were lists of rehabilitation counselors currently certified through the Commission on Rehabilitation Counselor Certification. A list of certified rehabilitation counselors employed in the private sector was obtained for Michigan, Ohio and California. These states were chosen based on their activity level and involvement in disability management and their progressive strategies aimed at dealing with workplace injury and disability. Those certified counselors currently employed in the private sector including insurance-based rehabilitation practitioners were identified and included in the accessible population of disability management providers for this study. A total of 1170 individuals comprised this list. Twenty-five percent of this population was chosen for inclusion in the study. Systematic random sampling procedures were employed and every fourth individual was selected yielding a total of 290 individuals who received a survey. When completing the actual survey, private-for-profit or insurance based rehabilitation counselors were asked to indicate whether they were currently involved in providing disability management services because little information was available to validate this groups' involvement in disability management. Those individuals who were not currently involved in providing disability management services designated such on the demographic questionnaire and were instructed not to complete the Disability Management Skills Inventory.

Lists from the above mentioned sources: Participants from the Michigan State
University Disability Manager's Training Conference, the Washington Business Group on
Health annual disability management conference, Work Injury Management annual
conference, and the selected three-state private sector sample from the Commission on

Certification for Rehabilitation Counselors were thoroughly reviewed to avoid duplication of names. Names from these four lists of practitioners comprised the accessible population of subjects from which the sample was drawn for use in this investigation.

Sampling procedures.

The four groups of subjects used for sample frame construction remained separate for sampling purposes. In order to maximize the amount of data collected, with consideration given to the cost constraints imposed on this investigation and the precision desired, proportional sampling was conducted within each of the four population sources based on previous knowledge about the group memberships' involvement in providing disability management services. Based on knowledge of these population sources the variability within and across each group was expected to be low. Therefore, for those individuals involved in disability management, no distinct differences were expected to occur with respect to subjects' motivation or commitment toward performing disability management services. However, the group of rehabilitation counselors from the CRCC group were an unknown entity in that members may or may not have been providing disability management services during the time that the study occurred. This information was not known until after subjects were selected and the questionnaire was returned. It was felt that the conference participant groups were known entities in regard to their involvement in disability management and a higher number of subjects were selected from these population sources in an attempt to obtain a higher rate of usable responses from participants. It was also felt that conference participants would be more likely to respond based on their commitment to obtain more information about disability management as demonstrated by their attendance at disability management conferences.

Systematic random sampling procedures were conducted within three of the four sources that were used to construct the sampling frame. Systematic sampling procedures

stipulate that every kth subject is chosen systematically for inclusion in the sample. To guard against any human bias in using this method, the first subject is chosen at random using a table of random numbers. The subject with that number is then included in the sample along with every kth subject (determined by the sampling ratio and sampling interval) that follows (Babbie, 1983). A total number of 800 subjects were sampled from the four groups comprising the accessible population of subjects. A response rate of 40% was anticipated yielding a total number of usable surveys that would satisfy guidelines for conducting factor analysis. Liberal guidelines for conducting a factor analysis indicate that the sample contain at least 100 subjects and that there be between a 4:1 to 2:1 ratio of observations to variables. A 40% response rate would satisfy these guidelines by providing a 3:1 ratio of observations to variables. Furthermore, this response rate would satisfy conditions for conducting multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) which indicate that all cells of the respondent groups must be greater than the number of dependent variables used in the study (Hair, Anderson, Tatham, & Black, 1992).

Instrumentation

Instrument development.

The purpose of this study was to identify the knowledge and skills performed by disability management practitioners that they perceived to be important in achieving the desired outcomes of the disability management approach. These variables were assessed across three provider settings and six professional classification groups. In order to obtain valid information that can be analyzed in relation to the purpose of this investigation, a questionnaire with 101 knowledge and skill statements was developed. This questionnaire will be referred to as the Disability Management Skills Inventory (DMSI) (See Appendix A). A ten item demographic questionnaire was also developed to obtain descriptive information about the sample of disability management providers (See Appendix B).

The Disability Management Skills Inventory (DMSI) was a composite of the Rehabilitation Skills Inventory (RSI) (Leahy, Shapson & Wright, 1987) and an original inventory entitled "The Role of the Rehabilitation Counselor in Disability Management" (Scully & Habeck, 1993) used in a 1993 pilot study identifying the knowledge and skills needed by rehabilitation counselors to provide effective disability management services. The Rehabilitation Skills Inventory (RSI) developed by Leahy, Shapson and Wright (1987) was used in a comprehensive research project investigating rehabilitation counselor competencies across service settings, conducted under the administrative auspices of the National Council on Rehabilitation Education.

The development of the original pilot-study knowledge and skill inventory was based on two strategies: (a) literature review and development of a pool of competency items, and (b) consultation and review by an expert content panel. The following methodologies were employed for the development of the pilot study knowledge and skill inventory. Literature from the fields of vocational rehabilitation, business and health and workers' compensation was reviewed. Knowledge and skill statements representing the critical competencies needed by disability management providers were identified. These knowledge and skill items were then rewritten so that each statement began with a verb as indicated by Fine and his associates (Fine, 1973; Fine, Holt, and Hutchinson, 1974; Fine & Wiley, 1971). This original questionnaire entitled "The Role of the Rehabilitation

Counselor in Disability Management" (See Appendix C) was a combination of structured and unstructured items that allowed respondents to identify the key functions of their jobs related to disability management and to respond to the importance of 35 knowledge and skill items.

Once initial revisions were performed on the pilot study instrument, a panel of professionals prominent in disability management and knowledgeable in disability management content, independently reviewed the instrument for clarity, representation of

73

disability management practice, consistency of word use, and elimination of redundant statements.

The pilot study instrument was then arranged into four sections beginning with respondents' self-categorization of the primary work setting in which they provide disability management services and unstructured items asking respondents to list the key tasks that they perform in their job related to disability management. Section two consisted of 35 statements that represented disability management knowledge and skill areas from the literature. This section contained a five-point Likert-type scale (0-4) asking respondents to rate the importance of these statements according to their significance, relevance, and amount of time spent on each in relation to their role in disability management. Section three was composed of unstructured items related to special issues in disability management such as case management. Section four of the questionnaire consisted of demographic information.

The pilot study instrument was first used to investigate the role of rehabilitation counselors in disability management (Scully & Habeck, 1993). Questionnaires were distributed to 116 rehabilitation counselors at a national invitational conference entitled "Rehabilitation Counselors in Disability Management" held at Michigan State University. Seventy participants responded to the pilot survey, for a response rate of 60%. Structured and unstructured survey responses were analyzed in an attempt to gain more information about the tasks and key functions performed by rehabilitation counselors in disability management. Descriptive statistics were used for analyzing structured survey items that asked respondents to rate the importance of specific statements related to their jobs as disability management providers. Means and standard deviations were calculated based on the responses to these items. (See Appendix D) Qualitative data were reviewed and actual responses were recorded and categorized. Individual responses to unstructured survey items yielded important information about the key functions in addition to the knowledge

and skills needed by rehabilitation counselors to provide disability management services.

These responses were thoroughly reviewed to analyze the comprehensiveness of the list of knowledge and skill statements represented in the original disability management inventory and to provide validity to the instrument.

Development of the Rehabilitation Skills Inventory (RSI) occurred over a 13-month time period (November 1984-December 1985). Methodology for developing the RSI included consultation with expert judges and obtaining input from a national advisory committee. Further development stages included empirical verification of the instrument through field testing and rigorous pre-testing methods. Four main stages characterized the development of the RSI: (a) systematic literature review and development of a comprehensive pool of competency items, (b) review of the initial items by a national panel of expert judges, (c) practitioner tryouts of the item quality and instrument format, and (d) pilot testing with subsequent extensive data analysis (Leahy, Shapson & Wright, 1987).

The Rehabilitation Skills Inventory originally consisted of 114 competency items (See Appendix E) which were rated on two, five point Likert-type scales; importance of skills to respondents primary work role and attainment of skills in meeting client needs. Reliability estimates of the RSI were obtained using Cronbach's alpha, which yielded relatively high reliability coefficients for each of the five item categories that were developed a priori (assessment=.95; counseling=.92; placement=.96; case management=.91; professional development=.93). Content validity of the RSI was based partly on the types of items that were selected from previous research efforts where the content validity was based on functional job analysis procedures. Validity was also based on the development methodology used to construct the instrument including field trials and pretesting procedures (Leahy, Shapson & Wright, 1987).

The 114 original RSI items were reviewed to determine their relevance and appropriateness for this investigation. These original items were considered to be a comprehensive list of skills that are characteristic of rehabilitation counseling practice in both the public and private setting. On the basis of the documented goals and outcomes of disability management practice, items were reviewed and a determination was made about their relevance to disability management. First, items that obtained an overall mean value of less than 2.00 when rated by rehabilitation counselors were omitted. Next, items that did not relate to disability management practice as determined by the investigator and could not be modified to relate to disability management practice. A total of 64 items from the RSI were used for the DMSI. These items were modified to be consistent with disability management terminology and descriptive of disability management practice. Specifically, terminology was changed to describe the activities and participants in the disability management process.

Thus, the original pilot study instrument and the Rehabilitation Skills Inventory were adapted and merged to serve as the basis for developing the Disability Management Skills Inventory. All of the knowledge and skill statements on the original pilot study instrument with the exception of four items have been included in the Disability Management Skills Inventory. The four items that were omitted for the DMSI had obtained an overall mean score of less than 2.0 on the pilot study or the items were considered redundant when the RSI and the pilot study instruments were combined. Furthermore, four additional items were added based on responses given to the unstructured item asking rehabilitation counselors to list other skills that they perform which are critical to their role in disability management that were not mentioned in the original item list. These four items were constructed based on frequently cited responses from the participants. The Disability Management Skills Inventory, that served as the basis for the expert review panel, consisted of 99 items, 35 from the pilot study instrument

and data analysis and 64 from the RSI. After the experts reviewed the DMSI, two additional items were added to the instrument. The two additional items dealt with developing mechanisms for labor and management cooperation and analyzing benefit plans to ensure support of disability management strategies. These content areas had not been dealt with sufficiently elsewhere in the instrument. The final DMSI was 101 items.

The original importance scale used in the pilot study questionnaire was revised for use in the DMSI. Originally, respondents were asked to rate the importance of knowledge and skill statements based on factors such as significance, relevance and amount of time spent on each. A five point Likert-type scale (0-4) was used with (0) as not a part of respondents' jobs and (4) as a most significant part of respondents' jobs. The importance scale was modified for this current investigation and respondents were asked to rate the importance of knowledge and skill items in relation for achieving the outcomes of effective disability management service provision. This change attempted to help respondents link the important knowledge and skills directly to outcomes of the disability management approach.

The 101 knowledge and skill statements comprising the Disability Management Skills Inventory represent a comprehensive list of knowledge and skill areas characteristic of rehabilitation counseling and disability management service provision (See Appendix A). The rationale behind combining the knowledge and skill areas in these two domains of practice into one comprehensive inventory was to empirically determine the knowledge and skills perceived to be important to provide effective disability management services from the rehabilitation counselor's perspective. Because rehabilitation counselors have evolved into roles as a significant source of providers in this area, the DMSI was designed to determine the interaction between disability management activities and rehabilitation counselor knowledge and skills that practitioners consider to be important when providing disability management services. Therefore, the sample of subjects consisted of

rehabilitation counseling professionals as well as other practitioners involved in disability management. Obtaining data from a variety of practitioners provided a cross-disciplinary perspective of a cross-discipline service arena and allowed comparisons to be made about the skills and knowledge areas important to disability management practice as viewed by different practitioner groups and their reported levels of preparation in these areas.

All of the DMSI statements were rated on two, five point Likert-type scales (0-4) for importance and preparedness (See Table 1). Respondents were asked to consider each statement and determine to what extent the item was important in achieving the desired outcomes of disability management in their employment setting. Respondents also reviewed statements to determine the degree to which they felt prepared in the knowledge or skill area as a result of their education and training.

The 101 items comprising the DMSI were randomly ordered rather than grouped into rationally derived categories. The rationale for random assignment was to minimize any biasing effect that the groupings of similar task items may have on subsequent ratings of task importance or preparedness by participants.

The development of the demographic questionnaire for this investigation consisted of first identifying the major information of interest for use in the data analysis of the study. Information identified as critical to the study's purpose and research questions were considered along with other factors believed to have an impact on participant's responses. The demographic questionnaire used with the Rehabilitation Skills Inventory (1987) was thoroughly reviewed in relation to the study results to identify factors

Table 1

Rating Scales for the Disability Management Skills Inventory

Scale 1.

IMPORTANCE: To what extent are these knowledge and skill statements important to achieving the outcomes of effective disability management in your employment setting; how critical are these knowledge and skill statements in achieving the outcomes of effective disability management. Evaluate the "importance" as follows:

[0] None: Not important at all
[1] Little: Minor importance
[2] Moderate: Fairly important
[3] High: Substantial importance
[4] Maximal: Essential, crucial

Scale 2.

PREPAREDNESS: To what degree do you feel prepared in the knowledge and skill statements as a result of your education and training? Consider each statement in relation to the degree in which you feel prepared as a result of your education or training. Please consider your preservice, in-service and continuing education. Evaluate your "preparedness" as follows:

- [0] No preparation
- [1] Little preparation
- [2] Moderately prepared
- [3] Highly prepared
- [4] Very highly prepared

influencing participants' responses. This resulted in a ten-item demographic questionnaire that obtains identifying information regarding respondents' employment, professional identity, education, and credentials.

Major items within the demographic questionnaire included: (a) identifying information, (b) employment, (c) education, (d) professional identity/credentialling. Specifically, the demographic portion of the questionnaire asked subjects to self-categorize into a priori provider categories. Four categories of disability management provider settings were established for identifying respondents based on the pilot study. These categories were as follows: (a) Company employee who directly provides/administers disability management services in-house (internal providers), (b) Independent private providers or employees of consulting firms that are contracted to provide disability management services (private providers), (c) Providers employed by insurance carriers or third party administrators who provide disability management services (insurance based providers), and (d) professionals not currently providing or administering disability management services.

This investigation employed self-report procedures as a method to determine the perceived importance and reported preparedness in knowledge and skill areas associated with disability management. The use of self-report for this investigation was based on the assumption that practitioners are able and will in fact respond accurately to this survey. Self-report measures are commonly used to obtain information about respondents as is evidenced by the wide use of instruments such as interest inventories and attitude surveys (Bolton, 1985; Nunnally, 1970). Another important consideration when deciding to use a self-report measure was that it provides information not readily available from other sources (Primoff, 1980). Many of the competency areas included in the final instrument were knowledge and skill areas that could not be easily observed by others, therefore the

practitioner is in the best possible position to evaluate importance and preparedness with respect to the skill or knowledge area in question.

Procedures

Design.

A descriptive design was employed for this study. The descriptive procedures were a self-report survey of the perceived importance and reported preparedness in the knowledge and skill areas characteristic of disability management practice. These variables were analyzed and comparisons were made based on the self-reported responses to the a priori demographic categories of provider setting and professional classification of respondents.

The dependent variables for this investigation were (a) perceived importance of knowledge and skills related to the provision of disability management services, and (b) reported preparedness in these knowledge and skill areas. The independent variables were (a) provider setting, (b) educational emphasis, (c) level of education, and (d) professional classification.

Data collection.

After sample selection, mailing labels were developed and tracking books constructed. Subjects were identified via pre-coding and assigning a single instrument serial number (pre-printed on the instrument) to individual subjects. The identification number was recorded in the tracking book and on the demographic portion of the questionnaire.

Following instrument pre-coding, a packet of materials was mailed to each subject in the sample (N=644) with the exception of Michigan State University's disability management conference participants. Packets included the transmittal letter and

instructions (See Appendix F), a copy of the DMSI and the demographic questionnaire, and a self-addressed return envelope. All mailings were sent via first class mail in order to obtain information regarding subjects with undeliverable addresses and to develop an accurate record of subjects who received the materials. Subjects comprising the Certified Rehabilitation Counselor (n=290) group were mailed packets directly from the Commission on Rehabilitation Counselor Certification. An additional transmittal letter was included in the packet explaining mail back procedures and subjects were given three continuing education credits for completing the survey.

Returns of the questionnaire were monitored daily and reviewed for completeness. Approximately 4-6 weeks after the response date indicated on the transmittal letter, a second complete packet was mailed to non-responding subjects. The packet was basically identical to the initial packet with the exception of a new transmittal letter (See Appendix G) reminding participants of the survey and further stressing the importance of their participation.

During daily monitoring of returns, questionnaires were reviewed for accuracy especially with regard to self-categorization of employment settings. This information was verified by comparing it with demographic information obtained. This process allowed for daily quality control and accuracy prior to actual data entry. Data was then directly and manually entered onto the computer for storage and easy retrieval.

Data collection for the sample group of conference attendees at Michigan State
University's Disability Manager's Training Conference was completed on-site. Conference
attendees were provided with a packet of materials consisting of the Disability
Management Skills Inventory, the Demographic Questionnaire, a cover letter and a selfaddressed envelope. At the opening of the conference an announcement was made
regarding the nature of the study, the importance of participation, and directions for
completion. Announcements were made throughout the conference regarding the

importance of this research and conference attendee's participation. Attendees were asked to complete the survey during the three day conference, however, an envelope was provided for those who preferred to mail their survey after the conference. As numerous personal announcements were made to this group regarding participation, a complete second set of materials was not mailed to non-respondents in order to conserve financial resources. A follow-up postcard was mailed approximately 3 weeks after the conference was over (See Appendix H) to remind conference attendees to mail in their survey.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were computed on sample characteristics from the demographic portion of the questionnaire. Specific continuous variables that defined selected characteristics of the sample included age and years of paid work experience. For each of these variables, group means and standard deviations were computed and displayed in tables for the entire sample, and for the individual sub-sample groups (e.g., provider setting, professional classification).

In an attempt to further describe this population of rehabilitation counselors providing disability providers, frequencies and percentages were computed on the following categorical variables: (a) disability management provider setting, (b) education level, (c) professional classification, (d) educational emphasis (i.e., major), (e) certification/licensure status, and, (f) the desirability of such credentials or licenses.

In responding to the first research question determining knowledge and skill areas considered to be important by practitioners in achieving the outcomes of effective disability management, descriptive statistics were computed for each knowledge and skill item on the DMSI. Descriptive statistics were computed based on subject responses to the five point Likert-type importance scale. Group means and standard deviations were calculated for each item by professional classification (rehabilitation counselors, business

professionals, nurses, physical & occupational therapists, psychologists & social workers, and others) and provider setting (internal, private consultant, insurance based) and displayed in table format.

Next, the 101 items on the Disability Management Skills Inventory were factor analyzed. The purpose of the factor analysis was to condense or summarize the information contained in the original 101 dependent variables into a smaller set of new composite dimensions while minimizing loss of information. The factor analysis is intended to define the fundamental constructs or dimensions underlying the original knowledge and skill statements (Hair, Anderson, Tatham, & Black, 1992). Common factor analysis was used to obtain a factor solution. Common factor analysis is aimed at explaining common variance or the variance that is shared by the actual items as opposed to principle components analysis which extracts both variance that is unique to variables as well as error variance (Pedhazur and Schmelkin, 1991). Common factor analysis does not imply that the variables are error free and do not have specific variance. In order to improve the interpretation of the factor analysis, an orthogonal rotational method was used. The Varimax solution was chosen as it has proved to be successful as an analytic approach to obtaining an orthogonal rotation of factors. Varimax provides a clear separation of factors and yields a simple factor solution (Hair, Anderson, Tatham, & Black, 1992). After reviewing descriptive data for the sample sub-groups and considering the size of the final sample all subjects were used to determine a factor solution.

After conducting the factor analysis, reliability coefficients were calculated through the computation of Cronbach's alpha to determine the internal consistency reliability of DMSI items within each identified factor.

In order to respond to the second research question and determine if the ratings of knowledge and skill items differed in perceived importance according to provider setting and professional classification, a multivariate analysis of variance was conducted. The two independent variables used were: (a) professional classification (rehabilitation counselors, business professionals, nurses, etc.), and (b) provider setting (internal, external, insurance based). The dependent variables for this analysis were the mean scores on the individual item factors. The MANOVA was conducted to evaluate both main effects (professional classification and provider setting) and interaction effects (professional classification x provider setting) for each factor. All significant F ratios were followed up by post-hoc comparisons.

In order to address the third research question and determine the degree to which practitioners feel prepared in the knowledge and skill areas as a result of their education and training, descriptive statistics were computed for each knowledge and skill item on the DMSI. Descriptive statistics were computed based on subject responses to the five point Likert-type preparedness scale. Group means and standard deviations were calculated for each item by professional classification and provider setting and displayed in table format. For the purpose of analyzing responses on the preparedness variable, the same factor solution utilized for importance was used for further data analysis on the preparedness variable.

In responding to the fourth research question regarding whether ratings of knowledge and skill items differ in reported preparedness according to provider setting and professional classification, a multivariate analysis of variance was conducted. The two independent variables were: (a) professional classification (rehabilitation counselors, business professionals, nurses, other practitioners, etc.), and (b) type of provider setting (internal, external, insurance based). The dependent variables for this analysis were the mean scores on the individual item factors. The MANOVA was conducted to evaluate both main effects (professional classification and provider setting) and interaction effects (professional classification x provider setting) for each factor. All significant F ratios were followed up by post-hoc comparisons.

Chapter IV

Results

Characteristics of the Sample

Of the 800 DMSI's distributed to practitioners throughout the nation, nine were returned as undeliverable and one was returned as inappropriate for the study as the subject resided in Australia. Of the remaining DMSI's (<u>n</u>=790) distributed, 311 were returned for an overall response rate of 39.4%. This group will be referred to as the total sample. Four sources were used to compose the sampling frame for this study. All four sources consisted of practitioners who were thought to be involved in disability management by virtue of their group membership. While the overall response rate was 39.4%, response rates among the four sample groups were as follows: Work Injury Management, 31.6% (<u>n</u>=62); Disability Management Conference, 48.1% (<u>n</u>=75); Washington Business Group on Health, 31.1% (<u>n</u>=46); and, the Commission on Rehabilitation Counselor Certification, 44.1% (<u>n</u>=128).

The overall response rate obtained in the study was approximately as expected. The response rate for this study closely parallels typical response rates for survey research as first mailings typically yield 30% return rates and subsequent mailings add 10-20% (Babbie, 1979). Heppner, Kivlinghan, and Wampold (1992) state that there is no agreed upon, acceptable return rate for survey research and that survey research is often published with response rates of less than 40%. Response rates for two of the subsample groups, the Disability Management Conference and the Commission on Rehabilitation Counselor Certification were somewhat higher than the other two groups. The higher response rates for these two groups might be explained by the larger number of rehabilitation counselors comprising their membership and that the survey instrument was developed from rehabilitation counseling research. Rehabilitation counseling groups appeared to be more likely to respond as the study represented their concerns and

perspective on disability management. The groups with a lower response rate had more diversity within their professional membership and may have been less likely to respond as the study may not have addressed their perspective on disability management. Further, different participant recruitment strategies were employed for the CRCC group and the Disability Management Conference and this may have also contributed to a higher response rate for these two groups. Subjects from the CRCC group were mailed a questionnaire directly from the Commission on Rehabilitation Counselor Certification and were given three continuing education credits for completing the survey. This incentive may explain the higher response rate for this group. Subjects recruited from the Disability Management Conference were recruited for participation via numerous verbal elicitations. Throughout the duration of the conference announcements were made stressing the need for participation and the value of their responses. The Disability Management Conference group had the highest response rate and may be explained by the frequent verbal pleas and endorsements of conference personnel. The sample is biased based on the higher response rates for groups predominantly comprised of rehabilitation counselors; however, the purpose of this study was to further elucidate the rehabilitation counselor's involvement in disability management.

Provider settings and professional classifications of the total sample.

Respondents were asked to identify their current provider setting in disability management from these options: internal providers, external providers, insurance-based providers, and not currently providing. The distribution of provider setting responses of the 311 individuals responding to the questionnaire were as follows: internal providers, 18.3% (<u>n</u>=57); external providers, 47.6% (<u>n</u>=148); insurance based providers, 12.5% (<u>n</u>=39); and not currently providing, 21.5% (<u>n</u>=67).

There were some problems inherent in the major categorical variable, provider setting. Nine respondents noted that one category alone could not adequately describe the setting of their work and subsequently categorized themselves in two provider-setting categories. Apparently some individuals consider their work as crossing setting lines and find it difficult to identify themselves with only one provider setting, probably reflecting the changing venues of disability management practice today. In order to utilize these responses for the final analysis, these respondent's were re-categorized on the basis of their predominant employment setting. Predominant work setting was inferred from demographic information such as the name of the employing organization, job title, and professional identity. When respondents listed the proportion of time spent in each provider setting, this information was considered as well.

In regard to the professional background of individuals providing disability management, respondents were asked to designate their professional identity by choosing from a list of 12 offered and an "other" category. These included: (a) rehabilitation counselor; (b) human resource manager; (c) social worker; (d) occupational therapist; (e) physician; (f) risk manager; (g) nurse; (h) educator; (i) psychologist; (j) physical therapist; (k) business manager; (l) benefits administrator; and (m) other. For data analysis purposes, these categories were collapsed into six major categories as follows: rehabilitation counselors, business professionals, psychologists and social workers, nurses, physical and occupational therapists, and others. Rehabilitation counselors and nurses maintained individual categories in the sample. Psychologists and social workers were combined for their similar clinical orientation and physical and occupational therapists were combined based on their similar goals of service. Development of the business professionals category was achieved by combining human resource managers, risk managers, business managers, and benefits administrators. Originally, 40 individuals (12.8%) of from the total sample classified themselves as "other", including two physicians

and four educators. Nineteen of these individuals were reclassified into the six merged categories by inferring professional identity from reviewing their demographic data. Upon completion of the re-categorization process, the professional classification of the total sample was as follows: rehabilitation counselors, 59.6% (\underline{n} =177); business professionals, 7.4% (\underline{n} =23); psychologists and social workers, 4.4% (\underline{n} =13); nurses, 10.8% (\underline{n} =32); physical and occupational therapists, 11.1% (\underline{n} =33); and "others" 6.4% (\underline{n} =19). Fourteen respondents did not designate a professional identity.

An interesting finding was made while reviewing demographic data for recategorization of "others" for professional classification. Eleven respondents with master's degrees in rehabilitation counseling or vocational rehabilitation related fields, and with the certified rehabilitation counselor credential, had designated themselves as "others" for professional identity. It appeared that these respondents did not consider themselves rehabilitation counselors but rather wrote in their professional identity as rehabilitation consultants, disability managers, or vocational consultants. These individuals were reclassified as rehabilitation counselors for data analysis purposes but this finding may be important to consider when describing practitioners that provide disability management services. They may describe their professional identity other than rehabilitation counseling and prefer terminology such as consultant or disability manager.

The final sample of 244 individuals represented 78.5% of the total respondents and was used for the major data analyses. A complete summary of the total sample by subsample group and a summary by professional classification is provided in Table 2.

Provider settings and professional classifications of the final sample.

Respondents in the final sample were classified in the three major provider settings as follows: internal providers, 23.4% (\underline{n} =57), external providers, 60.7% (\underline{n} =148), and insurance based providers, 16.0% (\underline{n} =39). The final sample was categorized in

Total Sample by Subsample Group and Professional Classification

	*	WIM	W	WBGH	C	CRCC	DM	DM Conf.	Ţ	Total
Professional Identity	FI	%	EII	%	a l	%	티	%	= 1	%
Rehabilitation Counselors	4	7.0%	16	41.0%	108	85.0%	49	66.2%	177	29.6%
Business	7	3.5%	9	15.4%	7	5.5%	∞	10.8%	23	7.4%
Psychologists & Social Workers	7	3.5%	7	5.1%	m	2.4%	9	8.1%	13	4.4%
Nurses	0	15.8%	12	30.8%	т	2.4%	∞	10.8%	32	10.8%
Prs/Ors	32	51.6%	0	%0.0	0	0.0%	-	1.4%	33	11.1%
Other	∞	14.0%	ю	7.7%	9	4.7%	7	2.7%	19	6.4%
(Missing)	(5)		(2)		(1)		Ξ		(14)	

professional classifications as follows: rehabilitation counselors, 61.6% ($\underline{n}=149$); business professionals, 7.4% ($\underline{n}=18$); psychologists and social workers, 3.7% ($\underline{n}=9$); nurses, 12.4% ($\underline{n}=30$); and, physical and occupational therapists, 9.5% ($\underline{n}=23$); and "others", 5.4% ($\underline{n}=13$). Two respondents did not designate a professional identity and therefore constitute missing data on this variable. The distribution of the final sample by provider setting and professional classification is provided in Table 3, and the distribution of the final sample by subsample group and professional classification is provided in Table 4.

Characteristics of the sampling frame.

The mean age for the final sample was 43.3 and the mean ages for the four subsample groups were as follows: Work Injury Management (WIM), 38.4; Washington Business Group on Health (WBGH), 42.9; Commission on Rehabilitation Counselor Certification (CRCC), 45.2; and, Disability Management Conference (DMC), 43.8. The final sample contained 36.9% (n=90) males and 63.1% (n=154) females. Gender composition of the four subsample groups was as follows: WIM, 38.6% males and 61.4% females; WBGH, 42.9% males and 57.1% females; CRCC, 33.0% males and 67.0% females; and, DMC, 39.0% males and 61.0% females. With regard to work experience, the final sample had a mean of 12.77 years of rehabilitation work experience. The mean years of experience for the four subsample groups were as follows: WIM, 10.43; WBGH, 10.28; CRCC, 14.56; and DMC, 12.59. Regarding certification status, the final sample contained 9.1% (n=22) respondents who held no professional certifications. The proportion of respondents not certified in each of the four subsample groups were as follows: WIM, 18.2%; WBGH, 17.1%; CRCC, 0.0%; and, DMC, 13.8%. With regard to professional classification, 57.4% of the final sample were reported to be rehabilitation counselors with the next highest percentage being nurses (12.4%). With the exception of respondents from WIM, who reported higher proportions of physical therapists (36.4%),

Table 3

Final Sample by Provider Setting and Professional Classification

	Interna	al (<u>n</u> =57)		ternal =148)		urance 1 (<u>n</u> =39)
Professional Identity	<u>n</u>	%	<u>n</u>	%	<u>n</u>	%
Rehabilitation Counselors	23	40.4%	101	69.2%	25	64.1%
Business Professionals	8	14.0%	6	4.1%	4	10.3%
Psychologists & Social Workers	3	5.3%	5	3.4%	1	2.6%
Nurses	13	22.8%	10	6.8%	7	17.9%
Physical & Occ. Therapists	8	14.0%	14	9.6%	1	2.6%
Other Professionals	2	3.5%	10	6.8%	1	2.6%
(Missing)	(0)		(2)		(0)	

Final Sample by Subsample Group and Professional Classification

	WIM	WIM (<u>n</u> =44)	WBGH	WBGH (<u>n</u> =35)	CRCC	CRCC (<u>n</u> =106)	DM(DM CONF. (<u>I</u> =59)	5	TOTAL
Professional Identity		%	a a	%	티	%	디	%	ZI	%
Rehabilitation Counselors	4	9.1%	15	42.9%	92	81.6%	38	65.5%	149	61.6%
Business Professionals	7	4.5%	9	17.1%	4	3.8%	•	10.3%	8	7.4%
Psychologists & Social Workers	-	2.3%	7	5.7%	7	1.9%	4	%6.9	0	3.7%
Nurses	6	20.5%	11	31.4%	æ	2.9%	7	12.1%	30	12.4%
Physical & Occ. Therapists	22	50.0%	0	%0.0	0	%0.0	-	1.7%	23	9.5%
Other Professionals	9	13.6%	-	2.9%	4	3.8%	6	3.4%	13	5.4%
(Missing)	9		0		Ξ		Ξ			

nurses (18.2%), and occupational therapists (11.4%), the highest two proportions in each of the other three groups reported to be rehabilitation counselors and nurses, as compared to any other professional groups. Specific proportions were as follows: WBGH, 40.0% rehabilitation counselors and 31.4% nurses; CRCC, 83.8% rehabilitation counselors and 2.9% nurses; and, DMC, 56.9% rehabilitation counselors and 13.8% nurses. With regard to education most respondents reported education at the masters level (65.4%), and the lowest proportion reported education at the associates degree level (5.0%). All four subsample groups reported the highest proportion of their group memberships with education at the masters level. Specific percentages were as follows: WIM, 39.5%; WBGH, 51.4%; CRCC, 84.6%; and, DMC, 58.6%.

Despite some differences in the characteristics of individual subgroups, the four groups were merged for data analysis on the basis of their known involvement in disability management service provision in order to collect responses from rehabilitation counselors and other practitioners currently providing disability management services. The final sample obtained for this study poses some limitations regarding generalizing to the larger population of disability management providers. The final sample may be somewhat biased toward rehabilitation counselors as all individuals comprising the larger population of disability management providers did not have an equal chance of being selected for the study. Rehabilitation counselors comprised more than 50% of the final sample of disability management providers and this may not be indicative of the general population of disability management practitioners. Based on these issues and the overall purpose of this study, findings will be primarily generalized to rehabilitation counselors providing disability management services.

Education.

The educational levels reported by the final sample, were as follows: 21 respondents (8.8%) had doctorates; 157 (65.4%) had masters degrees; 48 (20.0%) had bachelors degrees; 12 (5.0%) had associates degrees; and, 2 respondents (.8%) reported having no degree. A complete summary of respondents' highest degree obtained according to provider setting is provided in Table 5 and according to professional classification in Table 6.

Of the respondents listing their highest degree obtained as an associates degree (n=12), 91.7% were in nursing and 8.3% were in other areas not specified on the demographic questionnaire. Respondents listing their highest degree as a bachelors degree (\underline{n} =48) reported degrees in the following areas: 16.7% in nursing; 6.3% in psychology; 8.3% in occupational therapy, 14.6% in physical therapy; 2.1% in special education; 8.3% in sociology; 6.3% in education; 2.0% in business; and, 35.4% in other areas not specified on the demographic questionnaire. Respondents listing their highest degree as a masters degree (n=157) reported degrees in the following areas: 52.9% in rehabilitation counseling; 7.0% in vocational rehabilitation related areas; 1.3% in social work; 1.3% in nursing; 14.7% in guidance/counseling; 5.1% in psychology; 1.3% in occupational therapy; 3.8% in physical therapy; .6% in special education; .6% in sociology; 3.2% in education; .6% in business; .6% in human resources; and, 7.0% in other areas not specified on the demographic questionnaire. Respondents listing their highest degree as a doctorate (\underline{n} =21) reported their degrees in the following areas: 23.8% in rehabilitation counseling; 4.8% in guidance and counseling; 33.3% in psychology; 4.8% in physical therapy; 9.5% in education; 4.8% in human resources; and 19.0% in other areas not specified on the demographic questionnaire.

Table 5

Final Sample Highest Degree Obtained by Provider Setting

		ternal =57)		ternal =148)	В	arance ased =39)		Sample 244)*
Degree Level	<u>n</u>	%	<u>n</u>	%	<u>n</u>	%	<u>N</u>	%
None Reported	0	0.0%	1	.7%	1	2.6%	2	.8%
Associates	4	7.1%	4	2.7%	4	10.5%	12	5.0%
Bachelors	20	35.7%	23	15.8%	5	13.2%	48	20.0%
Masters	28	50.0%	102	69.9%	27	71.1%	157	65.4%
Doctorate	4	7.1%	16	11.0%	1	2.6%	21	8.8%

^{*}missing data for 4 cases on this variable

0 91

Respondent's Highest Degree Obtained by Professional Classification

	Rehabi Coun (<u>n</u> =	Rehabilitation Counselors $(\underline{n}=149)$	Bus Profes (<u>n</u> =	Business Professionals $(\underline{n}=18)$	Psychol Social (n	Psychologists & Social Workers $(\underline{n}=9)$	Z 🗓	Nurses (<u>n</u> =30)	Physica Ther (<u>n</u> =	Physical & Occ. Therapists $(\underline{n}=23)$	Profee	"Other" Professionals $(\underline{n}=13)$
Degree Level	디	%	디	%	디	%	a	%	디	%	디	%
None Reported	0	%0.0	-	5.6%	0	%0.0	-	3.4%	0	%0.0	0	%0.0
Associates	1	.70%	0	%0.0	0	%0.0	10	34.5%	1	4.3%	0	%0.0
Bachelors	13	8.8%	∞	44.4%		%0.0	12	41.4%	10	43.5%	8	38.5%
Masters	123	83.1%	∞	44.4%	S	85.6%	9	20.7%	10	43.5%	8	38.5%
Doctorate	11	7.4%	-	2.6%	4	44.4%	0	%0.0	7	8.7%	æ	23.1%

Certification status.

Regarding certification status of the final sample, 22 individuals (9.1%) were not certified and 220 individuals (90.9%) had one or more certifications. Of those respondents who were certified, 151 individuals (61.8%) were Certified Rehabilitation Counselors, 59 (24.1%) were Certified Insurance Rehabilitation Specialists, 8 (3.2%) were Certified Vocational Evaluators, 32 (13.1%) were Registered Nurses, 9 (3.6%) were National Certified Counselors, 54 (22.2%) were Certified Case Managers, 34 (13.9%) were Licensed Professional Counselors, 2 (.8%) were Certified Risk Managers, and 53 (21.7%) held other certifications besides those or along with those listed on the demographic questionnaire. Most frequently listed "other" certifications reported were Licensed Physical Therapist, Registered Physical Therapist, Registered Occupational Therapist, Certified Occupational Health Nurse, Licensed Psychologist, Certified Rehabilitation Registered Nurse, and Registered Social Worker. Respondents were also asked how desirable their credentials were in their present job; 80 individuals (33.3%) felt that certification was mandatory: 130 individuals (54.2%) reported that certification was advantageous for their present job; and 30 individuals (12.5%) felt that certification was not needed for their present job.

Perceived Importance and Preparedness of DMSI Items

In order to examine the perceived importance of knowledge and skill areas associated with disability management practice, respondents were asked to rate the importance of 101 knowledge and skill areas. Respondents rated the items using the following five point Likert-type scale: (0) None: not important at all; (1) Little: minor importance; (2) Moderate: fairly important; (3) High: substantial importance; and (4) Maximal: essential or crucial. A review of the means for the final sample demonstrated that 100 out of 101 items received a mean score of 2.0 or greater indicating that almost all

of the items were perceived to be of moderate or greater importance. The one item on the DMSI with a mean score below 2.0 was "describe Social Security regulations and procedures regarding disability determination and benefits". Furthermore, 38 out of 101 items received a mean score of 3.0 or greater indicating that approximately 40% of the items were perceived to be highly important. A complete summary of means and standard deviations for the final sample on importance items is provided in Table 7.

In order to determine the reported preparedness of respondents in knowledge and skill areas associated with disability management practice, respondents were asked to rate their preparedness on the 101 DMSI items. Respondents rated the degree to which they felt prepared as a result of their education and training using the following five point Likert-type scale: (0) No preparation; (1) Little preparation; (2) Moderately prepared; (3) Highly prepared; (4) Very highly prepared. A review of the means for the final sample demonstrated that 85 of 101 items received a mean score of 2.0 or greater indicating that respondents felt at least moderately prepared in approximately 85% of the knowledge and skill areas associated with disability management.

Only 9 of 101 items received a total mean score of 3.0 or greater, indicating that respondents felt highly prepared as a result of their education and training on a small number (9%)of the knowledge and skills items associated with disability management practice. Most of these items with an overall mean at or above the 3.0 level appeared to be characteristic of a professional, ethical relationship with workers and other professionals are listed below:

- 1. Abide by ethical and legal considerations of case communication and recording.
- 2. Write case notes, summaries and reports so that others can understand the case.
- 6. Assess medical information, job restrictions and job requirements to determine modified duty to facilitate return to work.

Table 7

Means and Standard Deviations for the Final Sample on Importance

		Z	SD
Imp 1	Abide by ethical and legal considerations of case communication and recording	3.64	.62
Imp 2	Write case notes, summaries and reports so that others can understand the case	3.50	99:
Imp 3	Recognize psychological problems requiring consultation for referral	3.02	.91
Imp 4	Interpret to disabled workers their diagnostic information	3.05	1.02
Imp 5	Develop and integrate disability management policy consistent with the Family Medical	2.76	1.11
	Leave Act and the Americans with Disabilities Act		
lmp 6	Assess medical information, job restrictions and job requirements to determine modified	3.63	.72
	duty to facilitate return to work		
1mp 7	Employ counseling techniques to facilitate the disabled worker's self-exploration	2.82	1.01
Imp 8	Use assessment information to provide disabled workers with insights into personal	2.51	1.05
	dynamics		
6 dwl	Use labor market information to assist the disabled worker in locating and obtaining	2.68	1.26
	suitable employment		

Table 7 (Cont'd).

		M	SD
Imp 10	Describe Social Security regulations and procedures regarding disability determination	1.89	1.23
	and benefits		
Imp 11	Understand insurance claims processing and professional responsibilities in workers'	3.07	1.03
	compensation and other internal benefit programs		
Imp 12	Prepare and present cases for mediation	2.00	1.30
Imp 13	Coordinate the activities of all parties involved in the return-to-work plan	3.54	.75
Imp 14	Monitor the medical management of a case to determine if the disabled worker is	3.06	1.10
	receiving appropriate treatment and if treatment is helping in recovery		
Imp 15	Address the psycho-social impact of illness and injury to mitigate barriers to return to	3.15	68.
	work and to further refer if necessary		
Imp 16	Identify social, economic and environmental forces that may adversely affect a disabled	3.24	& .
	worker's motivation toward return to work		
Imp 17	Market disability management services to business and industry	2.50	1.31
Imp 18	Review injury and disability data with the company safety personnel to develop	2.33	1.36
	strategies for prevention		

Table 7 (Cont'd).

		M	SD
Imp 19	Recommend modifications of job tasks to accomodate a disabled worker's functional	3.29	98.
	limitations		
Imp 20	Analyze the physical work environment, employer recruitment practices and hiring	2.34	1.36
	procedures to determine conformance with ADA requirements		
Imp 21	Develop and manage transitional work programs	2.27	1.45
Imp 22	Develop and maintain a system for program evaluation and documenting outcomes	2.64	1.34
Imp 23	Assess the significance of workers' disabilities in consideration of medical,	3.06	95
	psychological, educational and familial status		
Imp 24	Develop a therapeutic relationship characterized by empathy and positive regard for the	3.24	06:
	disabled worker		
Imp 25	Interview the disabled worker to verify the accuracy of case information	3.39	68.
Imp 26	Identify educational and training requirements for specific jobs	2.96	1.09
Imp 27	Match the disabled worker's needs with job reinforcers and their aptitudes with job	2.89	1.17
	requirements		

Table 7 (Cont'd).

		Z	SD
Imp 28	Identify transferable work skills by analyzing work history, functional capacities and	3.15	1.14
	limitations		
Imp 29	Provide information in order to assist disabled workers to answer other individuals'	2.61	1.24
	questions about their disabilities		
Imp 30	Use local resources toassist with external job placements	2.67	1.24
Imp 31	Possess knowledge of workers' compensation laws, compensable injuries, and employer	3.43	.82
	disability benefit systems		
Imp 32	Understand the applications of current legislation affecting the employment of	3.18	.92
	individuals with disabilities		
Imp 33	Read professional literature	2.96	98.
Imp 34	Monitor the medical management of a case to determine if the disabled worker is	2.66	1.18
	satisfied with treatment		
Imp 35	Assure regular contact with disabled workers who are experiencing lost work time	2.97	1.23
Imp 36	Respond to employer's biases and concerns regarding employing persons with	3.07	1.07
	disabilities		

Table 7 (Cont'd).

		\mathbf{Z}	SD
Imp 37	Prepare supervisors and managers to be informed participants in the prevention and	2.83	1.26
	management of disability in the workplace		
Imp 38	Promote ergonomic analysis of tasks and work stations and advocate the use of	2.87	1.12
	ergonomic interventions		
Imp 39	Utilize occupational information materials such as the DOT, OOH and other	2.77	1.17
	publications		
Imp 40	Facilitate the involvement with mental health and substance abuse service providers and	2.56	1.12
	incorporate these services into the return-to-work plan when necessary		
Imp 41	Establish a data gathering and information management system to monitor disability	2.28	1.39
	trends within the employer organization		
Imp 42	Prepare rehabilitation plans with disabled workers that consist of mutually agreed upon	3.33	1.01
	interventions and outcomes		
Imp 43	Identify and comply with ethical and legal implications of client relationships	3.60	.78
Imp 44	Adjust counseling approaches or styles according to the disabled worker's cognitive and	3.19	1.02
	personality characteristics		

		\mathbf{Z}	SD
Imp 45	Document all significant findings specific to the disabled worker which are sufficient for	3.04	1.15
	records and/or legal testimony		
Imp 46	Select evaluation instruments and techniques according to their appropriateness and	2.78	1.24
	usefulness for a disabled worker		
Imp 47	Counsel with disabled workers regarding educational and vocational implications of test	2.78	1.29
	and interview information		
Imp 48	Evaluate the disabled worker's social support system	2.81	1.02
Imp 49	Possess knowledge of employer and labor union policies and regulations relating to	2.91	1.03
	safety, disability and return to work		
Imp 50	Consult with medical professionals regarding functional capacities, prognosis and	3.53	27.
	treatment plans for workers with injuries or illnesses		
Imp 51	Identify stereotypic views toward persons with disabilities and provide	2.55	1.13
	education/training to company personnel to eliminate such stereotypes		
Imp 52	Coordinate a team approach to injury management by involving internal company	2.95	1.25
	personnel, union representatives and external service providers		

Table 7 (Cont'd).

SD

Σ

Imp 53	Facilitate communication between physicians and disabled workers to assure accurate	3.17	1.08
	information is transpired that facilitates recovery and return to work		
Imp 54	Educate clients regarding their rights under federal and state laws	2.54	1.14
Imp 55	Teach workers how to avoid injury and illness	2.50	1.37
Imp 56	Explain the concepts and strategies of disability management to employers	2.74	1.19
Imp 57	Analyze the task of a job utilizing standare DOL or other methods	2.59	1.32
Imp 58	Facilitate communication and cooperation across departments within the company to	2.98	1.22
	bring employees back to work		
1mp 59	Use company disability data to identify problem areas, causative factors and potentially	2.51	1.43
	costly cases		
Imp 60	Respond to new trends in disability management	2.59	1.26
Imp 61	Compile and interpret case information to maintain a current record	3.27	.82
Imp 62	Confront disabled workers with observations about inconsistencies between their goals	3.19	95
	and their behavior		

Table 7 (Cont'd).

		M	SD
Imp 63	Recommend occupational and/or educational materials for disabled workers to explore	2.75	1.16
	vocational alternatives		
Imp 64	Determine appropriate community services for the disabled worker's stated needs	2.68	1.15
Imp 65	Assist disabled workers in modifying their lifestyles to accomodate functional limitations	2.58	1.16
) darj	Assess a disabled worker's ability to perform independent living tasks	2.17	1.34
Imp 67	Possess basic knowledge of organizational behavior, business operations, and	2.79	1.11
	management strategies		
Imp 68	Apply published research results to professional practice	2.21	1.20
lmp 69	State clearly the nature of the disabled worker's problems for referral to outside service	3.01	1.09
	providers		
Imp 70	Apply the principles of disability-related legislation to daily practice	2.86	1.10
Imp 71	Provide an internal case management system that coordinates and monitors activities	3.04	1.26
	with health care providers, insurance carriers and other outside participants		
Imp 72	Provide follow-up to supervisors and employees after return to work to ensure that	3.12	1.07
	work duties are being performed within restrictions		

_•
7
7
8
.0
\mathbf{c}
7
-
-
-
-

		M	SD
Imp 73	Provide information regarding the services you provide to persons with disabilities and	3.21	.95
	employers		
Imp 74	Provide orientation and training on ADA requirements to ensure implementation and	2.37	1.31
	employer compliance with regulations		
Imp 75	Negotiate with employers and labor union representatives in order to reinstate/hire a	2.58	1.29
	disabled worker		
1mp 76	Apply knowledge of individual assistive devices and ergonomics and how they impact	2.82	1.06
	on job modification		
77 qm1	Recommend and implement modifications to existing jobs or job duties to accomodate	3.19	76.
	worker restrictions		
Imp 78	Develop and use criteria for the selection and evaluation of external service providers	2.48	1.20
97 qm1	Clarify for the disabled worker mutual expectations and the nature of the counseling	2.93	1.13
	relationship		
Imp 80	Counsel disabled workers to help them appreciate and emphasize their personal assets	2.89	1.12

_•
~
ኈ
0
O
=
$\overline{}$
7
4
4
-
4
4

		M	SD
Imp 81	Counsel with disabled workers regarding desirable work behaviors to help them	3.05	1.06
	improve and maintain employability		
Imp 82	Review medical information to determine the disabled worker's functional limitations	3.50	<i>TT</i> :
	and their vocational implications		
Imp 83	Counsel with disabled workers to identify emotional reactions to disability	2.92	1.02
Imp 84	Assist disabled workers in understanding stress and in utilizing mechanisms for coping	2.75	1.03
Imp 85	Apply psychological and social theory to develop strategies for rehabilitation	2.51	1.12
	intervention		
Imp 86	Counsel with a disabled worker's family to provide information and support positive	2.27	1.23
	coping behaviors		
Imp 87	Possess knowledge of the company served, including the jobs performed and the	3.17	.93
	corporate culture		
Imp 88	Conduct a review of the rehabilitation, medical or workers' compensation literature on	2.45	1.22
	a given topic or case problem		
1mp 89	Refer disabled workers to appropriate specialists for special services	3.01	1.11

$\overline{}$
P
•
=
=
0
7
$\mathbf{\mathcal{C}}$
$\overline{}$
. –
-
63
$\underline{\mathbf{z}}$
9
ab

		Z	S
Imp 90	Develop effective strategies for identifying work-related problems and risk factors	2.78	1.26
	which may lead to long-term disability cases		
Imp 91	Utilize a systematic process designed to meet the needs of disabled employees for the	3.19	1.04
	purpose of bringing them back to work		
Imp 92	Interpret the organization's policies and regulations to persons with disabilities and	2.65	1.23
	employers		
Imp 93	Develop cooperative relationships with physicians who serve company employees by	2.92	1.32
	educating them about the company's job and its capabilities to accommodate return to		
	work		
Imp 94	Consult with company supervisors and management regarding accessibility and	2.41	1.29
	affirmative action issues		
Imp 95	Develop and implement return-to-work strategies for employees off work due to illness	3.26	1.12
	or injury		
lmp 96	Identify essential job elements by analyzing job tasks and physical demands	3.20	1.09

Table 7 (Cont'd).

SD

Z

1mp 97	Identify the current costs of disability problems in the company and demonstrate to top	2.66	1.44
	management how costs can be reduced by solving these problems		
86 dunj	Instruct disabled workers in methods of systematic job search activities	2.72	1.37
66 durj	Monitor the disabled worker's progress using goal-attainment or other rating systems	2.63	1.22
Imp 100	Develop mechanisms for labor and management cooperation in disability management	2.26	1.40
Imp 101	Analyze benefit plans to ensure that they support the goals of disability management and	2.39	1.42
	return to work		

- 24. Develop a therapeutic relationship characterized by empathy and positive regard for the disabled worker
- 25. Interview the disabled worker to verify the accuracy of case information.
- 42. Prepare rehabilitation plans with disabled workers that consist of mutually agreed upon interventions and outcomes.
- 43. Identify and comply with ethical and legal implications of client relationships.
- 50. Consult with medical professionals regarding functional capacities, prognosis and treatment plans for workers with injuries or illnesses.
- 82. Review medical information to determine the disabled worker's functional limitations and their vocational implications.

A complete summary of means and standard deviations for the final sample on preparedness is listed in Table 8. For a complete summary of means and standard deviations on importance and preparedness according to professional classification and provider setting see Appendices I and J respectively.

Factor Analysis

In order to allow for parsimonious analysis and interpretation of the data, the 101 items on the DMSI were subjected to factor analysis. All responses from the final sample (N=244) on importance were used for the factor analysis. Respondent's ratings of perceived importance on the 101 knowledge and skill items were used to derive the factor structure which was then imposed on ratings of preparedness. The individual scores of the importance items were first intercorrelated using the product-moment method. The matrix of intercorrelations were factored using common factor analysis. Common factor analysis is aimed at explaining the variance shared by the items and the principal diagonal of the correlation matrix consists of estimates of the variance accounted for by the common factor (Pedhazur & Schmelkin, 1991). Common factor analysis yields more accurate

Table 8

Means and Standard Deviations for the Final Sample on Preparedness

		M	SD
Prep 1	Abide by ethical and legal considerations of case communication and recording	3.10	.93
Prep 2	Write case notes, summaries and reports so that others can understand the case	3.02	96.
Prep 3	Recognize psychological problems requiring consultation for referral	2.66	.94
Prep 4	Interpret to disabled workers their diagnostic information	2.91	1.01
Prep 5	Develop and integrate disability management policy consistent with the Family Medical	1.92	1.17
	Leave Act and the Americans with Disabilities Act		
Prep 6	Assess medical information, job restrictions and job requirements to determine modified	3.12	1.30
	duty to facilitate return to work		
Prep 7	Employ counseling techniques to facilitate the disabled worker's self-exploration	2.86	1.10
Prep 8	Use assessment information to provide disabled workers with insights into personal	2.46	1.12
	dynamics		
Prep 9	Use labor market information to assist the disabled worker in locating and obtaining	2.42	1.38
	suitable employment		

_•
$\overline{}$
ਰ
•
8
=
0
ŭ
_
ح
∞
ble 8 ((

		\mathbf{Z}	SD
Prep 10	Describe Social Security regulations and procedures regarding disability determination	1.39	1.16
	and benefits		
Prep 11	Understand insurance claims processing and professional responsibilities in workers'	2.26	1.34
	compensation and other internal benefit programs		
Prep 12	Prepare and present cases for mediation	1.56	1.40
Prep 13	Coordinate the activities of all parties involved in the return-to-work plan	2.93	1.16
Prep 14	Monitor the medical management of a case to determine if the disabled worker is	2.57	1.12
	receiving appropriate treatment and if treatment is helping in recovery		
Prep 15	Address the psycho-social impact of illness and injury to mitigate barriers to return to	2.72	1.05
	work and to further refer if necessary		
Prep 16	Identify social, economic and environmental forces that may adversely affect a disabled	2.85	1.02
	worker's motivation toward return to work		
Prep 17	Market disability management services to business and industry	1.73	1.33
Prep 18	Review injury and disability data with the company safety personnel to develop	1.77	1.34
	strategies for prevention		

_	۰,
τ	ż
+	٠
٤	Į
C	2
C)
~	•
×)
18 9	

		M	SD
Prep19	Recommend modifications of job tasks to accomodate a disabled worker's functional	2.65	1.11
	limitations		
Prep 20	Analyze the physical work environment, employer recruitment practices and hiring	1.99	1.32
	procedures to determine conformance with ADA requirements		
Prep 21	Develop and manage transitional work programs	1.81	1.32
Prep 22	Develop and maintain a system for program evaluation and documenting outcomes	1.92	1.30
Prep 23	Assess the significance of workers' disabilities in consideration of medical,	2.83	1.02
	psychological, educational and familial status		
Prep 24	Develop a therapeutic relationship characterized by empathy and positive regard for the	3.36	.87
	disabled worker		
Prep 25	Interview the disabled worker to verify the accuracy of case information	3.33	.92
Prep 26	Identify educational and training requirements for specific jobs	2.85	1.20
Prep 27	Match the disabled worker's needs with job reinforcers and their aptitudes with job	2.72	1.19
	requirements		

Table 8 (Cont'd).

		M	SD
Prep 28	Identify transferable work skills by analyzing work history, functional capacities and	2.80	1.23
	limitations		
Prep 29	Provide information in order to assist disabled workers to answer other individuals'	2.60	1.25
	questions about their disabilities		
Prep 30	Use local resources toassist with external job placements	2.52	1.28
Prep 31	Possess knowledge of workers' compensation laws, compensable injuries, and employer	2.59	1.25
	disability benefit systems		
Prep 32	Understand the applications of current legislation affecting the employment of	2.40	1.19
	individuals with disabilities		
Prep 33	Read professional literature	2.72	.92
Prep 34	Monitor the medical management of a case to determine if the disabled worker is	2.45	1.15
	satisfied with treatment		
Prep 35	Assure regular contact with disabled workers who are experiencing lost work time	2.68	1.26
Prep 36	Respond to employer's biases and concerns regarding employing persons with	2.69	1.21
	disabilities		

$\overline{}$
ס
•
Ē
0
C
ς.
<u>ت</u>
○
e

•			
		M	SD
Prep 37	Prepare supervisors and managers to be informed participants in the prevention and	2.35	1.26
	management of disability in the workplace		
Prep 38	Promote ergonomic analysis of tasks and work stations and advocate the use of	2.04	1.28
	ergonomic interventions		
Prep 39	Utilize occupational information materials such as the DOT, OOH and other	2.89	1.21
	publications		
Prep 40	Facilitate the involvement with mental health and substance abuse service providers and	2.41	1.11
	incorporate these services into the return-to-work plan when necessary		
Prep 41	Establish a data gathering and information management system to monitor disability	1.56	1.24
	trends within the employer organization		
Prep 42	Prepare rehabilitation plans with disabled workers that consist of mutually agreed upon	3.05	1.12
	interventions and outcomes		
Prep 43	Identify and comply with ethical and legal implications of client relationships	3.32	.92
Prep 44	Adjust counseling approaches or styles according to the disabled worker's cognitive and	2.98	1.06
	personality characteristics		

_:
$\overline{}$
マ
₹.
a
0
\mathbf{c}
8
0
_
Ē
apl

		M	SD
Prep 45	Document all significant findings specific to the disabled worker which are sufficient for	2.71	1.26
	records and/or legal testimony		
Prep 46	Select evaluation instruments and techniques according to their appropriateness and	2.66	1.25
	usefulness for a disabled worker		
Prep 47	Counsel with disabled workers regarding educational and vocationsl implications of test	2.67	1.38
	and interview information		
Prep 48	Evaluate the disabled worker's social support system	2.82	1.04
Prep 49	Possess knowledge of employer and labor union policies and regulations relating to	2.15	1.13
	safety, disability and return to work		
Prep 50	Consult with medical professionals regarding functional capacities, prognosis and	3.10	86:
	treatment plans for workers with injuries or illnesses		
Prep 51	Identify stereotypic views toward persons with disabilities and provide	2.38	1.16
	education/training to company personnel to eliminate such stereotypes		
Prep 52	Coordinate a team approach to injury management by involving internal company	2.38	1.27
	personnel, union representatives and external service providers		

Table 8 (Cont'd).

		M	SD
Prep 53	Facilitate communication between physicians and disabled workers to assure accurate	2.73	1.14
	information is transpired that facilitates recovery and return to work		
Prep 54	Educate clients regarding their rights under federal and state laws	2.30	1.19
Prep 55	Teach workers how to avoid injury and illness	2.14	1.30
Prep 56	Explain the concepts and strategies of disability management to employers	2.21	1.25
Prep 57	Analyze the task of a job utilizing standare DOL or other methods	2.41	1.40
Prep 58	Facilitate communication and cooperation across departments within the company to	2.39	1.24
	bring employees back to work		
Prep 59	Use company disability data to identify problem areas, causative factors and potentially	1.79	1.35
	costly cases		
Prep 60	Respond to new trends in disability management	1.64	1.31
Prep 61	Compile and interpret case information to maintain a current record	2.99	1.05
Prep 62	Confront disabled workers with observations about inconsistencies between their goals	2.96	1.02
	and their behavior		

Table 8 (Cont'd).

		M	SD
Prep 63	Recommend occupational and/or educational materials for disabled workers to explore	2.73	1.23
	vocational alternatives		
Prep 64	Determine appropriate community services for the disabled worker's stated needs	2.59	1.09
Prep 65	Assist disabled workers in modifying their lifestyles to accomodate functional limitations	2.52	1.09
Prep 66	Assess a disabled worker's ability to perform independent living tasks	2.23	1.25
Prep 67	Possess basic knowledge of organizational behavior, business operations, and	2.31	1.24
	management strategies		
Prep 68	Apply published research results to professional practice	2.24	1.17
Prep 69	State clearly the nature of the disabled worker's problems for referral to outside service	2.93	1.06
	providers		
Prep 70	Apply the principles of disability-related legislation to daily practice	2.34	1.20
Prep 71	Provide an internal case management system that coordinates and monitors activities	2.44	1.33
	with health care providers, insurance carriers and other outside participants		
Prep 72	Provide follow-up to supervisors and employees after return to work to ensure that	2.77	1.21
	work duties are being performed within restrictions		

_:
$\overline{}$
T
Ŧ
0
0
Ü
=
<u>∞</u>
၉
_
5
ૢ૽ૡ

		Z	SD
Prep 73	Provide information regarding the services you provide to persons with disabilities and	2.88	1.09
	employers		
Prep 74	Provide orientation and training on ADA requirements to ensure implementation and	2.06	1.35
	employer compliance with regulations		
Prep 75	Negotiate with employers and labor union representatives in order to reinstate/hire a	1.89	1.28
	disabled worker		
Prep 76	Apply knowledge of individual assistive devices and ergonomics and how they impact	2.15	1.14
	on job modification		
Prep 77	Recommend and implement modifications to existing jobs or job duties to accomodate	2.58	1.10
	worker restrictions		
Prep 78	Develop and use criteria for the selection and evaluation of external service providers	2.12	1.21
Prep 79	Clarify for the disabled worker mutual expectations and the nature of the counseling	2.88	1.12
	relationship		
Prep 80	Counsel disabled workers to help them appreciate and emphasize their personal assets	2.89	1.13

Table 8 (Cont'd).

		M	$\overline{\text{SD}}$
Prep 81	Counsel with disabled workers regarding desirable work behaviors to help them	2.91	1.10
	improve and maintain employability		
Prep 82	Review medical information to determine the disabled worker's functional limitations	3.19	86.
	and their vocational implications		
Prep 83	Counsel with disabled workers to identify emotional reactions to disability	2.84	1.05
Prep 84	Assist disabled workers in understanding stress and in utilizing mechanisms for coping	2.72	1.00
Prep 85	Apply psychological and social theory to develop strategies for rehabilitation	2.55	1.11
	intervention		
Prep 86	Counsel with a disabled worker's family to provide information and support positive	2.43	1.17
	coping behaviors		
Prep 87	Possess knowledge of the company served, including the jobs performed and the	2.49	1.13
	corporate culture		
Prep 88	Conduct a review of the rehabilitation, medical or workers' compensation literature on	2.51	1.18
	a given topic or case problem		
Prep 89	Refer disabled workers to appropriate specialists for special services	2.80	1.07

1.26

1.25

SD

Table 8 (Cont'd).

1.26

1.23

1.23

		M
Prep 90	Develop effective strategies for identifying work-related problems and risk factors	2.24
	which may lead to long-term disability cases	
Prep 91	Utilize a systematic process designed to meet the needs of disabled employees for the	2.58
	purpose of bringing them back to work	
Prep 92	Interpret the organization's policies and regulations to persons with disabilities and	2.18
	employers	
Prep 93	Develop cooperative relationships with physicians who serve company employees by	2.37
	educating them about the company's job and its capabilities to accommodate return to	
	work	
Prep 94	Consult with company supervisors and management regarding accessibility and	1.95
	affirmative action issues	
Prep 95	Develop and implement return-to-work strategies for employees off work due to illness	2.67
	or injury	
Prep 96	Identify essential job elements by analyzing job tasks and physical demands	2.79

\leq	٠
τ	3
7	٠
5	4
C)
Cont	Ó
$\overline{}$	_
×	>
٩	2
7	5
Table	3

SD

Z

Prep 97	Identify the current costs of disability problems in the company and demonstrate to top	1.83	1.32
	management how costs can be reduced by solving these problems		
Prep 98	Instruct disabled workers in methods of systematic job search activities	2.60	1.36
Prep 99	Monitor the disabled worker's progress using goal-attainment or other rating systems	2.31	1.25
Prep 100	Develop mechanisms for labor and management cooperation in disability management	1.56	1.26
Prep 101	Analyze benefit plans to ensure that they support the goals of disability management and	1.63	1.33
	return to work		

estimates of communality and techniques are strongly preferred for most research applications that are attempting to understand a domain of phenomena in terms of a smaller number of underlying, latent variables (Floyd & Widamen, 1995). Based on this rationale, common factor analysis techniques were deemed appropriate and used for this study.

Prior to factor analyzing the DMSI items, participants were randomly assigned into two groups. The first group was used as the derivation sample and the second group served as the cross-validation sample. Factor analyses utilizing the maximum-likelihood method were then computed on the derivation and the cross-validation sample. Initially, an eigenvalue of greater than one was used as the cutoff for the determination of factors. This method yielded 20 factors and most proved to be inconsistent across the crossvalidation and derivation samples. Further analyses and examination of the loadings narrowed the number of desired factors to three. Other numbers of factors were examined, but more than three factors gave inconsistent results across the derivation and cross-validation samples. In addition, after a Varimax rotation, an analysis of the created factors demonstrated three distinct knowledge and skill areas. A re-derivation of a three factor system based on the whole final sample accounted for 46.6% of the total variance. Examination of the items loading highest on each of the three factors suggested that the results were substantively justified. Items loading high on Factor One were characteristic of fundamentals of disability management, items loading high on Factor Two were typical vocational rehabilitation knowledge and skill areas, and items loading high on Factor Three were characteristic of facilitative counseling and advocacy. The stability of the factor structure is not known based on the low respondent to item ratio utilized in the factor analysis. Further, the factor structure may have been compromised by grouping all respondents from various professional classifications into one group to derive the factor

structure. There were approximately two respondents to every DMSI item, the lowest acceptable ratio for factor analysis techniques.

For subsequent data analysis, three subscales were created based on these collections of items. Initially, a factor loading criterion of .40 or higher was used; however, a secondary criterion for DMSI items with overall means of 2.5 or greater and factor loadings of .30 or greater were included into the factor structure so that items rated as highly important would not be omitted. Five items were added using this secondary criterion (Items #1 and 43 were added to Factor Three and Items # 6, 32, and 73 were added to Factor One). Two of these items (#1 and #43) were characteristic of maintaining professional ethical standards with individual clients and were rated as highly important by all provider setting and professional classification groups in the sample. If an item loaded higher than .40 on two or more factors, it was included in the factor with the highest loading. The following seven items did not meet any of these criteria and were deleted from further analyses:

- 2. Write case notes, summaries and reports so that others can understand the case.
- 10. Describe Social Security regulations and procedures regarding disability determination and benefits.
- 12. Prepare and present cases for mediation.
- 33. Read professional literature.
- 68. Apply published research results to professional practice.
- 70. Apply principles of disability related legislation to daily practice.
- 78. Develop and use criteria for the selection and evaluation of external service providers.

Computation of Cronbach's alpha revealed high internal consistency reliability coefficients for the three identified factors. Reliability coefficients were .97 for Importance Factor One, .96 for Importance Factor Two, .94 for Importance Factor Three. Chronbach's alpha was also computed on the three factors using preparedness data.

Reliability coefficients were .98 for Preparedness Factor One, .97 for Preparedness Factor Two, and .94 for Preparedness Factor Three.

Factor One: Fundamentals of Disability Management.

Factor One was labeled Fundamentals of Disability Management. This factor accounted for 30.5% of the total variance and consisted of 44 items. This factor identified employer-based strategies aimed at minimizing work place injury/disability and developing mechanisms for returning injured/disabled workers to the workplace. Using DMSI items loading highest on Factor One, specific competency areas were identified. Examples of specific competency areas describing Fundamentals of Disability Management were as follows: (a) developing, analyzing and using data to identify risks and promote injury and disability prevention; (b) facilitating a team approach and coordinating all parties for return to work; (c) understanding labor union issues regarding disability management and facilitating labor and management cooperation; (d) training and educating supervisors, managers and employees to prepare them for their roles in the disability management process and to facilitate attitudes compatible with a return to work philosophy; (e) developing and managing return-to-work programs and implementing return-to-work solutions; (f) modifying jobs and implementing ergonomic solutions for return to work; (g) consulting regarding disability legal compliance; and (h) developing programs and managing systems for program evaluation. The items and factor loadings for Factor One are listed in Table 9.

Factor Two: Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation.

Factor Two was labeled Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation. This factor accounted for 11.9% of the variance and consisted of 28 items. This factor identified many of the elements characteristic of career counseling, assessment, and job placement as

Table 9

Items in Factor One; Fundamentals of Disability Management

Item #	Item Description:	Load
~	Develop & integrate disability management nolicy consistent with the Family Medical I eave Act & the ADA	%
9	Assess medical information, ich restrictions and ich requirements to determine modified duty to facilitate RTW	37
11	Understand insurance claims processing & professional responsibilities in WC	47
13	Coordinate the activities of all parties involved in the RTW plan	43
17	Market DM services to businesses & organizations	4
18	Review injury and disability data with company safety personnel to dev. prevention strategies	.72
19	Recommend modifications of job tasks to accomodate disabled workers functional limitations	.57
20	Analyze the physical work environment, employer recruitment practices and hiring procedures to determine	99.
	conformance with ADA requirements	
21	Develop and manage transitional work programs	.63
22	Develop and maintain a system for program evaluation and documenting outcomes	99.
31	Possess knowledge of WC laws, compensable injuries, and employer disability benefit systems	.47
32	Understand the applications of current legislation affecting the employment of individuals with disabilities	.33
35	Assure regular contact with disabled workers who are experiencing lost work time	49
36	Respond to employer's biases and concerns regarding employing persons with disabilities	.59
37	Prepare supervisors and managers to be informed participants in the prevention & management of disability in the	.75
	workplace	
38	Promote ergonomic analysis of tasks and work stations and advocate the use of ergonomic interventions	.71
41	Establish a data gathering & information management system to monitor disability trends within the employer	.71
	organization	
49	Possess knowledge of employer and labor union policies and regulations relating to safety, disability and RTW	89 .
51	Identify stereotypic views toward persons with disabilities and provide education/training to company personnel to	.57
	eliminate such stereotypes	

Item #	Item Description:	Load
52	Coordinate a team approach to injury management by involving internal company personnel, union reps & external service providers	.57
55	Teach workers how to avoid injury and illness	.50
26	Explain the concepts and strategies of DM to employers	8 .
28	Facilitate communication and cooperation across departments within the company to bring employees back to work	08 .
59	Use company disability data to identify problem areas, causative factors and potentially costly cases	08 .
9	Respond to new trends in DM	.71
<i>L</i> 9	Possess basic knowledge of organizational behavior, business operations and management strategies	.59
11	Provide an internal case management system that coordinates and monitors activities with health care providers,	4.
	insurance carriers and other outside participants	
72	Provide follow-up to supervisors & employees after RTW to ensure that work duties are being performed within	.53
	restrictions	
73	Provide information regarding the services you provide to persons with disabilities	.38
74	Provide orientation & training on ADA requirements to ensure implementation and employer compliance with	.61
	regulations	
75	Negotiate with employers & labor union reps in order to reinstate/hire a disabled worker	.47
9/	Apply knowledge of individual assistive devices & ergonomics & how they impact on job modification	.54
11	Recommend and implement modifications to existing jobs or job duties to accomodate worker restrictions	.57
87	Possess knowlege of the company served, including the jobs performed & the comporate culture	.55
8	Conduct a review of the rehabilitation, medical, or WC literature on a given topic or case problem	.46
06	Develop effective strategies for identifying work-related problems and risk factors which may lead to long-term	.63
	disability cases	
91	Utilize a systematic process designed to meet the needs of disabled employees for the purpose of bringing them back	.53
	TO WOTK	

Table 9 (Cont'd).

Item #	Item # Item Description:	Load
92	Interpret the organization's policies and regulations to persons with disabilities and employers	.67
93	Develop cooperative relationships with physicians who serve company employees by educating them about the company's jobs and its capabilities to accomodate RTW	.77
8	Consult with company supervisors and management regarding accessibility and affirmative action issues	.70
95	Develop and implement RTW strategies for employees off work due to illness and injury	69.
6	Identify the current costs of disability problems in the company and demonstrate to top management how costs can be	8 .
	reduced by solving these problems	
100	Develop mechanisms for labor & management cooperation in DM	.73
101	Analyze benefit plans to ensure that they support the goals of DM & RTW	.72

they relate to persons with disabilities. Using DMSI items loading highest on Factor Two, specific competency areas were identified. Examples of specific competency areas describing Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation were as follows: (a) identifying transferable work skills and matching workers with jobs; (b) using local resources to assist in job placement; (c) interpreting and counseling workers in consideration of assessment results; (d) conducting job analyses; (e) instructing workers in systematic job search skills; (f) selecting and utilizing appropriate evaluation instruments; and (g) using labor market information to assist with job placement. The items and factor loadings for Factor Two are listed in Table 10.

Factor Three: Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy.

Factor Three was labeled Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy. This factor accounted for 4.1% of the total variance and consisted of 22 items. This factor identified adjustment counseling and advocacy functions that supported disability management efforts. Using DMSI items loading highest on Factor Three, specific competency areas were identified. Examples of specific competency areas describing Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy were as follows: (a) facilitating communication between workers and other parties involved in the return-to-work plan; (b) monitoring the medical management of cases; (c) initiating and coordinating communication between medical providers, other specialists, workers with disabilities, and company personnel; (d) developing a therapeutic relationship; and (e) providing counseling services to workers in order to facilitate timely and appropriate return to employment. The items and factor loadings for Factor Three are listed in Table 11.

Items in FactorTwo: Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation

Item #	Item Description	Load
4	Internret to disabled workers their diagnostic information	84
٠,	Frmlov connecting techniques to facilitate the disabled worker's celf exploration	55
۰۵	I les labor mortes information to accide the disabled works in locating and obtaining mitable amployment	78
٠ (Use labor marker miormation to assist the disabled Worker in locating and obtaining suitable employment	o /:
23	Asses the significance of workers disabilities in consideration of medical, psychological, educational and familial status	4 .
22	Interview the disabled worker to verify the accuracy of case information	4.
5 6	Identify educational and training requirements for specific jobs	.78
27	Match the disabled worker's needs with job reinforcers and their aptitudes with job requirements	62:
28	Identify transferable work skills by analyzing work history, functional capacities and limitations	.83
53	Provide information in order to assist disabled workers to answer other individuals questions about their disabilities	99.
30	Use local resources to assist with external placement	.72
39	Utilize occupational information materials such as the DOT, OOH and other publications	.61
42	Prepare rehabilitation plans with disabled workers that consist of mutually agreed upon interventions and outcomes	9.
45	Document all significant vocational findings specific to the disabled worker which are sufficient for records and/or	%
	legal testimony	
46	Select evaluation instruments and techniques according to their appropriateness and usefulness for a disabled worker	.62
47	Counsel with disabled workers regarding educational and vocational implications of test and interview information	8 .
24	Educate clients regarding their rights under federal and state laws	.42
27	Analyze the tasks of a job utilizing standard DOL or other methods	.51
61	Compile and interpret case information to maintain a current record	.43
62	Confront disabled workers with observations about inconsistencies between their goals and their behavior	.50
63	Recommend occupational and/or educational materials for disabled workers to explore vocational alternatives	.82
49	Determine appropriate community services for the disabled worker's stated needs	.56

$\dot{\sim}$
7
₻
ont
ರ
\mathbf{y}
0
_
able
P
ુવ્ય
Ë

Item #	Item # Item Description	Load
79	Clarify for the disabled worker mutual expectations and the nature of the counseling relationship	.65
80	Counsel disabled workers to help them appreciate and emphasize their personal assets	.74
81	Counsel with disabled workers regarding desirable work behaviors to help them improve and maintain employability	.72
82	Review medical information todetermine the disabled workers functional limitations and their vocational implications	.53
96	Identify essential job elements by analyzing job tasks and physical demands	.43
86	Instruct disabled workers in methods of systematic job search skills	86
66	Monitor the disabled worker's progress using goal-attainment or other rating systems	.62

Table 11

Items in Factor Three: Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy

Item #	Item Description:	Load
-	Abide by ethical and legal considerations of case communication and recording	.34
က	Recognize psychological problems requiring consultation for referral	.58
∞	Use assessment information to provide disabled workers with insights into personal dynamics	.47
14	Monitor the medical management of a case to determine if the disabled worker is receiving appropriate treatment and	.51
	if treatment is helping in recovery	
15	Address the psychosocial impact of illness and injury to mitigate barriers to RTW and to refer for further intervention	.54
	ifnecessary	
16	Identify social, economic and environmental forces that may adversely affect a disabled workers motivation toward	.41
	RTW	
24	Develop a therapeutic relationship characterized by empathy and positive regard for the disabled worker	.49
34	Monitor the medical management of a case to determine if the disabled worker is satisfied with treatment	.63
40	Facilitate involvement with mental health and substance abuse service providers and incorporate these services into the	.50
	RTW plan when necessary	
43	Identify and comply with ethical and legal implications of client relationships	.39
44	Adjust counseling approaches or styles according to the disabled worker's cognitive and personality characteristics	.52
48	Evaluate the disabled worker's social support system	.56
20	Consult with medical professionals regarding functional capacities, prognosis and treatment plans for workers with	.46
	injuries or illnesses	
53	Facilitate communication between physicians and disabled workers to assure accurate information is transpired that	.56
	facilitates recovery and RTW	
65	Assist disabled workers in modifying their lifestyles to accomodate functional limitations	.61
99	Assess a disabled workers ablility to perform independent living activities	.51
69	State clearly the nature of the disabled workers problems for referral to outside service providers	.49

	•
_	٠.
_	_
•	7
•	•
•	_
-	-
E	3
-	7
•	3
•	`
C	
•	•
_	_
-	
_	-
_	7
_	
_	•
_	_
•	2
•	•
_	4
•	
_	
	=
6	Ē
٥	3
2	3
E	3

Item #	Item # Item Description:	Load
83	Counsel with disabled workers to identify emotional reactions to disability	.57
8	Assist disabled workers in understanding stress and utilizing mechanisms for coping	.59
88	Apply psychological and social theory to develop strategies for rehabilitation intervention	.52
98	Counsel with disabled worker's families to provide information and support positive coping behaviors	.64
68	Refer disabled workers to appropriate specialists for special services	09

Perceived importance and preparedness for factors.

Mean scores for the three importance factors demonstrated that, on average, respondent's perceived Fundamentals of Disability Management, Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation, and Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy to be highly important. Respondents, on average, viewed their level of preparedness in the three areas to be in the moderate to high level. Highest ratings of preparedness occurred in Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation and Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy. The lowest reported preparation occurred in Fundamentals of Disability Management. Table 12 shows the three factors for both importance and preparedness, their mean ratings, and reliability. The means and standard deviations on each factor according to provider setting and professional classification are summarized in Tables 13 and 14 respectively.

Differences According to Provider Setting and Professional Classification

To examine the relationship between importance and preparedness on the knowledge and skill areas associated with disability management practice and practitioner's provider setting and professional classification, a two-way multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was conducted. Provider setting (three levels) and professional classification (six levels) were the independent variables and the importance and preparedness scores for the three factors (importance 1-3, preparedness 1-3) were the dependent variables. An alpha level of .05 was used. An initial run of the MANOVA revealed eight standardized residual scores with an absolute value greater than three across the six univariate analyses. A full three of these were attributable to one respondent. Upon further examination it was revealed that this respondent described himself as a business consultant and not a disability management provider. Therefore, he rated almost all of the items as not important. This respondent was deleted from the MANOVA. The final run yielded, with respect to provider setting, a significant Wilks'

Table 12

Factor Analysis Results for the DMSI

Factor	Description	# of Items	W	Reliability
Imp 1	Fundamentals of Disability Management	44	2.82	76.
Imp 2	Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation	28	2.94	96:
Imp 3	Elements of Facilitative Counseling & Advocacy	22	2.93	.94
Prep 1	Fundamentals of Disability Management	44	2.24	86:
Prep 2	Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation	28	2.77	.97
Prep 3	Elements of Facilitative Counseling & Advocacy	22	2.75	.94

Table 13

Means and Standard Deviations on Factor Scores by Provider Setting

	Internal Providers		External Providers		Insurance- Based Providers	
	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>
Imp. Factor 1	2.96	.69	2.76	.77	2.80	.83
Imp. Factor 2	2.63	.81	3.08	.66	2.84	.91
Imp. Factor 3	2.87	.71	2.96	.64	2.87	.71
Prep. Factor 1	2.32	.88	2.20	.84	2.31	.89
Prep. Factor 2	2.54	.88	2.87	.81	2.78	.90
Prep. Factor 3	2.64	.73	2.78	.67	2.80	.65

Table 14

Means and Standard Deviations on Factor Scores by Professional Classification

	Rehabilitation Counselors	cehabilitation Counselors	Business Professionals	ionals	Psychologists & Social Workers	logists cial kers	Nurses	ses	Physical & Occupational Therapists	cal & ational pists	Otl Profes	Other Professionals
	M	SD	Z	SD	Z	SD	Σ	SD	Z	SD	M	$\overline{\text{SD}}$
Imp. Factor 1	2.80	.75	2.74	98.	2.23	.91	3.01	.73	2.89	.75	2.90	.59
Imp. Factor 2	3.20	.57	2.09	.91	3.01	3 .	2.54	98.	2.62	.74	2.34	.81
Imp. Factor 3	2.96	.62	2.40	8 .	3.02	.56	3.08	.67	3.04	.58	2.63	.85
Prep. Factor 1	2.22	.82	2.34	.82	2.03	1.08	2.30	86.	2.28	.97	2.40	71.
Prep. Factor 2	3.14	.57	2.17	66.	2.99	.62	2.01	06:	2.07	08 .	2.18	66.
Prep. Factor 3	2.85	.57	2.26	.93	3.06	9.	2.73	.72	2.57	92.	2.38	.91

Lambda (F(12, 448)=1.89, p<.03). With respect to professional classification, a significant Wilks' Lambda (F(30, 898)=8.53, p<.001) was obtained. No interaction effects were found.

As a follow-up procedure to the MANOVA, six 2-way ANOVA's were computed in order to identify the dependent variables (factor scores) that differed significantly according to provider setting and professional classification (See Tables 15-20). An alpha level of .05 was used in each significance test. Post hoc comparisons were then made to determine which groups were significantly different from others. Tukey's Honestly Significant difference (HSD) method was used with an alpha level of .05. Simple pairwise comparisons revealed a number of significant differences.

With respect to provider setting (internal, external, insurance-based) and the three importance and three preparedness factors, only one significant difference was found. Respondents' ratings on Importance Factor Two (Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation) varied according to their provider setting. Post hoc comparisons revealed that external providers rated knowledge and skill areas associated with Importance Factor Two as more important than internal providers. No other significant differences were found between respondents' provider setting and perceived importance or preparedness on the three factors.

With respect to professional classification (rehabilitation counselors, business professionals, psychologists and social workers, nurses, physical and occupational therapists, others) on importance and preparedness for the three factors, a number of significant differences were found. Respondents' ratings on Importance Factor Two (Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation) varied according to their professional classification. Post hoc comparisons revealed that rehabilitation counselors rated Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation as more important than business professionals, nurses, physical and occupational therapists, and "other" professionals providing disability

Table 15

Two-way Analysis of Variance for Importance Factor 1

Source	₫f	Sum of Squares	F Value	F Prob.
Professional Classification	5	4.771	1.653	.147
Provider Setting	2	1.285	1.113	.330
Error	229	132.192		

Table 16

Two-way Analysis of Variance for Importance Factor 2

Source	<u>df</u>	Sum of Squares	F Value	F Prob.
Professional Classification	5	24.919	11.953	.00*
Provider Setting	2	3.059	3.668	.027*
Error	229	95.482		

Table 17

Two-way Analysis of Variance for Importance Factor 3

Source	<u>df</u>	Sum of Squares	F Value	F Prob.
Professional Classification	5	5.785	2.936	.014*
Provider Setting	2	.386	.490	.613
Error	229	90.252		

Table 18

Two-way Analysis of Variance for Preparedness Factor1

Source	<u>df</u>	Sum of Squares	F Value	<u>F</u> Prob.
Professional Classification	5	1.554	.412	.840
Provider Setting	2	.477	.316	.729
Error *p<.05	229	172.774		

Table 19

Two-way Analysis of Variance for Preparedness Factor 2

Source	<u>df</u>	Sum of Squares	F Value	F Prob.
Professional Classification	5	50.896	21.301	.00*
Provider Setting	2	.067	.070	.933
Error *p<.05	229	109.434		

Table 20

Two-way Analysis of Variance for Preparedness Factor 3

Source	<u>df</u>	Sum of Squares	F Value	<u>F</u> Prob.
Professional Classification	5	6.663	3.206	*800.
Provider Setting	2	.313	.376	.687
Error *p<.05	229	95.176		

management services. Furthermore, psychologists and social workers rated Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation as more important than business professionals. Respondents' ratings of preparedness on knowledge and skill areas associated with Preparedness Factor Two (Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation) varied according to their professional classification. Post hoc comparisons revealed that rehabilitation counselors rated their preparedness in Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation as higher than business professionals, nurses, physical and occupational therapists, and "other" professionals providing disability management services. Furthermore, psychologists and social workers rated their preparedness in Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation as higher than business professionals, physical and occupational therapists, and nurses.

When examining the relationship between professional classification and Importance Factor Three (Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy), significant differences were found. Business professionals rated the importance of Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy as less important than rehabilitation counselors, physical and occupational therapists, and nurses. On Preparedness Factor Three, business professionals rated their preparedness in Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy lower than rehabilitation counselors and psychologists and social workers. No differences were found on knowledge and skill areas associated with Importance Factor One or Preparedness Factor One (Fundamentals of Disability Management).

Chapter V

Discussion

Observations About Disability Management Providers

Respondents from a variety of professional backgrounds comprised the study's final sample. Rehabilitation counselors comprised over 60% of the study's respondents and were the largest professional group represented in the study. Nurses, physical therapists, and occupational therapists were the next largest groups of providers but comprised a much smaller proportion of the sample. Business professionals, psychologists, social workers and professionals with various other backgrounds also reported providing disability management services but were represented in much smaller numbers in the sample. Findings suggest that disability management service providers who responded to the survey represented various professional backgrounds but were predominantly professional rehabilitation counselors. Based on this representation of the rehabilitation counselor's interpretation and perspective of disability management. Findings also provided information on how practitioners from other professional backgrounds viewed the importance of counseling and traditional rehabilitation functions within the context of disability management.

Disability management providers in this investigation were categorized as representing three employment settings. Individuals who work independently or as employees of firms providing services on a contractual or fee for service basis directly to an identified company were classified as external providers/consultants. Individuals who were employed by the identified company and who directly provided or administered disability management services within the company were classified as internal providers. Individuals employed by insurance carriers or third party administrators that insure or

administer the identified company's disability-related policies were classified as insurance-based providers. External disability management providers comprised the largest proportion of the obtained sample with almost three times the number of respondents than internal providers and almost four times the number of insurance-based providers. These findings closely parallel findings from the 1993 pilot study "The Role of the Rehabilitation Counselor in Disability Management" where the number of external providers outnumbered internal and insurance-based providers by approximately three to one. Disability management practitioners in this study more often provided services as consultants employed outside the company. When examining the professional background of respondents from the three provider settings, it was revealed that rehabilitation counselors represented a larger proportion of external providers and insurance-based providers than internal providers. This suggests that rehabilitation counselors providing disability management services for the most part are not employees of companies requesting services but that they must work to achieve the outcomes of employer-based disability management from a position outside of the company.

Disability management providers from this investigation were highly educated; the major portion of the sample had a masters degree or beyond. A masters degree appeared to be the educational level most characteristic of disability management providers who responded to the study as over 65% of the final sample was educated at this level. Over half of these respondents had a degree in rehabilitation counseling. Guidance and counseling was the next most frequently cited masters degree. When disability management providers in the study reported having an associates degree, they were most often nurses. Disability management providers with bachelors degrees were the most diverse group consisting of degrees in nursing, physical therapy, occupational therapy, sociology, psychology, and other areas. Providers with doctorates had most often had degrees in rehabilitation counseling and psychology. Given the focus of this study, and the

nature of competencies listed on the Disability Management Skills Inventory, it is understandable that professionals from a clinical or counseling background might be more likely to respond and comprise the biggest proportion of respondents.

The disability management providers studied demonstrated a high degree of professional commitment and concern for professional standards as was evidenced by their certification status. Over 90% of disability management providers in this study held some type of certification or credentials and many held more than one. This finding should be interpreted with some caution as one of the sources comprising the sampling frame for the study was a certifying commission for rehabilitation counselors. Most commonly reported certifications were Certified Rehabilitation Counselor, Certified Insurance Rehabilitation Specialist, Certified Case Manager, Licensed Physical Therapist, Registered Physical Therapist, Registered Occupational Therapist and Registered Nurse. Many respondents indicated that certification was not required for their job but that they viewed their credentials as advantageous for their current role in disability management. While not a requirement, disability management providers who responded to the survey clearly saw a need to maintain and demonstrate an adherence to standards developed by their respective professional groups. Service providers with credentials and certifications are believed to be highly desired by companies and firms requesting disability management services.

When considering the age and rehabilitation work experience of the disability management providers studied, they appeared to be an experienced group of professionals. The mean age of providers was 43.3 years with almost thirteen years of work experience in the rehabilitation field. These findings may suggest that those practitioners providing disability management services are experienced and not novices to the field of rehabilitation. In summary, it appears that practitioners providing disability management who participated in this study can be described as predominantly external/private providers with backgrounds in rehabilitation counseling. They are most often educated at the

masters level and hold one or more professional certifications. Disability management providers represented in the study also have a substantial amount of rehabilitation work experience.

Importance and Preparedness of Knowledge and Skill Areas Associated with Disability

Management Practice

The 101 knowledge and skill items in the Disability Management Skills Inventory were collapsed into three distinct knowledge and skill domains using common factor analysis procedures. The three factors identified were as follows: (1) Fundamentals of Disability Management; (2) Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation; and (3) Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy. Respondents rated the perceived importance and their level of preparedness of items within each on these knowledge and skill domains. The three knowledge and skill domains which emerged reflected a comprehensive review of the competencies demonstrated by disability management providers within the context of this study. Tate, Habeck, and Galvin (1986) discussed disability management as an organizational strategy that combines clinical approaches with case management and utilizes a multi-disciplinary team approach of rehabilitation and the principles of organizational development. They indicated that these approaches are combined into a comprehensive framework of strategies that are managed within organizations. The three knowledge and skill domains identified by the factor analysis demonstrated the employerbased context of disability management along with the clinical orientation that supports the achievement of goals of the disability management model. The following discussion will address each of the factors individually with respect to both importance and preparedness.

Importance and preparedness in Fundamentals of Disability Management.

Factor One, Fundamentals of Disability Management describes the context in which disability management services are provided and the organization-based interventions utilized to achieve the goals of return to work and disability management. Fundamentals of Disability Management were characterized by organizational strategies aimed at preventing disability risks and bringing injured or disabled employees back to work should injury or disability occur. Factor One clearly demonstrated what Habeck, Leahy, Hunt, Chan, and Welch (1991) described as employer-based initiatives for injury and disability prevention, early intervention, and service coordination for cost effective restoration and return to work.

Specific competencies describing Fundamentals of Disability Management included: (a) developing, analyzing, and using data to identify risks and promote injury and disability prevention; (b) facilitating a team approach and coordinating all parties for return to work; (c) understanding labor union issues regarding disability management and facilitating labor and management cooperation; (d) training and educating supervisors, managers and employees to prepare them for their roles in the disability management process and to facilitate attitudes compatible with a return to work philosophy; (e) developing and managing return-to-work programs and implementing return-to-work solutions; (f) modifying jobs and implementing ergonomic solutions for return to work; (g) consulting regarding disability legal compliance; and (h) developing programs and managing systems for program evaluation.

Overall, the results from the final sample demonstrated that Fundamentals of Disability Management were highly important to achieving effective disability management outcomes. As a group, however, respondents felt only moderately prepared in these fundamentals. An interesting and important finding was revealed when examining the professional background and provider setting of respondents with respect to Fundamentals

of Disability Management. No significant differences were found among respondents from different provider settings and professional classifications regarding their ratings of importance and preparedness. All professionals and provider groups in the final sample agreed, on average, that competencies characterizing Fundamentals of Disability Management were critical to the disability management process. These various professionals and providers also agreed that they are not highly prepared in these knowledge and skill areas. Therefore, the disability management provider's distance from the actual work environment (internal, external/private consultant, insurance-based) or their professional background (rehabilitation counselors, nurses, physical therapists, occupational therapists, etc.) did not significantly affect perceptions of the importance or their individual preparedness in Fundamentals of Disability Management. A critical need is demonstrated here for all professionals providing disability management services and for those entering the disability management field. It would appear that all individuals providing services must be competent in Fundamentals of Disability Management, therefore making it appropriate to consider cross-disciplinary training programs for disability management practitioners in order to bridge this gap between highly important competencies and only moderate levels of preparation.

Importance and preparedness in Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation.

Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation were those career counseling, assessment, and placement competencies which focus on assisting workers with injuries or disabilities to identify and obtain appropriate alternative employment. These initiatives were characteristic of traditional rehabilitation counseling competencies. Specific competencies characterizing Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation were: (a) identifying transferable work skills and matching workers with jobs; (b) using local resources to assist in job placement; (c) interpreting and counseling workers in consideration of assessment

results; (d) conducting job analyses; (e) instructing workers in systematic job search skills; (f) selecting and utilizing appropriate evaluation instruments; and (g) using labor market information to assist with job placement. Overall, the sample of disability management providers felt that Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation were highly important to achieving effective disability management outcomes. Providers as a group also felt highly prepared in these elements. These elements traditionally associated with vocational rehabilitation were seen as critical to facilitating the disability management process and returning injured/disabled workers to productive employment.

However, examining the relationship between respondent's professional classifications and perceived importance of Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation revealed that rehabilitation counselors rated this domain as more important than did business professionals, nurses, physical and occupational therapists, and "other" professionals. Psychologists and social workers also differed significantly from business professionals in their view of the importance of traditional vocational rehabilitation competencies. Psychologists and social workers felt that this knowledge and skill area was highly important while business professionals saw this area as only moderately important. These findings are understandable given the professional orientation of these groups. Rehabilitation counselors, psychologists, and social workers are more likely to receive training and education in elements associated with vocational rehabilitation, such as career counseling and assessment. These professionals are more likely to operate from this framework when providing disability management services and incorporate these elements into their roles as disability management providers. This assumption can be confirmed when looking at the reported preparedness of these groups of professionals. Rehabilitation counselors felt that they were significantly more prepared in Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation than were business professionals, nurses, physical therapists, occupational therapists, and "other" professionals. Psychologists and social workers also

felt that they were significantly more prepared in these elements than did business professionals, physical and occupational therapists, and nurses. These findings suggest that professional orientation plays a substantial role how providers determine what competencies are important to the disability management process and also how they approach disability management service provision.

Examining the providers' work settings and their impact on ratings of Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation revealed that external providers viewed these vocational rehabilitation competencies as more important than internal and insurance-based providers. This finding makes sense given what is known about the nature of services in this provider setting group and its distance from their work environment. Internal and insurance-based providers concentrate efforts on developing the capacities within the company to accommodate workers with disabilities, including modified job development for accommodation (Habeck, Kress, Scully, and Kirchener, 1994). Although external providers concentrate return-to-work efforts through the development of transitional or modified work opportunities for return to work within the original company, they are often contacted after injury or disability occurs to explore vocational alternatives when the worker is not able to return to the prior employer. Habeck, Kress, Scully, and Kirchener (1994) stated that when private, external providers are contracted to provide services after onset, activities of external providers begin to resemble those activities associated more closely with the traditional model of vocational rehabilitation.

As previously discussed, this finding can also be explained in consideration of providers' professional backgrounds. External providers in this study had the highest proportion of rehabilitation counselors. It would make sense that they viewed Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation as more critical to the disability management process than other practitioners. However, no significant differences were found regarding the level of preparedness providers from the three work settings reported in Elements of Vocational

Rehabilitation. It would appear that, as a group, all respondents in the study felt adequately prepared to provide Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation. While external providers viewed the competency areas associated with Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation as more important than providers from the other work settings, it would appear that, on average, all respondents in the study feel adequately prepared in these areas. Respondents representing internal and insurance-based provider settings may possess the necessary competencies in vocational rehabilitation but may not utilize these competencies as frequently in their respective work settings. Respondent's provider setting or distance from the work environment and a reactive or proactive time of intervention may influence how important they view competencies related to vocational rehabilitation to be.

Importance and preparedness in Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy.

Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy were those competencies supporting workers with injuries and disabilities and mitigating barriers to return to work. Specific competencies characterizing Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy were: (a) facilitating communication between workers and other parties involved in the return-to-work plan; (b) monitoring the medical management of cases; (c) initiating and coordinating communication between medical providers, other specialists, workers with disabilities, and company personnel; (d) developing a therapeutic relationship; and (e) providing counseling services to workers in order to facilitate timely and appropriate return to employment. Overall, the sample of disability management providers felt that the competencies involved in Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy were highly important to achieving the outcomes of effective disability management. As a group, respondents recognized the importance of psychosocial factors and the need to address

these factors in order to minimize disability and facilitate return to work. Respondents, as a group, also felt that they were highly prepared in these competency areas.

When examining the professional background of disability management providers, and their perceived importance of Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy, rehabilitation counselors, physical and occupational therapists, and nurses felt that facilitative counseling and advocacy was more important to achieving the outcomes of effective disability management than did business professionals. Business professionals also felt that they were less prepared to provide facilitative counseling and advocacy than did rehabilitation counselors, psychologists, and social workers. This finding suggests that professionals from a counseling, therapy, or medical background were more likely to view these supportive services at the individual case level as critical to the disability management process than those professionals from a business orientation.

When examining provider's work setting, no significant differences were found regarding the importance of Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy. Internal, external, and insurance-based providers all felt that this set of supportive counseling initiatives were highly important to achieving the outcomes of effective disability management. Providers in all three work settings also reported a high level of preparation in these competencies but it is important to recognize the dominance of the rehabilitation counseling perspective when interpreting these findings.

It is important to recognize and acknowledge the dominance of the rehabilitation counseling perspective when considering all of the above mentioned findings. The Disability Management Skills Inventory was developed from the rehabilitation counseling perspective and the sample was predominantly rehabilitation counselors. Generalizations about the transferability of these competency areas to other professional groups providing disability management cannot be made based on these findings. Further, other professional groups providing disability management may deem additional competency

areas as important to the outcomes of disability management. Additional competency areas specific to other professional groups were not included on the Disability Management Skills Inventory.

Limitations

Results from this investigation should be considered within the context of several important limitations. First, the overall response rate for this study (39.4%) is recognized as a limitation. Babbie (1979) recommends response rates of at least 50% for adequate data analysis. Sampling procedures did take into account that survey research typically yields a 40-50% response rate after two mailings and the overall N obtained was adequate for subsequent data analysis procedures. While the overall response rate yielded an adequate number of respondents for data analysis, the final sample did contain substantially more rehabilitation counselors than any other professional group. This was attributable to the sampling frame used which consisted of two groups with a more heterogeneous group of disability management providers and two groups that were almost exclusively comprised of rehabilitation counselors. Based on the number of rehabilitation counselors in the study, one might logically conclude that the field of disability management is comprised of predominantly rehabilitation counselors, however, this cannot be deduced from this study. This investigation made a deliberate attempt to identify rehabilitation counselors providing disability management in order to elucidate and identify the nature of their involvement in this area of practice. It is important to recognize that the sample used for this study may be biased toward an rehabilitation counseling perspective in that all individuals currently comprising the population of disability management providers did not have an equal chance of being selected for inclusion in the study.

Another limitation is recognized in relation to the major categorical variable, provider setting. Four options were specified and respondents' were asked to identify the provider setting that best described their current employment setting. Upon receipt of completed surveys, it was discovered that the four provider setting options were not mutually exclusive and some respondents had difficulty choosing only one setting to best describe their current employment setting. Subsequently, some respondents chose two categories. Re-categorization was conducted when possible from other respondent data but some individuals may have been inaccurately reassigned to a provider category. In addition, the fourth provider category was designed to eliminate those professionals from the study who were not currently providing disability management services. Many respondents specifying this category were supervisors or administrators who closely monitor disability management services but did not consider themselves "providers". These respondents often completed the Disability Management Skills Inventory based on their involvement and knowledge of disability management. When respondents noted close supervisory involvement, efforts were made to include their responses in the analysis, however, some respondent data was lost due to the labeling of this category.

Finally, a limitation is recognized in the number of items comprising the Disability Management Skills Inventory. The large number of items may have contributed to the low response rate. Factor analysis procedures yielded three large knowledge and skill domains representing the 101 items on the DMSI. The level of specificity obtained in the study may have been compromised by condensing such a large number of items into three factors. In addition, had a higher response rate been obtained, a more optimal ratio of respondents to items would have existed and may have provided a more stable factor structure. The stability of the current factor structure is unknown based on the 2:1 respondent to item ratio. Further, rehabilitation counselors and various other professional classification groups were used to derive the current factor solution thus, leaving the

stability of the factor structure unknown for the larger population of disability management providers.

Conclusions

For the purpose of this investigation disability management was defined as a proactive approach in the workplace to reduce economic and human costs associated with disability by preventing disability incidence or remediating its effects and coordinating return-to-work strategies for retaining employees with disabilities in employment (Carruthers, 1993; Habeck, Leahy, Hunt, Chan, & Welch, 1991; Schwartz, Watson, Galvin and Lipoff, 1989). In order to be fully effective, the workplace should be the context of disability management service provision and should be a proactive approach. The goals of disability management are to reduce economic and human costs associated with disability, reduce disability incidence, and maintain the productivity of injured or disabled employees by coordinating return to work. It can be concluded that from the perspective of this sample, the three general competency areas found to be highly important to achieving the goals of disability management are: Fundamentals of Disability Management, Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation, and Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy.

At the same time, findings demonstrated that, while this group of disability management professionals felt highly prepared in Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation and Elements of Facilitative Counseling, on average, this group reported feeling only moderately prepared in Fundamentals of Disability Management. The competencies associated with the domain of Fundamentals of Disability Management may warrant special attention from educational and training programs that claim to prepare practitioners for disability management practice. The challenge seems to be that a number of different practitioner groups are involved in the provision of disability management

services. Training and education programs specific to these disciplines may be inclined to separately offer curriculums addressing the training needs of disability management providers. However, it may be appropriate to consider cross-disciplinary training programs that would prepare all disability management providers, regardless of their professional background, in the competency areas that characterize Fundamentals of Disability Management.

Respondents' professional classifications accounted for several of the differences found among the ratings within the sample of importance and preparedness in the competency areas associated with disability management. Professional groups tended to view the importance of the three competency areas (Fundamentals of Disability Management, Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation, Elements of Facilitative Counseling and Advocacy) somewhat differently based on their professional background and orientation. This is understandable given that the nature of their education and their professional identity and affiliation will impact their perspective on the disability management process.

Professional classification groups also reported varying levels of preparedness in the important competency areas. These findings suggest that additional and differential training is needed to prepare professionals to address important competency areas for supporting the goals of disability management. However, some professional groups may be better trained to provide the more specialized and clinical services such as vocational rehabilitation and facilitative counseling. For example, rehabilitation counselors, psychologists, and social workers may be better prepared in the competencies of counseling and assessment. Business professionals may be better equipped to handle administrative and program evaluation competencies. Thus, the question arises: should all disability management providers be skilled in all of the knowledge and skill areas or should professionals specialize in components of the process based on their professional

backgrounds? Further, is it critical that the competency areas identified in this study as highly important, be provided by one practitioner? These issues warrant further examination of the study's findings which indicated that as a group, all professional groups found the three competency areas highly important to the disability management process but all did not report being highly prepared in all areas.

The providers' work settings did not yield many differences with regard to respondents' ratings of importance and preparedness on the three competency areas associated with disability management service provision. However, one area of divergence occurred regarding the perceptions between external providers as compared to the other two provider groups regarding the importance of Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation. External providers viewed Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation as more important than their counterparts in internal and insurance-based settings. This may have occurred based on the large number of rehabilitation counselors in this provider category who typically become involved later in the process as providers of individual services. However, clarity needs to be achieved to determine how much weight should be given to Elements of Vocational Rehabilitation in the disability management process given the bias toward rehabilitation counselors in the study's sample. As a group, providers from the three settings felt highly prepared in the competency areas associated with the disability management approach. This finding is positive when looking at educational and training implications as specialized training may not be needed to prepare practitioners for disability management practice within various settings.

Despite its limitations, this investigation marks one of the first attempts to access a sample of disability management providers and to empirically delineate the competencies needed to provide effective disability management services. Although findings from this investigation may not mirror exactly the current state of practice within the larger population of disability management providers, it has many implications for further

defining the field of disability management. The respondents for this study were a group highly committed to disability management and its advancement as a viable professional field. The respondents' commitment to disability management was evidenced by their certification status, educational level, professional affiliations, attendance at disability management conferences, and their participation in the survey. Their perceptions of importance and their level of preparedness may not be indicative of the larger population of disability management providers but may be considered as a standard for practice at this time.

Implications for the Rehabilitation Counseling Profession

The findings from this investigation appear to have several potentially valuable applications for rehabilitation counselors and for the field of disability management. This investigation is just the first step in further defining the rehabilitation counseling perspective on disability management practice. The competency areas found to be important can be a basis for developing standards of practice for rehabilitation counselors in the field of disability management. Currently, no formal standards of practice exist for rehabilitation counselors in disability management. It is possible that services are being marketed to employers as disability management but are not truly employer-based disability management services. Further, rehabilitation counselors may be marketing typical private rehabilitation services as disability management. Findings from this study can be a first step in attempting to address these issues and developing a standard of practice for rehabilitation counselors providing disability management. Findings from this study can also be used for conducting needs assessments of rehabilitation counselor education programs. Habeck (1993) stated that in order for rehabilitation professionals to maintain a valued role as partners in disability management, the profession must examine its current service model. Results from this study can help rehabilitation counselors to

adapt their traditional service model so that it truly meets employer's needs and addresses employer's real disability problems. The findings can serve as a basis for developing job descriptions and writing service proposals that truly address employers needs.

Professionals providing disability management services and those wishing to enter this area of practice can use the derived competency areas as a personal knowledge and skill assessment on which they can evaluate their level of personal attainment.

As public sector employment options for rehabilitation counselors continues to decrease and business and industry struggle to remain profitable in a global economy. employer-based disability management efforts are likely to provide viable employment options for rehabilitation counselors. Rehabilitation counselors will need to demonstrate competencies, not only in traditional vocational rehabilitation and counseling areas, but in the many competencies specific to the disability management work role. Rehabilitation counselor educators will need to analyze their programs to determine if these specific competency areas are or can be adequately addressed in their curriculums. Findings from this study can assist educators in structuring curriculums that will enhance employment options in disability management. It is also important to consider that preparation in the Fundamentals of Disability Management cannot be addressed in pre-service education in the depth needed to provide effective services. Rehabilitation Counselor Education Programs are already crowded and one might question the practicality of adding specialized courses in disability management to the existing curriculum. Educators will need to consider separate tracks or certification programs for rehabilitation counselors wishing to enter the disability management service arena. When considering these issues, it will be critical to review the competency areas identified in this study as Fundamentals of Disability Management and realize that the education and training needs for disability management providers go beyond the traditional preparation of rehabilitation counselors. Competencies in areas such as risk management, ergonomics, health and safety, benefit

and insurance systems, advanced job accommodation, data analysis, program evaluation, conflict resolution, labor union policies, and business operations/management are not typically addressed in rehabilitation counselor education but an in-depth working knowledge is needed for effective disability management service provision.

Respondents in this study had substantial rehabilitation work experience and this may provide a rationale for considering continuing education programs for training disability management service providers. After obtaining other rehabilitation work experience, rehabilitation counselors may wish to enter the disability management service arena and will seek training programs outside of pre-service education programs. The competency areas associated with Fundamentals of Disability Management were identified as highly important and the preparedness levels identified as moderate; this finding can be used to support the need for development of training and education programs aimed at preparing rehabilitation counselors for effective disability management service provision. Findings regarding the similarities and differences in importance and preparedness between professional disciplines can be examined and utilized as a preliminary step for further validating the competencies needed by various professionals. Developing appropriate educational and training models for disability management providers from various backgrounds will require further research and validation in the competencies needed by these professionals. A critical review of findings should be undertaken to determine if cross-disciplinary training programs are realistic or if individual professional groups should be trained within the context and scope of practice of their individual professions.

Implications for further research.

This investigation into the rehabilitation counseling competency areas associated with disability management practice is one of the first attempts to empirically identify competencies with respect to this area of practice. It is hoped that this study will provide

a stimulus for future research with broader implications for the larger population of disability management providers. Certain noted limitations in the present study could be addressed by future research. Rigorous attempts to define the population of disability management providers could yield a sample that is representative of the larger population and could provide valuable information about the many providers involved in disability management practice. A more heterogeneous sample could provide useful information about the current state of disability management practice and provide a better overall picture of the field of disability management. The present study uses self-report measures to infer the importance of disability management competencies and does not link strategies and interventions to actual disability management outcomes. Future studies can address and attempt to link disability management interventions with outcomes and assess competencies based on their known contributions to effective disability management outcomes.

APPENDICES

Disability Management Skills Inventory

You are asked in the enclosed *Disability Management Skills Inventory* to review a series of 105 knowledge and skill statements for their "importance" related to achieving the outcomes of effective disability management in your current employment setting. You are also asked to review these statements for your perceived "preparedness" as a result of your education and training.

Please rate the knowledge and skill statements for both importance and preparedness, using the following five-point scales:

- Scale 1. IMPORTANCE: To what extent are these statements important to achieving the outcomes of effective disability management in your employment setting; how critical are these skill and knowledge statements in achieving the outcomes of effective disability management? Evaluate the "importance" as follows:
 - [0] None: Not at all important
 [1] Little: Minor importance
 [2] Moderate: Fairly important
 [3] High: Substantial importance
 [4] Maximal: Essential, crucial
- Scale 2. PREPAREDNESS: To what degree do you feel prepared in the following skill and knowledge statements as a result of your education and training? Consider each statement in relation to the degree in which you feel prepared as a result of your education or training. Please consider your pre-service, in-service and continuing education. Evaluate your "preparedness" as follows:
 - [0] No preparation
 - [1] Little preparation
 - [2] Moderately prepared
 - [3] Highly prepared
 - [4] Very highly prepared

		I = IMPORTANCE P = PREPAREDNESS [0] None: Not at all important [0] No preparation [1] Little: Minor importance [1] Little preparation [2] Moderate: Fairly important [2] Moderately prepared [3] High: Substantial importance [3] Highly prepared [4] Maximal: Essential, crucial [4] Very highly prepared
I	P	
	_	 Abide by ethical and legal considerations of case communication and recording (e.g. confidentiality)
		2. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case
_	_	 Recognize psychological problems (e.g. depression, suicidal ideation) requiring consultation for referral
		 Interpret to disabled workers their diagnostic information (e.g., tests, vocational and educational records, medical reports)
		Develop and integrate disability management policy consistent with the Family Medical Leave Act and the Americans with Disabilities Act
		 Assess medical information, job restrictions and job requirements to determine modified duty to facilitate return to work
		 Employ counseling techniques (e.g., reflection, interpretation, summarization) to facilitate the disabled worker's self-exploration
_		8. Use assessment information to provide disabled workers with insights into personal dynamics (e.g., denial or distortion)
		Use labor market information to assist the disabled worker in locating and obtaining suitable employment
		10. Describe Social Security regulations and procedures regarding disability determination and benefits
_		 Understand insurance claims processing and professional responsibilities in workers' compensation and other internal benefit programs (e.g., STD, LTD, health/medical benefits)
		12. Prepare and present cases for mediation
		13. Coordinate the activities of all parties involved in the return-to-work plan
		 Monitor the medical management of a case to determine if the disabled worker is receiving appropriate treatment and if treatment is helping in recovery
		2

		I = IMPORTANCE [0] None: Not at all important	P = PREPAREDNESS [0] No preparation
		[1] Little: Minor importance	[1] Little preparation
		[2] Moderate: Fairly important [3] High: Substantial importance	[2] Moderately prepared [3] Highly prepared
		[4] Maximal: Essential, crucial	[4] Very highly prepared
I	P		
			ocial impact of illness and injury to mitigate barriers to refer for further intervention if necessary
_	_		nic and environmental forces that may adversely affect notivation toward return-to-work
		17. Market disability mans	agement services to businesses and organizations
—		18. Review injury and diss develop strategies for	ability data with the company safety personnel to prevention
		 Recommend modificate worker's functional lim 	tions of job tasks to accommodate an disabled nitations
			vork environment, employer recruitment practices and etermine conformance with ADA requirements
		21. Develop and manage t	ransitional work programs
		22. Develop and maintain outcomes	a system for program evaluation and documenting
			e of workers' disabilities in consideration of medical, onal and familial status
		24. Develop a therapeutic regard for the disabled	relationship characterized by empathy and positive worker
		25. Interview the disabled	worker to verify the accuracy of case information
		26. Identify educational an	d training requirements for specific jobs
		27. Match the disabled wo with job requirements	rker's needs with job reinforcers and their aptitudes
_	_	28. Identify transferable w capacities and limitation	ork skills by analyzing work history, functional
	_	29. Provide information in individuals' questions a	order to assist disabled workers to answer other about their disabilities
		30. Use local resources to contacts, colleagues, s	assist with external placement (e.g., employer tate job service)

		I = IMPORTANCE [0] None: Not at all im [1] Little: Minor impo [2] Moderate: Fairly in [3] High: Substantial in [4] Maximal: Essential	ntance [1] Little preparation. sportant [2] Moderately prepared sportance [3] Highly prepared
I	P		
			edge of workers' compensation laws, compensable injuries, disability benefit systems
			e applications of current legislation affecting the employment with disabilities
_	_		onal literature (e.g., health care administration, safety and orkers' compensation, and rehabilitation)
_	_		edical management of a case to determine if the disabled fied with treatment.
_	_	35. Assure regular work time	contact with disabled workers who are experiencing lost
	_	36. Respond to en with disabilitie	aployer's biases and concerns regarding employing persons
		• •	risors and managers to be informed participants in the I management of disability in the workplace
	_	38. Promote ergor of ergonomic i	nomic analysis of tasks and work stations and advocate the use interventions
_	_	39. Utilize occupa other publicati	tional information materials such as the D.O.T., O.O.H. and ons
	_		ivement with mental health and substance abuse service incorporate these services into the return-to-work plan when
			a gathering and information management system to monitor is within the employer organization
	_		litation plans with disabled workers that consist of mutually aterventions and outcomes
	_	43. Identify and corelationships	omply with ethical and legal implications of client
		44. Adjust counse cognitive and	ling approaches or styles according to the disabled worker's personality characteristics
			4

		[0] [1] [2] [3]	IMPORTANCE P = PREPAREDNESS None: Not at all important Little: Minor importance Moderate: Fairly important High: Substantial importance Maximal: Essential, crucial P = PREPAREDNESS [0] No preparation [1] Little preparation [2] Moderately prepared [3] Highly prepared [4] Very highly prepared		
I	P				
		45.	Document all significant vocational findings specific to the disabled worker which are sufficient for records and/or legal testimony		
	_	46.	Select evaluation instruments and techniques according to their appropriateness and usefulness for an disabled worker		
	_	47.	Counsel with disabled workers regarding educational and vocational implications of test and interview information		
	_	48.	Evaluate the disabled worker's social support system (family, friends, and community relationships)		
		49.	Possess knowledge of employer and labor union policies and regulations relating to safety, disability, and return to work		
_		50.	Consult with medical professionals regarding functional capacities, prognosis and treatment plans for workers with injuries or illnesses		
	_	51.	Identify stereotypic views toward persons with disabilities and provide education/training to company personnel to eliminate such stereotypes		
	_	52.	Coordinate a team approach to injury management by involving internal company personnel, union representatives and external service providers		
	_	53.	Facilitate communication between physicians and disabled workers to assure accurate information is transpired that facilitates recovery and return to work		
		54.	Educate clients regarding their rights under federal and state laws		
		55.	Teach workers how to avoid injury and illness		
		56.	Explain the concepts and strategies of disability management to employers		
		57 .	Analyze the tasks of a job utilizing standard D.O.L. or other methods		
_		58.	Facilitate communication and cooperation across departments within the company to bring employees back to work		
		59 .	Use company disability data to identify problem areas, causative factors and potentially costly cases		
		60.	Respond to new trends in disability management (e.g., 24-hour coverage and integration of benefits)		
			5		

		[0] [1] [2] [3]	IMPORTANCE P = PREPAREDNESS None: Not at all important Little: Minor importance Moderate: Fairly important High: Substantial importance Maximal: Essential, crucial	d
I	P			
		61.	Compile and interpret case information to maintain a	current record
		62 .	Confront disabled workers with observations about in their goals and their behavior	nconsistencies between
	_	63.	Recommend occupational and/or educational materia to explore vocational alternatives	ls for disabled workers
_	_	64.	Determine appropriate community services for the dineeds	sabled worker's stated
		65.	Assist disabled workers in modifying their lifestyles to functional limitations	o accommodate
		66 .	Assess an disabled workers' ability to perform indepe	ndent living activities
_		67.	Possess basic knowledge of organizational behavior, and management strategies	business operations,
		68.	Apply published research results to professional pract	tice
		69.	State clearly the nature of the disabled worker's problem outside service providers	lems for referral to
		70 .	Apply the principles of disability-related legislation to	daily practice
	_	71.	Provide an internal case management system that cocactivities with health care providers, insurance carrier participants	
	_	72 .	Provide follow-up to supervisors and employees after ensure that work duties are being performed within re	
	_	73 .	Provide information regarding the services you provide disabilities and employers	de to persons with
	_	74.	Provide orientation and training on ADA requirement implementation and employer compliance with regula	
		75.	Negotiate with employers and labor union representate reinstate/hire a disabled worker	tives in order to
			6	

		[0] [[1] [[2] [[3] [MPORTANCE P = PREPAREDNESS None: Not at all important Little: Minor importance Moderate: Fairly important High: Substantial importance Maximal: Essential, crucial P = PREPAREDNESS [0] No preparation [1] Little preparation [2] Moderately prepared [3] Highly prepared [4] Very highly prepared		
I	P				
_	_	76.	Apply knowledge of individual assistive devices and ergonomics and how they impact on job modification		
	_	77 .	Recommend and implement modifications to existing jobs or job duties to accommodate worker restrictions		
	_	78 .	Develop and use criteria for the selection and evaluation of external service providers		
		79 .	Clarify for the disabled worker mutual expectations and the nature of the counseling relationship		
	_	80.	Counsel disabled workers to help them appreciate and emphasize their personal assets		
		81.	Counsel with disabled workers regarding desirable work behaviors to help them improve and maintain employability		
		82.	Review medical information to determine the disabled worker's functional limitations and their vocational implications		
		83.	Counsel with disabled workers to identify emotional reactions to disability		
		84.	Assist disabled workers in understanding stress and in utilizing mechanisms for coping		
	_	85.	Apply psychological and social theory to develop strategies for rehabilitation intervention		
_		86 .	Counsel with an disabled worker's family to provide information and support positive coping behaviors		
	_	87 .	Possess knowledge of the company served, including the jobs performed and the corporate culture		
		88.	Conduct a review of the rehabilitation, medical or workers' compensation literature on a given topic or case problem		
		89 .	Refer disabled workers to appropriate specialists for special services		
	_	90.	Develop effective strategies for identifying work-related problems and risk factors which may lead to long-term disability cases		
			7		

		[0] [1] [2] [3]	IMPORTANCE P=PREPAREDNESS None: Not at all important [0] No preparation Little: Minor importance [1] Little preparation Moderate: Fairly important [2] Moderately prepared High: Substantial importance [3] Highly prepared Maximal: Essential, crucial [4] Very highly prepared
I	P		
	_	91.	Utilize a systematic process designed to meet the needs of disabled employees for the purpose of bringing them back to work
_	_	92.	Interpret the organization's policies and regulations to persons with disabilities and employers
		93.	Develop cooperative relationships with physicians who serve company employees by educating them about the company's jobs and its capabilities to accommodate return to work
	_	94.	Consult with company supervisors and management regarding accessibility and affirmative action issues
	_	95.	Develop and implement return-to-work strategies for employees off work due to illness or injury
		96 .	Identify essential job elements by analyzing job tasks and physical demands
		97.	Identify the current costs of disability problems in the company and demonstrate to top management how costs can be reduced by solving these problems
		98.	Instruct disabled workers in methods of systematic job search skills
		99.	Monitor the disabled worker's progress using goal-attainment or other rating systems
_	_	100.	Develop mechanisms for labor and management cooperation in disability management
_	·- 	101.	Analyze benefit plans (workers' compensation, short-term disability, long-term disability) to ensure that they support the goals of disability management and return to work)
l			8

APPENDIX B

Demographic Questionnaire
Please respond to the following questions. Your responses will be kept confidential.
IDENTIFYING INFORMATION:
1. Age
2. Gender: Male Female
EMPLOYMENT INFORMATION:
3. Total number of years of paid rehabilitation work experience:
4. Please check the item that best describes your current employment setting when providing disability management services:
A) A company employee who directly provides/administers disability management services in-house (internal provider)
B) An independent, private provider or an employee of a firm that is contracted to develop and/or provide disability management consultation and/or services (external provider)
C) A provider employed by an insurance carrier or third party administrator that provides disability management services (insurance-based provider)
D) A rehabilitation or other professional not currently providing disability management services
If you checked item D above, complete and return this D emographic Q uestionnaire only.
5. Job title:
•

APPENDIX B

E	DUCATION INFOR	MATION:		
7.	Below is an education experience and fill in lists provided.			recent educational d degree codes from the
		Dogree Ma	jor	·
1 = 2 = 3 =	Associates Bachelors Masters Doctorate	Major Codes 1 = Rehabilitation 2 = Voc. Rehabil 3 = Social Work 4 = Nursing 5 = Guidance/Co 6 = Psychology 7 = Occupational 8 = Physical There	itation Related unseling Therapy	9 = Special Education 10 = Sociology 11 = Education 12 = Business 13 = Human Resources 14 = other, please specify
8.	OFESSIONAL IDE Specify/indicate the g	roup of professionals		es your professional
	identity (check one of Rehabilitation		Nume	
	Human Reso	urce Manager	Educator	
	Social Works	ar	Psycholog	
	Occupational Occupational	Therapist	Physical 7	
	Physician Risk Manage	-	Business :	Manager Administrator
	other, please		Descuis /	TANKER BLOT
	, p.s			

APPENDIX B

CRC	NCC
CIRS	CCM
CVE	Liscensed Professional Counselor (LPC)
RN	ARM, CRM
Not Certified _	other, please specify
How desirable are such	credentials in your present job?
not needed	advantageous mandato
OFESSIONAL ACTIV	ITTES:
ated to disability manager	olved in performing the following professional activities ment? Use the following scale to rate your degree of following professional activities:
	·
0 = No involvement in th	
1 = Indirectly involved:	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer t
1 = Indirectly involved:outside providers but2 = Directly involved: re	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer to to not directly perform them esponsible for personally and directly performing and
1 = Indirectly involved: outside providers but	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer to to not directly perform them esponsible for personally and directly performing and
 1 = Indirectly involved: outside providers but 2 = Directly involved: readministering these and administering these 	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer to do not directly perform them esponsible for personally and directly performing and activities
1 = Indirectly involved: outside providers but 2 = Directly involved: re administering these a personal and vocation	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer to do not directly perform them asponsible for personally and directly performing and activities
1 = Indirectly involved: outside providers but 2 = Directly involved: re administering these a personal and vocation job analysis, accomm	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer to do not directly perform them asponsible for personally and directly performing and activities
1 = Indirectly involved: outside providers but 2 = Directly involved: re administering these a personal and vocation job analysis, accomm case management	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer to do not directly perform them esponsible for personally and directly performing and activities anal counseling modation and modification
1 = Indirectly involved: outside providers but 2 = Directly involved: re administering these a personal and vocation job analysis, accommodate management data analysis and pro-	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer to do not directly perform them esponsible for personally and directly performing and activities and counseling modation and modification
1 = Indirectly involved: outside providers but 2 = Directly involved: re administering these a personal and vocation job analysis, accommodate management data analysis and pro-	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer to do not directly perform them esponsible for personally and directly performing and activities and counseling modation and modification
1 = Indirectly involved: outside providers but 2 = Directly involved: re administering these a personal and vocation job analysis, accommon case management data analysis and promedical case management	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer to do not directly perform them esponsible for personally and directly performing and activities and counseling modation and modification
1 = Indirectly involved: outside providers but 2 = Directly involved: re administering these a personal and vocation job analysis, accommon case management data analysis and promedical case management marketing and development	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer to do not directly perform them esponsible for personally and directly performing and activities anal counseling modation and modification for example oping disability management services
1 = Indirectly involved: outside providers but 2 = Directly involved: re administering these a personal and vocation job analysis, accomm case management data analysis and pro medical case manage marketing and developation	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer to do not directly perform them esponsible for personally and directly performing and activities anal counseling modation and modification ogram evaluation ement and monitoring oping disability management services in strategies
1 = Indirectly involved: outside providers but 2 = Directly involved: re administering these a personal and vocation job analysis, accommon case management data analysis and pro- medical case management marketing and development and provention training and education	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer to do not directly perform them esponsible for personally and directly performing and activities anal counseling modation and modification especially are evaluation especially and monitoring oping disability management services in strategies on of company personnel
1 = Indirectly involved: outside providers but 2 = Directly involved: re administering these a personal and vocation job analysis, accommon case management data analysis and promedical case management medical case management arketing and development and provention training and education assessment and trans	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer to do not directly perform them esponsible for personally and directly performing and activities anal counseling modation and modification especially are evaluation ement and monitoring oping disability management services in strategies on of company personnel afterable skills analysis
1 = Indirectly involved: outside providers but 2 = Directly involved: re administering these a personal and vocation job analysis, accommon case management data analysis and promedical case management and development and development and development and training and education assessment and training job placement with a	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer to do not directly perform them esponsible for personally and directly performing and activities anal counseling modation and modification for ement and monitoring coping disability management services in strategies on of company personnel afterable skills analysis a different company
1 = Indirectly involved: outside providers but 2 = Directly involved: re administering these a personal and vocation job analysis, accommon case management data analysis and promedical case management and development and development and development and training and education assessment and training job placement with a management of returning and returning and returning and returning and training and training and training and training and returning and return	coordinate these activities and when appropriate refer to do not directly perform them esponsible for personally and directly performing and activities anal counseling modation and modification for ement and monitoring coping disability management services in strategies on of company personnel afterable skills analysis a different company

The Role Of The Rehabilitation Counselor In Disability Management

This questionnaire asks for information on the roles and functions of rehabilitation counselors who provide disability management services. The questionnaire will take about 20 minutes to complete. Your participation in this study is completely voluntary and your responses will be treated in strict confidence: The identity of participants will be confidential and not revealed in any report of research findings. By completing and returning this questionnaire, you indicate your voluntary agreement to participate.

Please return your completed questionnaire in the enclosed envelope by August 31, 1993, to:

-Susan M. Scully MSU Rehabilitation Counseling Program 335 Erickson Hall East Lansing, MI 48824

If you have any further questions or concerns regarding this study please feel free to contact Susan Scully or Rochelle Habeck (517) 355-1838.

Thank you for your participation.

_	Section	One
	First, some quices	uestions about your role in the provision of disability management serv-
	1. Please of vision of ——A) ——B) ——C) ——D) ——E) ——F)	management services in-house (internal provider) An independent, private consultant/provider or an employee of a consulting firm who provides disability management services (private consultant/provider) A consultant/provider employed by an insurance carrier or third party administrator who provides disability management services (insurance based consultant/provider)
	 If you che job that re A) 	ecked A, B, or C above, please list the key tasks you perform in your relate to disability management.
	C)	
	work relev —A) B) C) D)	ecked A, B, C, or D above, which of the following are included in your vant to disability management (check all that apply): Medical/Group Health Benefits Workers' Compensation Short Term Disability Long Term Disability Other; please specify:

		•	_	
-	201	ion	Tw	
20			J VV	u

This series of items presents a number of skills, knowledges, and tasks that have been identified as being related to disability management. We are interested in finding out which of these you perform in the context of your job and how important they are to your work.

In rating the importance of these items to your job, consider factors such as significance, relevance and amount of time spent on each.

Use the following scale to rate each item:

- 0 Not a part of my job/does not apply
- 1 Under unusual circumstances may be a small part of my job
- 2 A minor part of my job.

other outside participants.

- 3 A substantial part of my job
- 4 A most significant part of my job

			4 - A most significant part of my job
_		1.	Having comprehensive knowledge of workers' compensation laws, compensable injuries, and employer disability benefit systems.
		2.	Being knowledgeable of employer and labor union policies and regulations relating to safety, disability, and return-to-work.
_	_	3.	Having basic knowledge of organizational behavior, business operations, and management strategies.
_		4.	Being knowledgeable of the company served, including the jobs performed and the overall corporate culture.
		5.	Establishing a data gathering and information management systems to monitor disability trends within the employer organization.
_		6.	Using company disability data to identify problem areas, causative factors, and potentially costly cases.
_		7.	Developing other strategies for identifying work-related problems and risk factors which may lead to long-term disability cases.
_		8.	Preparing supervisors and managers to be informed participants in the prevention and management of disability in the workplace.
_		9.	Teaching workers how to avoid injury and illness.

 Providing an internal case management system that coordinates and monitors activities with health care providers, insurance carriers, and

ployees for the purpose of bringing them back to work.

11. Utilizing a systematic process designed to meet the needs of disabled em-

Use the	following scale to rate each item: 0 - Not a part of my job/does not apply 1 - Under unusual circumstances may be a small part of my job 2 - A minor part of my job 3 - A substantial part of my job 4 - A most significant part of my job
12.	Developing and implementing return-to-work strategies for employees off work due to illness or injury.
13.	Coordinating a team approach to injury management by involving internal company personnel, union representatives, and external service providers.
14.	Monitoring the medical management of a case to determine if the injured worker is receiving treatment, if the worker is satisfied with treatment, and whether the treatment is helping in recovery.
15.	Reviewing medical information to determine functional limitations and their vocational implications.
16.	Assessing medical information, job restrictions, and job requirements to determine modified duty to facilitate return-to-work.
17.	Developing a positive working relationship with the injured worker which is characterized by empathy and positive regard.
18.	Analyzing the physical work environment, employer recruitment practices, and hiring procedures to determine conformance with ADA requirements.
19.	Providing orientation and training on ADA requirements to ensure implementation and employer compliance with regulations
20.	Addressing the psycho-social impact of illness and injury to mitigate barriers to return-to-work and referring for further intervention if necessary.
21.	Having knowledge of community resources and utilizing available resources as appropriate.
22.	Facilitating involvement with mental health and substance abuse service providers and incorporating these services into the return-to-work plan when necessary.
23.	Identifying transferable work skills by analyzing work history, functional capacities, and limitations.
24.	Assuring regular contact with injured workers who are experiencing lost work time.

Use the	following scale to rate each item: 0 - Not a part of my job/does not apply 1 - Under unusual circumstances may be a small part of my job 2 - A minor part of my job 3 - A substantial part of my job 4 - A most significant part of my job
25.	Facilitating communication and cooperation across departments within the company to bring employees back to work.
26.	Recommending and implementing modifications to existing jobs or job duties to accommodate worker restrictions.
27.	Identifying essential job elements by analyzing job tasks and physical demands.
28.	Facilitating communication between physicians and injured workers to assure accurate information is transpired that facilitates recovery and return-to-work.
29.	Developing cooperative relationships with physicians who serve company employees by educating them about the company's jobs and its capabilities to accommodate return-to-work.
30.	Developing and using criteria for the selection and evaluation of external service providers.
31.	Providing follow-up to supervisors and employees after return-to-work to ensure that work is being performed within restrictions.
32.	Providing expert vocational testimony
33.	Auditing disability claims to prevent service duplication and ensure cost containment.
34.	Identifying the current costs of disability problems in the company and demonstrating to top management how costs can be reduced by solving these problems.
35.	Developing and maintaining a system for program evaluation and documenting outcomes.

Use	0 - N 1 - L 2 - A 3 - A	g scale to rate each item: Not a part of my job/does not apply Under unusual circumstances may be a small part of my job a minor part of my job a substantial part of my job a most significant part of my job
36.	ability man	other skills or tasks you perform which are critical to your role in disagement that aren't mentioned above? No
	If yes, plea	se list below, then use the scale rate the importance of each item:
	Rating	Skills/Tasks
		a
		b
		C
		d
		e
(If fu	rther space	required, please use space below)
		•

Section Three
The National Leadership Forum on Disability Management (1992), conducted by the Washington Business Group on Health with Michigan State University identified case management as a key component of disability management. However, further refinement of the concept of case management and its value was recommended.
Do you have a role in case management? YesNo If yes, please describe your role:
2. Consider the objectives of case management as practiced in your organization. Please prioritize the objectives according to the importance they have in your case management services. Place 1 next to the most important objective and proceed until all objectives are ranked. Facilitate return-to-work Coordination of services Cost containment Reduction of time in treatment Reduction of service duplication Secure employee involvement in return-to-work plan
Other, Please specify 3. What particular issues or barriers do you face in regard to case management? Please describe:

	_
Section Four	
Before concluding, we would like to learn more about you and your knowledge or sk needs relevant to disability management.	ill
What degrees, licenses, or certifications do you hold relevant to rehabilitation? Please specify:	,
At this point, what are your specific knowledge or skill needs that relate to the provision of disability management services? Please describe:	
3. What is your current job title:	

1	
)	In conclusion, we wish to inquire about your willingness to participate in the second phase of this study. This would involve a telephone interview that will take about 30 minutes. If you are willing to participate, please complete the following information:
	Name
	Name of firm
	Address
	Phone
1111	questionnaire.

APPENDIX D

Means and Standard Deviations of Provider Categories for Survey Items

A.	RATING SCALE:	0 - Not a part of my job, does not apply	A = Internal	je		c	n=11			
•		 Under unusual circumstances may be a small part of my job A minor part of my job 	B = Privat C = Insure	Private ConsultantsInsurance Based	tants ed	cc	n = 27 n = 10			
		3 - A substantial part of my job	A		60 i		S		Total (n = 48)	48)
		4 - A most significant part of my job	8	교	됨	교	티	덣	됨	딣
-	Having compren	 Having comprenhensive knowledge of workers' compensation laws, compensable injuries 	3.73	0.47	3.78	0.51	3.40	0.52	3.64	0.20
-	and employer dis	and employer disability benefit systems.								
%	Being knowledge	2. Being knowledgeable of employer & labor union policies & regulations relating to safety,	3.45	0.69	3.19	0.74	2.90	0.74	3.18	0.28
	disability and return to work.	irn to work.								
က်	Having basic kny	3. Having basic knowledge of organizational behavior, business operations & mgt strategies.	3.27	0.47	3.19	0.74	2.30	0.95	2.92	0.54
₹	Being knowledge	4. Being knowledgeable of the company served, including the jobs performed and the overall	3.82	0.40	3.37	0.56	2.90	1.10	3.38	0.48
	corporate culture.									
Ŗ,	Establishing a da	Establishing a data gathering and information management systems to monitor disability	2.64	0.92	1.81	1.27	1.60	1.07	2.02	0.55
	trends with n the	trends with a the employer organization.								
•	Using company (Using company disability data to identify problem areas, causative factors and potentially	2.73	0.90	1.72	1.30	1.95	1.21	2.13	0.53
	costly cases.									
7.	Developing other	Developing other strategies for identifying work-related problems and risk factors which	2.54	<u>5</u>	1.89	1.34	1.85	1.18	5.09	0.40
	may lead to long	may lead to long-term disability cases.								
æi	Preparing superv	Prepaing supervisors and managers to be informed participants in the prevention and	3.09	0.70	2.48	1.12	1.60	1.07	2.39	0.75
	managenent of	managenent of disability in the workplace.								
တ်	Teaching worker	9. Teaching we kers how to evoid injury and kiness.	2.09	1.38	2.00	1.30	1.20	0.79	1.78	0.49
<u>ō</u>	Providing an inte	Providing an intend case management system that coordinates and monitors activities	2.64	1.03	2.07	1.59	2.80	1.35	2.44	0.32
	with health care	with health care providers, insurance carriers and other outside participants.								
Ξ	Utilizing a system	11. Utilizing a systematic process designed to meet the needs of disabled employees for the	3.00	1.18	3.48	0.89	3.10	1.45	3.19	0.25
	purpose of bring	purpose of bringing them back to work.								
12.		Developing and implementing return-to-work strategies for employees off work due to	3.18	0.98	3.67	0.62	3.70	0.67	3.52	0.28
	Minese and injury.	•								
13.	Coordinating a t	Coordinating a team approach to injury management by involving internal company	3.09	0.94	3.00	0.88	2.80	1.03	2.96	0.15
	personnel, union	personnel, union representatives and external service providers.								
₹	Monitoring the r	14. Monitoring the medical mgt of a case to determine if the injured worker is receiving treat-	2.09	1.14	2.96	1.19	3.00	1.05	2.68	0.51
	ment, if the wo	ment, if the worker is satisfied with treatment & whether the treatment is helping in recovery.								
15.		Reviewing medical information to determine functional limitations & their vocational implications	3.36	1.03	3.48	0.75	3.60	0.52	3.48	0.12
		Assessing medical information, job restrictions and job requirements to determine modified	3.36	0.92	3.33	0.88	3.80	0.42	3.50	0.28
	duty to facilitate	duty to facilitate return-to-work.	•	1	!	1	į		1	1
<u>-</u>	Developing a po	 Developing a positive working relationship with the injured worker which is characterized 	3.18	0.87	3.63	0.79	3.70	0.67	3 20	0.27

APPENDIX D

Means and Standard Deviations of Provider Categories for Survey Items

Ą	RATING SCALE: 0 - Not a part of my job, doss not apply	A = Internal	7		Ë	11			
	e small part of my job	B = Privat C = Insure	Private ConsultantsInsurance Based	tants	ËË	n=27 n=10			
	if my job			60 4		S		Total (n = 48)	= 48)
	4 - A most significant pert of my job	티	pg	Εl	pg g	El	얾	Ei	þ
	by empathy and positive regard.								
18.	3. Analyzing the physical work environment, employer recruitment practices and hiring	2.73	1.01	2.61	1.18	1.80	1.32	2.38	0.51
	procedures to determine conformance with ADA requirements.								
19.). Providing orientation and training on ADA requirements to ensure implementation and	3.00	9.	2.11	1.19	1.22	1.30	2.11	0.89
	employer compliance with regulations.								
%). Addressing the psycho-social impact of illness and injury to mitigate barriers to return-	2.82	0.98	3.22	0.97	3.60	0.52	3.21	0.39
	to-work and referring for further intervention if necessary.								
21.	21. Having knowledge of community resources and utilizing available resources as appropriate.	2.73	0.90	3.48	0.80	3.40	0.70	3.20	0.41
22.	?. Facilitating involvement with mental health and substance abuse service providers and	2.45	0.82	2.11	1.09	2.60	0.70	2.39	0.25
	incorporating these services into the return-to-work plan when necessary.								
23.	3. Identifying transferable work skills by analyzing work history, functional capacities & limitations.	2.73	0.65	3.41	0.97	3.40	0.70	3.18	0.39
24.	l. Assuring regular contact with injured workers who are experiencing lost work time.	2.64	0.92	3.48	0.80	3.60	0.52	3.24	0.52
25.	s. Facilitating communication and cooperation across departments within the company to	3.55	0.52	2.52	1.05	2.80	0.92	2.96	0.53
	bring employees back to work.								
26.). Recommending and implementing modifications to existing jobs or job duties to	3.27	0.79	2.96	1.08	3.30	0.95	3.18	0.19
	accommodate worker restrictions.								
27.	27. Identifying essential job elements by analyzing job tasks and physical demands.	2.73	0.65	2.93	1.17	2.60	1.28	2.75	0.17
28.). Facilitating communication between physicians and injured workers to assure	2.50	0.81	3.00	1.04	3.30	0.67	2.93	0.40
	accurate information is transpired that facilitates recovery and return-to-work.								
29.). Developing coperative relationships with physicians who serve company employees by	2.36	1.03	2.59	0.93	2.75	1.14	2.57	0.20
	educating them about the company's jobs and its capabilities to accommodate return-to- work.								
30.). Developing and using criteria for the selection and evaluation of external service providers.	1.73	0.65	1.44	1.28	2.50	0.94	1.89	0.55
3	31. Providing :oflow-up to supervisors and employees after return-to-work to ensure that	2.64	0.81	2.85	0.99	2.70	0.95	2.73	0.11
	work is being performed within restrictions.								
32.	. Providing expert vocational testimony.	0.91	0.83	1.81	1.64	1.10	1.10	1.27	0.47
33	33. Auditing disability claims to prevent service duplicatioon and ensure cost containment.	0.82	1.25	96.0	1.34	1.10	1.10	96.0	0.14
34	. Identifying the current costs of disability problems in the company and demonstrating	2.18	1.08	1.48	1.34	1.50	1.27	1.72	0.40
	to top management how costs can be reduced by solving these problems.								
35.	. Developing and maintaining a system for program evaluation and documenting outcomes.	2.09	1.30	2.07	1.41	1.65	1.60	1.94	0.25

APPENDIX E

INSTRUCTIONS REHABILITATION PRACTITIONER SURVEY

You are asked in the enclosed Rehabilitation Skills Inventory to review a variety of 114 professional skills for their relative "importance" in your current job, and also for your present "attainment" of each skill. The type and level of skills needed will vary according to your employment setting and rehabilitation specialization.

Please answer all skill items using these five-point scales for both "importance" and "attainment":

Scale 1. IMPORTANCE: To what extent is this professional skill important for your primary work role, be it counseling, evaluation, or placement, in your current job setting; how critical to your clients' rehabilitation is your use of this skill in your job? Evaluate the "importance" of the skill in your own phase of the rehabilitation process as follows:

[O] None: Not at all important
[1] Little: Minor importance
[2] Moderate: Fairly important
[3] High: Substantial importance
[4] Maximal: Essential; crucial

Scale 2. ATTAINMENT: How would you rate your current proficiency in this professional skill in meeting rehabilitation client service needs; to what extent can you do this independently? Indicate your own level of ability, whether or not it is an important client service in the job you have now. It is essential for you to carefully consider and report accurately your skill "attainment" on this scale for each item:

[O] None: Unable to perform task (no knowledge or skill)

[1] Little: Limited proficiency (training or supervision needed)

[2] Moderate: Fairly proficient (training or supervision helpful)

[3] High: Very proficient (no training or supervision needed)

[4] Maximal: Outstanding (could train and supervise workers)

After you complete the Inventory, please fill in the Demographic Questionnaire, enclosed. All of your answers are confidential.

If possible, answer these items immediately while instructions are well in mind. Use this sheet for easy reference. At your earliest convenience, please return both questionnaires in our self-addressed, stamped envelope.

REHABILITATION SKILLS INVENTORY

	USE A NO. 2 PENCIL ONLY		
	FILL CIRCLES COMPLETELY	SKILL RATINGS:	2 = Mor
	• ERASE CHANGES CLEANLY	0 = None 1 = Little	3 = Higt 4 = Max
	RETURN IN ENVELOPE PROVIDED	IMPORTANCE	ATTAI
$\overline{1}$	Assess the significance of clients' disabilities in consideration of	INFORTANCE	1
"	medical, psychological, educational and familial status	00000	000
2	Interview the client to verify accuracy of case information.		000
	Evaluate the client's social support system (family, friends		
1	and community relationships)	00000	900
4.	Determine appropriate community services for clients' stated needs		000
5.	Determine a client's ability to perform independent living activities		@ 00
6.	Identify transferable work skills by analyzing client's work history	1	
i	and functional assets and limitations	00000	100 0
7.	Assess clients' readiness for gainful employment	00000	စ္တြင္
8.	Select evaluation instruments and techniques according to their	00000	
_	appropriateness and usefulness for a particular client		<u>@</u> 0
	Design appropriate testing environments		ၜၟၜ
10.	Utilize statistical concepts associated with assessment instruments (mean, percentile, standard score)	00000	00
١,,	Adhere to the American Psychological Association Test Standards and		WU
' "	Restrictions (classes A, B, C)	00000	00
12	Employ newer applications in vocational assessment including computerized techniques.		00
1	Evaluate standardized instruments with respect to validity, reliability,		
	and appropriate norming	00000	00
14	Administer appropriate standardized tests and/or work samples		00
	Interpret test and/or work sample results to clients and others		$\tilde{0}\tilde{0}$
	Identify client work personality characteristics to be observed and rated on an		
	actual job or simulated work situation	00000	00
17.	Utilize measurable terms to systematically describe and record client behavior		00
	Utilize behavior observation scales and techniques (e.g., time sampling,		
]	point sampling)	00000	\odot
19.	Use behavioral observations to make inferences about work personality	1	1
	characteristics and adjustment	00000	© 0
20	Adapt evaluation tools and systems to meet special client needs	00000	00
	Design work situations for observing specific client behaviors.		00
	Develop local norms for assessment instruments and techniques		00
	Integrate assessment data to describe clients' residual capacities for purposes		
	of rehabilitation planning.	00000	© 0
24.	Match client needs with job reinforcers and client aptitudes with job requirements	00000	$\tilde{\odot}\tilde{\odot}$
	Make logical job, work area or adjustment training recommendations based on		1
	comprehensive client information.	00000	00
26.	Develop a therapeutic relationship characterized by empathy and positive		-
l	regard for the client	00000	@ 0
27.	Clarify for clients mutual expectations and the nature of the counseling relationship	00000	\odot
28.	Identify one's own biases and weaknesses which may affect the development	1	1
	of a healthy client relationship.	00000	\odot
\subseteq		<u> </u>	<u></u>

		SKILL RATINGS: 0 = None 1 = Little	2 = Moderate 3 = High 4 = Meximal
		IMPORTANCE	ATTAINME
	Adjust counseling approaches or styles according to client cognitive and personality characteristics	00000	0000
	records, medical reports)	00000	0000
	intervention. Employ counseling techniques (e.g., reflection, interpretation, summerization) to	00000	0000
33.	facilitate client self-exploration	00000	0000
34.	motivation toward rehabilitation	00000	0000
35.	(e.g., denial or distortion)	00000	0000
	Assist clients in terminating counseling in a positive manner, thus enhancing their ability to function independently.	00000	0000
37.	Recognize psychological problems (e.g., depression, suicidal ideation) requiring consultation or referrals.	00000	0000
38.	Counsel with clients to identify emotional reactions to disability		0000
39.	Assist clients in verbalizing specific behavioral goals for personal adjustment	00000	0000
40.	Explore clients' needs for individual, group or family counseling	00000	0000
41.	Assist clients in modifying their lifestyles to accommodate functional limitations Counsel clients to help them appreciate and emphasize their personal assets	00000	0000
	Provide information to help clients answer other individuals' questions about		 0000
70.	their disabilities	00000	0000
44.	Confront clients with observations about inconsistencies between their goals	1	
	and their behavior.	00000	 0000
45.	Use behavioral techniques such as shaping, rehearsal, modeling and contingency management	00000	0000
4 6	Assist clients in understanding stress and in utilizing mechanisms for coping	00000	0000
	Counsel with a client's family to provide information and support positive coping		15566
	behaviors	00000	0000
49. 50.	Counsel with clients using group methods	00000	0000
51.	functional limitations. Counsel with clients regarding educational and vocational implications of test	00000	0000
52	and interview information		0000
	rehabilitation goals	00000	0000
	vocational alternatives.	00000	0000
	Relate clients' stated interests and values to vocational choices	00000	0000
55.	Discuss with clients labor market conditions which may influence the feesibility of	bassal	0000
E#	entering certain occupations.	00000	0000
30 .	Discuss clients' vocational plans when they appear unrealistic	60000	A000

		SKILL RATINGS: 0 = None 1 = Little	2 = Mode 3 = High 4 = Maxir
	•	IMPORTANCE	ATTAIN
	Develop mutually agreeable vocational counseling goals	00000	<u> </u>
	successful job placements. Use supportive counseling techniques to prepare clients for the stress of job	00000	000
60.	hunting. Instruct clients in methods of systematic job search skills	00000 00000	000
	Instruct clients in preparing for the job interview (e.g., job application, attire, interviewing skills.).	00000	000
62.	Counsel with clients regarding desirable work behaviors to help them improve their employability.	00000	000
	Develop acceptable client work behavior through the use of behavioral techniques Conduct group activities and programs such as job clubs, vocational exploration groups	60000	800
 .	or job-seeking skills groups.	00000	000
65.	Monitor clients' post-employment adjustment to determine need for additional services.	00000	000
	Apply labor market information influencing the tasks of locating, obtaining and progressing in employment.	00000	000
67.	Use local resources to assist with placement (e.g., employer contacts, colleagues, state job service).	00000	000
89	Use computerized systems for job placement assistance.		000
	Inform clients of job openings suitable to their needs and abilities.		000
	Identify educational and training requirements for specific jobs	12 2 2 2 1	000
71.	Analyze the tasks of a job, utilizing standard D.O.L. methods		000
	Classify local jobs using D.O.T. and/or other classification systems		000
74	limitations. Apply knowledge of individual assistive devices and how they impact on job	୭୦୦୦୦	000
	modification	00000	000
-9.	other publications.	00000	000
76.	Determine the level of intervention necessary for job placement (e.g., job club, supported work, O.J.T.).	00000	000
77.	Understand the applications of current legislation affecting the employment of disabled individuals.	00000	000
	Respond to employers' biases and concerns regarding hiring persons with disabilities	00000	000
	Negotiate with employers or labor union representatives to reinstate/rehire an injured worker	00000	000
	Provide prospective employers with appropriate information on clients' work skills and abilities.	00000	000
	Provide consultation to employers regarding accessibility and affirmative action issues. Serve as a vocational expert to public agencies, law firms, and/or private	00000	000
	businesses	00000	000
	feasibilityProvide information regarding your organization's programs to current and potential	00000	000
ن د	referral sources	00000	000

86. Describe Social Security regulations and procedures regarding disability determination and benefits. 87. Report to referral sources regarding progress of cases. 88. Monitor client progress using goal-attainment scaling or other rating systems. 89. Collaborate with other providers so that services are coordinated, appropriate and timely. 90. Consult with medical professionals regarding functional capacities, prognosis, and treatment plans for clients. 91. Understand insurance claims processing and professional responsibilities in workers' compensation. 92. Refer clients to appropriate specialists and/or for special services. 93. State clearly the nature of clients' problems for referral to service providers. 94. Select appropriate adjustment alternatives such as rehabilitation centers or educational programs. FOLD HERE ONLY 95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients. 97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case. 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting.	00000 00000 00000 00000 00000	ATTAINMENT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
and benefits 87. Report to referral sources regarding progress of cases 88. Monitor client progress using goal-attainment scaling or other rating systems 89. Collaborate with other providers so that services are coordinated, appropriate and timely 90. Consult with medical professionals regarding functional capacities, prognosis, and treatment plans for clients 91. Understand insurance claims processing and professional responsibilities in workers' compensation 92. Refer clients to appropriate specialists and/or for special services 93. State clearly the nature of clients' problems for referral to service providers 94. Select appropriate adjustment alternatives such as rehabilitation centers or educational programs. FOLD MERE ONLY 95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients 96. Compile and interpret client information to maintain a current case record 97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting.	00000 00000 00000 00000 00000 00000	00000 00000 00000
 87. Report to referral sources regarding progress of cases. 88. Monitor client progress using goal-attainment scaling or other rating systems. 89. Collaborate with other providers so that services are coordinated, appropriate and timely. 90. Consult with medical professionals regarding functional capacities, prognosis, and treatment plans for clients. 91. Understand insurance claims processing and professional responsibilities in workers' compensation. 92. Refer clients to appropriate specialists and/or for special services. 93. State clearly the nature of clients' problems for referral to service providers. 94. Select appropriate adjustment alternatives such as rehabilitation centers or educational programs. FOLD MERE ONLY 95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients. 96. Compile and interpret client information to maintain a current case record. 97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case. 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting. 		00000 00000 00000
 88. Monitor client progress using goal-attainment scaling or other rating systems. 89. Collaborate with other providers so that services are coordinated, appropriate and timely. 90. Consult with medical professionals regarding functional capacities, prognosis, and treatment plans for clients. 91. Understand insurance claims processing and professional responsibilities in workers' compensation. 92. Refer clients to appropriate specialists and/or for special services. 93. State clearly the nature of clients' problems for referral to service providers. 94. Select appropriate adjustment alternatives such as rehabilitation centers or educational programs. FOLD HERE ONLY 95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients. 96. Compile and interpret client information to maintain a current case record. 97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case. 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting. 		90996 90996
 89. Collaborate with other providers so that services are coordinated, appropriate and timely. 90. Consult with medical professionals regarding functional capacities, prognosis, and treatment plans for clients. 91. Understand insurance claims processing and professional responsibilities in workers' compensation. 92. Refer clients to appropriate specialists and/or for special services. 93. State clearly the nature of clients' problems for referral to service providers. 94. Select appropriate adjustment alternatives such as rehabilitation centers or educational programs. FOLD HERE ONLY 95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients. 96. Compile and interpret client information to maintain a current case record. 97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case. 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting. 	00000 00000 00000 00000	0000 0
and timely. 90. Consult with medical professionals regarding functional capacities, prognosis, and treatment plans for clients. 91. Understand insurance claims processing and professional responsibilities in workers' compensation. 92. Refer clients to appropriate specialists and/or for special services. 93. State clearly the nature of clients' problems for referral to service providers. 94. Select appropriate adjustment alternatives such as rehabilitation centers or educational programs. FOLD MERE ONLY 95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients. 96. Compile and interpret client information to maintain a current case record. 97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case. 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting.	00000 00000 00000	00000
90. Consult with medical professionals regarding functional capacities, prognosis, and treatment plans for clients. 91. Understand insurance claims processing and professional responsibilities in workers' compensation. 92. Refer clients to appropriate specialists and/or for special services. 93. State clearly the nature of clients' problems for referral to service providers. 94. Select appropriate adjustment alternatives such as rehabilitation centers or educational programs. FOLD MERE ONLY 95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients. 96. Compile and interpret client information to maintain a current case record. 97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case. 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting.	00000 00000 00000	00000
treatment plans for clients. 91. Understand insurance claims processing and professional responsibilities in workers' compensation. 92. Refer clients to appropriate specialists and/or for special services	00000 00000 00000	
 91. Understand insurance claims processing and professional responsibilities in workers' compensation. 92. Refer clients to appropriate specialists and/or for special services. 93. State clearly the nature of clients' problems for referral to service providers. 94. Select appropriate adjustment alternatives such as rehabilitation centers or educational programs. FOLD HERE ONLY 95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients. 96. Compile and interpret client information to maintain a current case record. 97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case. 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting. 	00000 00000 00000	
workers' compensation. 92. Refer clients to appropriate specialists and/or for special services. 93. State clearly the nature of clients' problems for referral to service providers. 94. Select appropriate adjustment alternatives such as rehabilitation centers or educational programs. FOLD HERE ONLY 95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients 96. Compile and interpret client information to maintain a current case record 97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting.		രെക്ക
92. Refer clients to appropriate specialists and/or for special services. 93. State clearly the nature of clients' problems for referral to service providers. 94. Select appropriate adjustment alternatives such as rehabilitation centers or educational programs. FOLD HERE ONLY 95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients 96. Compile and interpret client information to maintain a current case record 97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting.		~~/ \ '/ \ 6/ \ 4/ \ \
94. Select appropriate adjustment alternatives such as rehabilitation centers or educational programs. FOLD HERE ONLY 95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients		00000
or educational programs. FOLD HERE ONLY 95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients 96. Compile and interpret client information to maintain a current case record 97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting.	00000	00000
FOLD HERE ONLY 95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients 96. Compile and interpret client information to maintain a current case record 97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting.	 00000	
95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients 96. Compile and interpret client information to maintain a current case record 97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting.		00000
95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients		i
95. Explain the services and limitations of various community resources to clients		
96. Compile and interpret client information to maintain a current case record. 97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case. 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting.	1	· I
96. Compile and interpret client information to maintain a current case record. 97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case. 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting.	00000	00000
97. Write case notes, summaries, and reports so that others can understand the case 98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting.		00000
98. Document all significant client vocational findings sufficient for legal testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting.		00000
testimony or records. 99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting.	60000	10000
99. Make sound and timely financial decisions within the context of your work setting.	ഉരള	00000
	00000	 00000
	1	1
for a client's rehabilitation		 00000
101. Market rehabilitation services to businesses and organizations	 00000	 00000
102. Identify and comply with ethical and legal implications of client	boood	booos
relationships.	ഉരളര	୭୦୦୦
103. Abide by ethical and legal considerations of case communication and recording (e.g., confidentiality).	boood	00000
104. Read professional literature related to business, labor markets, medicine	, 	Poode
and rehabilitation.	ഉരമേ	00000
105. Conduct a review of the rehabilitation literature on a given topic or case		
problem.	ഉരള്ള	00000
106. Apply published research results to professional practice		00000
FOLD		1
MERE ONLY		
	boood	60000
107. Apply principles of rehabilitation legislation to daily practice.	ഉരളര	00000
108. Explain the development and philosophical foundations of rehabilitation	00000	00000
to the general public.		00000
109. Educate clients regarding their rights under federal and state laws		00000
111. Participate with advocacy groups to promote rehabilitation programs		00000
112. Promote public awareness and legislative support of rehabilitation programs		00000
113. Identify and challenge stereotypic views toward persons with disabilities		00000
114. Obtain regular client feedback regarding satisfaction with services delivered	1 1	
and suggestions for improvement	<mark> </mark>	 00000
•		

	!
	1
	,
	;
	,

APPENDIX F

Dear Colleague,

I am writing to request your participation in a nationwide study of disability management practitioners to determine the perceived importance of specific knowledge and skill areas to the provision of disability management services, and the degree to which your education and training prepared you in these areas. As you may be aware, one of the goals of disability management is to reduce the human and economic costs associated with injury and disability in the workplace. In order to fully reach this goal and maximize the potential of disability management, it is necessary to obtain information from practitioners who are currently involved in the provision of disability management services.

You have been identified as an individual who may be currently providing disability management services and it is hoped that you will participate in this study. Disability management, for the purpose of this investigation, is a coordinated, comprehensive, employer-based approach to managing disability in the workplace. Furthermore, disability management is a preventive strategy to reduce the economic and human costs associated with disability by reducing disability incidence and coordinating return to work. Please consider this definition in relation to your current work role when assessing your involvement in the provision of disability management services. In order to obtain valid information that documents the nature of disability management practice and delineates the importance of specific knowledge and skills, it is important that you are currently providing disability management services. If you are not currently involved in the provision of disability management services, please indicate this and complete only the demographic questionnaire (do not complete the Disability Management Skills Inventory).

Enclosed you will find a Demographic Questionnaire and a Disability Management Skills Inventory. It is expected that completion of these instruments will take about 30 minutes of your time. Participation is voluntary and you indicate your voluntary agreement to participate by completing and returning the enclosed questionnaires. Your responses will be kept confidential. Please consider participating in this study as your responses are valued and critical to the continued advancement of disability management.

Please complete the enclosed questionnaires and return in the enclosed envelope by July 17, 1995. If you would like additional information or have any questions regarding this investigation, please feel free to contact me at (517) 355-1838.

Thank you in advance for your participation. Sincerely,

Susan M. Scully, Doctoral Student
Rehabilitation Counselor Education, Michigan State University

APPENDIX G

Dear Colleague,

I am writing again to encourage you to participate in a nationwide study of disability management practitioners. The purpose of this study is to determine the perceived importance of specific knowledge and skill areas to the provision of disability management services. You have been identified as an individual who may be currently providing disability management services therefore making your involvement in this research necessary. Without your involvement, advancing the field of disability management will be difficult. I realize that your time is valuable, however, your responses are critical to the outcomes of the study. You may also find it helpful to review a comprehensive list of knowledge and skill areas thought to be associated with disability management.

Disability management, for the purpose of this investigation, is a coordinated, comprehensive, employer-based approach to managing disability in the workplace. Furthermore, disability management is a preventive strategy to reduce the economic and human costs associated with disability by reducing disability incidence and coordinating return to work. Please consider this definition in relation to your current work role when assessing your involvement in the provision of disability management services. In order to obtain valid information that documents the nature of disability management practice and delineates the importance of specific knowledge and skills, it is important that you are currently providing disability management services. If you are not currently involved in the provision of disability management services, please indicate this and complete only the demographic questionnaire (do not complete the Disability Management Skills Inventory).

Enclosed you will find a **Demographic Questionnaire** and a **Disability Management Skills Inventory**. It is expected that completion of these instruments will take about 30 minutes of your time. Participation is voluntary and you indicate your voluntary agreement to participate by completing and returning the enclosed questionnaires. Your responses will be kept confidential. Please consider participating in this study as your responses are valued and critical to the continued advancement of disability management.

To eliminate the cost of future mailings and follow-up, please complete the enclosed questionnaires and return in the enclosed envelope by October 5, 1995. If you would like additional information or have any questions regarding this investigation, please feel free to contact me at (517) 355-1838.

Thank you in advance for your participation. Sincerely,

Susan M. Scully, Doctoral Student Rehabilitation Counselor Education, Michigan State University

APPENDIX H

Dear Colleagues,

Attached are copies of the Disability Management Skills Inventory and Demographic Questionnaire. These questionnaires were developed for use in a nationwide study of disability management practitioners. The purpose of the study is to determine the perceived importance of specific knowledge and skill areas to the provision of disability management services and the degree that practitioner's education and training prepared them in these specific areas. One of the goals of disability management is to reduce the human and economic costs associated with injury and disability in the workplace. To fully reach this goal and maximize the potential of disability management, it is necessary to obtain information from practitioners who are currently involved in the provision of disability management services.

Your participation in this study is critical to advancing the field of disability management and to advancing our role as professionals in the provision of disability management services. You may recall participating in a similar study in 1993 at the Disability Management Conference at Michigan State University. Your responses proved invaluable and have been utilized by CARF to develop standards for disability management programs.

It is expected that completion of these questionnaires will take approximately 30 minutes of your time. Your participation is voluntary and your responses will be kept confidential. Please complete the attached questionnaires, seal them in the envelope provided and place them in the designated box that is located in the Kellogg Center Lincoln Room. If you are unable to complete the survey during the conference, please return it by mail in the envelope provided by July 5, 1995.

As part of a select and active group of professionals, your participation is extremely important to further advance the field of disability management. Thank you in advance for your participation and please feel free to contact me if you have any questions regarding the study.

Thank you,

Susan M. Scully
Doctoral Student, Rehabilitation Counselor Education
Michigan State University

APPENDIX H

Disability Management Conference Participant,

I hope that you found the conference to be interesting and informative. In order to advance the field of disability management it is essential to conduct meaningful research about the knowledge and skills needed to provide effective services. If you have completed your Disability Management Survey at the conference, thank you for your participation. If you have not returned your survey I am requesting that you please complete and mail by July 17, 1995. Returning your survey promptly will eliminate the cost of mailing another set of questionnaires. Thank you.

Susan M. Scully

Michigan State University Rehabilitation Counselor Education 335 Erickson Hall East Lansing, MI 48824

194
APPENDIX I

Means and Standard Deviations for Provider Settings on DMSI Items

	Internal Providers		External Providers		Insurance Based	
					Prov	iders
DMSI Item	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>
Imp 1	3.65	.55	3.63	.65	3.64	.63
Imp 2	3.37	.75	3.56	.63	3.46	.60
Imp 3	2.95	.97	3.06	.85	2.97	1.04
Imp 4	2.84	1.13	3.21	.90	2.77	1.18
Imp 5	2.95	1.12	2.73	1.04	2.56	1.29
Imp 6	3.58	.65	3.63	.75	3.67	.70
Imp 7	2.68	1.06	2.92	.91	2.64	1.22
Imp 8	2.42	1.07	2.52	.99	2.56	1.23
Imp 9	1.95	1.17	2.94	1.15	2.77	1.40
Imp 10	1.70	1.26	1.96	1.17	1.90	1.39
Imp 11	3.25	1.04	2.92	1.04	3.38	.88
Imp 12	1.77	1.28	2.07	1.28	2.05	1.39
Imp 13	3.33	.87	3.59	.73	3.62	.59
Imp 14	3.26	.99	3.03	1.11	2.90	1.21
Imp 15	3.11	.86	3.13	.92	3.26	.85
Imp 16	3.19	.90	3.23	.89	3.31	.83
Imp 17	1.88	1.50	2.79	1.09	2.28	1.45
Imp 18	2.39	1.33	2.37	1.35	2.10	1.45
Imp 19	3.23	.91	3.33	.82	3.26	.97
Imp 20	2.45	1.46	2.41	1.30	1.92	1.38

195

	Internal Providers		External Providers		Insurance Based	
					Providers	
DMSI Item	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>
Imp 21	2.30	1.46	2.29	1.38	2.18	1.71
Imp 22	3.11	1.23	2.53	1.33	2.38	1.37
Imp 23	2.86	1.11	3.11	.87	3.18	.97
Imp 24	3.26	.79	3.27	.92	3.10	.99
Imp 25	3.23	.82	3.49	.85	3.23	1.09
Imp 26	2.61	1.13	3.12	1.00	2.85	1.23
Imp 27	2.69	1.15	2.99	1.11	2.79	1.38
Imp 28	2.66	1.30	3.32	.98	3.23	1.29
Imp 29	2.25	1.26	2.71	1.20	2.79	1.30
Imp 30	2.00	1.41	2.92	1.05	2.67	1.32
Imp 31	3.40	1.01	3.43	.77	3.46	.72
Imp 32	3.20	.97	3.18	.92	3.18	.85
Imp 33	2.98	.97	2.99	.77	2.82	1.00
Imp 34	2.62	1.33	2.70	1.10	2.59	1.23
Imp 35	3.05	1.06	2.88	1.31	3.18	1.14
Imp 36	3.05	1.13	3.07	1.04	3.08	1.13
Imp 37	2.96	1.23	2.85	1.21	2.59	1.46
Imp 38	2.89	1.12	2.86	1.12	2.87	1.17
Imp 39	2.18	1.23	2.99	1.01	2.79	1.38
Imp 40	2.89	1.14	2.45	1.07	2.49	1.23
Imp 41	2.83	1.28	2.06	1.34	2.28	1.52

196

	Internal Providers		External Providers		Insurance Based	
					Providers	
DMSI Item	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>
Imp 42	3.09	1.26	3.45	.84	3.21	1.15
Imp 43	3.58	.76	3.61	.82	3.59	.68
Imp 44	2.98	1.22	3.29	091	3.10	1.05
Imp 45	2.79	1.23	3.19	1.03	2.82	1.35
Imp 46	2.31	1.34	3.03	1.08	2.46	1.45
Imp 47	2.23	1.39	3.07	1.08	2.49	1.54
Imp 48	2.55	1.26	2.91	.95	2.79	.83
Imp 49	3.11	1.05	2.88	.97	2.74	1.19
Imp 50	3.58	.78	3.50	.74	3.56	.79
Imp 51	2.59	1.11	2.53	1.09	2.56	1.33
Imp 52	3.21	1.17	2.86	1.26	2.95	1.30
Imp 53	3.21	.98	3.12	1.11	3.28	1.15
Imp 54	2.58	1.22	2.68	1.03	1.97	1.25
Imp 55	2.61	1.46	2.59	1.30	2.00	1.41
Imp 56	2.89	1.08	2.68	1.20	2.74	1.29
Imp 57	2.16	1.45	2.82	1.20	2.38	1.37
Imp 58	3.42	.89	2.81	1.29	2.97	1.25
Imp 59	2.85	1.22	2.34	1.48	2.64	1.42
Imp 60	2.86	1.09	2.41	1.30	2.90	1.25
Imp 61	3.39	.78	3.20	.82	3.34	.85
Imp 62	3.11	.95	3.24	.91	3.08	1.08

197
APPENDIX I

	Internal Providers		External Providers		Insurance Based	
					Providers	
DMSI Item	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>
Imp 63	2.46	1.16	2.94	1.02	2.47	1.47
Imp 64	2.41	1.33	2.77	1.02	2.76	1.26
Imp 65	2.36	1.30	2.73	1.03	2.34	1.34
Imp 66	1.93	1.46	2.30	1.28	2.08	1.34
Imp 67	2.91	1.02	2.77	1.12	2.68	1.21
Imp 68	2.07	1.15	2.33	1.18	2.00	1.34
Imp 69	2.77	1.33	3.07	.98	3.16	1.05
Imp 70	2.82	1.24	2.84	1.08	3.00	.93
Imp 71	3.30	1.19	2.87	1.34	3.32	.93
Imp 72	3.14	1.09	3.14	1.01	3.03	1.26
Imp 73	3.14	1.01	3.21	.90	3.29	1.04
Imp 74	2.61	1.29	2.32	1.27	2.21	1.47
Imp 75	2.50	1.36	2.60	1.22	2.63	1.44
Imp 76	2.79	1.20	2.85	.98	2.76	1.17
Imp 77	3.18	1.02	3.23	.89	3.08	1.17
Imp 78	2.63	1.18	2.29	1.16	2.97	1.22
Imp 79	2.61	1.29	3.10	1.01	2.76	1.24
Imp 80	2.46	1.26	3.10	.96	2.74	1.31
Imp 81	2.75	1.18	3.20	.93	2.92	1.26
Imp 82	3.40	.75	3.52	.75	3.61	.86
Imp 83	2.80	1.15	3.04	.90	2.66	1.19

	Internal Providers		External Providers		Insurance Based	
					Prov	iders
DMSI Item	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>
Imp 84	2.68	1.18	2.86	.92	2.45	1.16
Imp 85	2.47	1.25	2.55	1.06	2.39	1.20
Imp 86	2.05	1.41	2.43	1.10	1.95	1.35
Imp 87	3.47	.71	3.05	.96	3.16	1.03
Imp 88	2.43	1.32	2.47	1.15	2.39	1.37
Imp 89	3.02	1.22	3.00	1.04	3.05	1.23
Imp 90	3.05	1.11	2.68	1.22	2.79	1.54
Imp 91	3.32	1.01	3.15	1.02	3.15	1.16
Imp 92	3.16	1.03	2.46	1.22	2.59	1.31
Imp 93	3.21	1.12	2.81	1.36	2.95	1.38
Imp 94	2.75	1.30	2.30	1.24	2.28	1.41
Imp 95	3.49	.80	3.14	1.22	3.36	1.11
Imp 96	2.88	1.35	3.33	.94	3.18	1.12
Imp 97	2.98	1.24	2.51	1.47	2.72	1.52
Imp 98	2.23	1.48	2.94	1.22	2.64	1.55
Imp 99	2.40	1.42	2.76	1.07	2.46	1.37
Imp 100	2.45	1.33	2.12	1.37	2.49	1.55
Imp 101	2.77	1.24	2.17	1.45	2.67	1.42
Prep 1	3.25	.79	3.03	.97	3.18	.95
Prep 2	2.95	.99	3.06	.97	2.97	.88
Prep 3	2.49	1.02	2.71	.96	2.71	.73

	Internal Providers		External Providers		Insurance Based	
					Providers	
DMSI Item	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>
Prep 4	2.81	1.22	2.97	.94	2.82	.93
Prep 5	2.04	1.18	1.90	1.13	1.79	1.30
Prep 6	3.14	.95	3.14	1.02	2.97	1.20
Prep 7	2.59	1.19	2.97	1.06	2.87	1.09
Prep 8	2.21	1.24	2.53	1.08	2.58	1.03
Prep 9	1.87	1.25	2.57	1.38	2.70	1.35
Prep 10	.95	1.02	1.55	1.17	1.42	1.18
Prep 11	2.19	1.44	2.19	1.30	2.63	1.32
Prep 12	1.27	1.31	1.59	1.40	1.89	1.48
Prep 13	2.88	1.13	2.98	1.15	2.82	1.25
Prep 14	2.63	1.25	2.49	1.08	2.79	1.02
Prep 15	2.54	1.12	2.77	1.02	2.79	1.04
Prep 16	2.61	1.06	2.90	1.04	3.05	.87
Prep 17	1.39	1.34	1.89	1.31	1.63	1.32
Prep 18	1.84	1.47	1.72	1.27	1.84	1.42
Prep19	2.72	1.11	2.62	1.09	2.68	1.21
Prep 20	1.95	1.43	1.99	1.24	2.05	1.43
Prep 21	1.84	1.32	1.79	1.33	1.87	1.32
Prep 22	1.98	1.36	1.86	1.31	2.05	1.18
Prep 23	2.63	1.08	2.85	1.02	3.08	.88
Prep 24	3.33	.81	3.38	.93	3.34	.75

200 APPENDIX I

	Internal Providers		External Providers		Insurance Based	
					Prov	iders
DMSI Item	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>
Prep 25	3.21	.94	3.37	.93	3.37	.88
Prep 26	2.60	1.24	2.93	1.16	2.89	1.25
Prep 27	2.64	1.20	2.74	1.16	2.79	1.32
Prep 28	2.54	1.36	2.88	1.14	2.92	1.34
Prep 29	2.42	1.24	2.66	1.27	2.66	1.19
Prep 30	2.16	1.38	2.68	1.22	2.45	1.25
Prep 31	2.31	1.39	2.65	1.21	2.74	1.16
Prep 32	2.38	1.28	2.46	1.12	2.24	1.32
Prep 33	2.73	.99	2.76	.89	2.58	.95
Prep 34	2.33	1.28	2.49	1.11	2.45	1.11
Prep 35	2.71	1.21	2.62	1.29	2.87	1.21
Prep 36	2.75	1.34	2.65	1.15	2.79	1.26
Prep 37	2.31	1.41	2.35	1.19	2.39	1.31
Prep 38	2.13	1.32	2.00	1.25	2.08	1.34
Prep 39	2.45	1.34	3.04	1.10	2.97	1.28
Prep 40	2.61	1.20	2.40	1.08	2.16	1.03
Prep 41	1.70	1.40	1.50	1.19	1.55	1.20
Prep 42	2.63	1.35	3.18	1.03	3.16	.95
Prep 43	3.33	.92	3.34	.88	3.24	1.05
Prep 44	2.81	1.14	3.04	1.03	3.00	1.07
Prep 45	2.29	1.36	2.86	1.18	2.74	1.31

	Internal 1	Providers	External 2	Providers	Insurance	e Based
					Prov	iders
DMSI Item	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>
Prep 46	2.28	1.43	2.84	1.14	2.50	1.25
Prep 47	2.27	1.48	2.82	1.31	2.68	1.38
Prep 48	2.54	1.17	2.89	1.02	3.00	.81
Prep 49	2.35	1.26	2.07	1.08	2.18	1.11
Prep 50	2.98	1.06	3.14	.94	3.13	.99
Prep 51	2.45	1.22	2.32	1.17	2.50	1.08
Prep 52	2.54	1.29	2.29	1.28	2.53	1.18
Prep 53	2.72	1.08	2.70	1.15	2.89	1.23
Prep 54	2.14	1.26	2.40	1.16	2.16	1.17
Prep 55	2.23	1.53	2.15	1.26	1.95	1.09
Prep 56	2.40	1.10	2.12	1.29	2.24	1.34
Prep 57	2.09	1.53	2.58	1.35	2.26	1.33
Prep 58	2.56	1.21	2.27	1.27	2.58	1.11
Prep 59	1.84	1.38	1.76	1.34	1.84	1.39
Prep 60	1.71	1.34	1.64	1.31	1.55	1.25
Prep 61	3.14	1.00	2.89	1.07	3.14	1.00
Prep 62	2.91	1.03	3.01	1.02	2.81	1.02
Prep 63	2.48	1.28	2.84	1.20	2.70	1.27
Prep 64	2.29	1.26	2.66	1.02	2.76	1.01
Prep 65	2.34	1.28	2.59	1.02	2.54	1.04
Ртер 66	2.15	1.37	2.26	1.22	2.27	1.19

202 APPENDIX I

	Internal l	Providers	External	Providers	Insurance	e Based
					Prov	iders
DMSI Item	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>
Prep 67	2.32	1.17	2.28	1.27	2.41	1.28
Prep 68	2.16	1.08	2.27	. 1.22	2.24	1.14
Prep 69	2.71	1.20	2.94	1.04	3.24	.86
Prep 70	2.25	1.24	2.38	1.23	2.32	1.06
Prep 71	2.70	1.26	2.20	1.37	2.97	1.09
Prep 72	2.79	1.21	2.75	1.19	2.81	1.29
Prep 73	2.81	1.04	2.87	1.15	3.00	.94
Prep 74	2.30	1.28	2.01	1.33	1.89	1.52
Prep 75	1.93	1.26	1.81	1.23	2.14	1.49
Prep 76	2.18	1.25	2.14	1.11	2.14	1.11
Prep 77	2.60	1.18	2.57	1.07	2.57	1.09
Prep 78	2.27	1.12	1.90	1.22	2.73	1.10
Prep 79	2.63	1.18	3.00	1.08	2.78	1.16
Prep 80	2.68	1.22	2.99	1.08	2.86	1.18
Prep 81	2.73	1.18	3.01	1.03	2.78	1.20
Prep 82	3.11	1.08	3.23	.94	3.19	1.00
Prep 83	2.67	1.07	2.95	1.02	2.68	1.13
Prep 84	2.61	1.04	2.79	.95	2.62	1.11
Prep 85	2.40	1.24	2.60	1.05	2.59	1.17
Prep 86	2.09	1.28	2.53	1.09	2.54	1.26
Prep 87	2.70	1.24	2.40	1.09	2.49	1.10

203
APPENDIX I

	Internal l	Providers	External	Providers	Insurance	e Based
					Prov	iders
DMSI Item	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>	<u>M</u>	<u>SD</u>
Prep 88	2.41	1.26	2.55	1.13	2.51	1.24
Prep 89	2.82	1.09	2.78	1.07	2.84	1.07
Prep 90	2.24	1.32	2.21	1.25	2.35	1.21
Prep 91	2.57	1.23	2.57	1.14	2.66	1.05
Prep 92	2.53	1.27	2.00	1.14	2.32	1.07
Prep 93	2.57	1.19	2.28	1.28	2.39	1.28
Prep 94	2.14	1.21	1.83	1.21	2.08	1.30
Prep 95	2.81	1.23	2.56	1.29	2.87	1.17
Prep 96	2.75	1.34	2.79	1.22	2.84	1.13
Prep 97	2.02	1.24	1.74	1.36	1.89	1.31
Prep 98	2.29	1.38	2.74	1.32	2.53	1.45
Prep 99	2.11	1.40	2.40	1.15	2.24	1.34
Prep 100	1.65	1.19	1.44	1.20	1.87	1.53
Prep 101	1.89	1.32	1.47	1.31	1.84	1.37

APPENDIX J

Means and Standard Deviations for Professional Classification on DMSI Items

	Rehabilitation	itation	Psych. & Social	2 Social	Business	ness	Nurses	ses	Physical &	cal &	Other	ier
	Counselors	elors	Workers	kers	Professionals	ionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Professionals	sionals
	M	S	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD
Imp 1	3.62	09.	3.67	.50	3.41	17.	3.86	.35	3.77	.53	3.46	1.20
Imp 2	3.54	.59	2.89	09:	3.18	1.19	3.46	.	3.73	.55	3.54	.52
Imp 3	3.03	06:	3.78	4.	2.35	1.17	3.21	<i>TT</i> :	3.05	.65	2.85	1.14
Imp 4	3.26	62.	3.67	.50	2.06	1.64	2.69	1.23	3.05	.79	2.54	1.39
Imp 5	2.68	1.13	2.78	.83	2.88	1.11	2.83	1.31	2.91	.97	3.15	69.
Imp 6	3.69	2 .	3.11	.78	3.24	1.15	3.62	89.	3.82	.39	3.46	1.13
Imp 7	3.03	.85	3.56	.73	1.88	1.54	2.76	1.12	2.52	09:	1.92	.95
8 dim1	2.61	1.01	3.44	%	1.88	1.58	2.48	.91	2.45	9.	1.85	6.
6 dun	3.19	68.	2.50	1.07	1.47	1.46	1.90	1.29	1.73	1.32	1.77	1.42
Imp 10	2.03	1.14	2.63	1.51	1.71	1.31	1.62	1.50	1.68	1.25	1.00	.91

APPENDIX J

	Rehabi	Rehabilitation	Psych. &	Psych. & Social	Busi	Business	Nurses	ses	Physi	Physical &	8	Other
	Comi	Counselors	Wor	Workers	Profes	Professionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Profes	Professionals
	M	SD	M	SD	Z	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD
Imp 11	3.09	1.01	2.44	1.13	3.47	1.01	3.28	.92	2.45	1.18	3.38	.87
Imp 12	2.07	1.31	1.25	1.16	2.12	1.17	1.69	1.26	1.95	1.21	2.38	1.61
Imp 13	3.59	99.	3.11	.93	3.24	1.20	3.62	.62	3.50	09:	3.38	1.26
Imp 14	2.99	1.08	2.67	1.00	2.41	1.50	3.59	95	3.45	.74	3.08	1.19
Imp 15	3.14	98.	3.65	.73	2.82	1.29	3.41	89.	3.09	.87	2.77	1.09
Imp 16	3.28	08 .	3.67	.50	2.65	1.46	3.31	68:	3.27	.55	2.92	1.19
Imp 17	2.58	1.23	2.50	1.20	2.12	1.69	2.24	1.53	2.32	1.32	2.62	1.19
Imp 18	2.21	1.30	1.50	1.20	2.47	1.62	2.59	1.45	2.73	1.28	2.85	1.34
Imp 19	3.33	.83	3.00	1.32	3.06	.97	3.31	.85	3.50	09:	3.08	1.19
Imp 20	2.35	1.34	1.50	1.31	2.00	1.50	2.38	1.50	2.73	1.28	2.54	1.27

	Rehabilitation	itation	Psych. (Psych. & Social	Business	ness	Nurses	ses.	Physical &	cal &	Other	<u> </u>
	Counselors	selors	Wor	Workers	Professionals	sionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Professionals	sionals
	M	S	M	SD	M	SD	Z	SD	M	SD	M	SD
mp 21	2.23	1.43	1.50	1.60	2.47	1.46	2.66	1.47	2.27	1.49	2.08	1.66
mp 22	2.56	1.35	2.25	1.49	2.82	1.47	2.62	1.52	3.27	&	2.54	1.13
mp 23	3.24	· 80	3.11	.78	2.47	1.28	2.90	1.26	2.77	.87	2.54	1.05
mp 24	3.24	.85	3.44	1.01	3.00	1.17	3.52	.74	3.18	96.	2.85	1.21
mp 25	3.55	22.	3.33	1.12	2.53	1.42	3.45	69.	2.95	.95	3.23	1.24
mp 26	3.31	.82	3.22	.67	2.41	1.23	2.52	1.21	2.14	1.21	2.00	1.47
mp 27	3.26	8 .	3.44	.53	2.29	1.21	2.18	1.49	2.24	1.30	1.92	1.32
mp 28	3.55	.70	3.44	.73	2.18	1.59	2.39	1.52	2.50	1.19	2.46	1.51
mp 29	2.97	1.06	2.78	1.09	1.71	1.57	2.21	1.45	2.00	86.	1.69	1.32
mp 30	3.07	95	2.50	1.20	1.76	1.35	1.96	1.57	2.14	1.28	1.69	1.38

	Rehabilitation	litation	Psych. & Social	& Social	Business	ness	Nurses	ses.	Physical &	cal &	2	Other
	Counselors	selors	Workers	kers	Professionals	sionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Profes	Professionals
	M	S	M	SD	M	SD	\mathbf{Z}	SD	M	SD	M	SD
Imp 31	3.45	62.	2.67	1.00	3.65	1.00	3.43	.74	3.27	86:	3.77	44.
Imp 32	3.29	.85	2.89	.93	3.06	1.09	3.11	8	2.68	1.17	3.62	.51
Imp 33	2.86	98.	2.89	.78	3.06	1.14	3.18	27.	3.14	.83	3.23	.73
Imp 34	2.62	1.13	1.89	1.36	2.00	1.32	3.29	1.08	2.86	1.04	2.85	1.21
Imp 35	2.99	1.12	2.22	1.72	2.59	1.54	3.50	.92	2.73	1.45	3.00	1.47
Imp 36	3.21	.93	2.89	1.17	2.76	1.39	2.86	1.33	2.77	1.23	3.08	95
Imp 37	2.77	1.26	2.00	1.07	3.00	1.17	3.04	1.40	3.05	1.21	2.92	1.26
Imp 38	2.81	1.14	2.22	.67	2.88	1.05	2.96	1.29	3.23	1.02	3.15	1.07
Imp 39	3.05	. 95	3.11	.78	1.41	1.50	2.50	1.32	2.59	1.10	2.08	1.44
Imp 40	2.50	1.11	3.33	17.	2.635	1.54	3.00	1.00	2.59	96.	2.08	1.12

APPENDIX J

	Rehabilitation	litation	Psych. & Social	& Social	Business	ness	Nurses	ses	Physical &	cal &	8	Other
	Counselors	selors	Workers	kers	Professionals	sionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Profes	Professionals
	M	SD	X	SD	M	S	Z	SD	M	SD	¥	SD
Imp 41	2.25	1.38	1.44	1.42	2.59	1.42	2.46	1.53	2.32	1.32	2.38	1.19
Imp 42	3.58	.74	2.89	1.27	2.71	1.49	2.88	1.40	3.14	68.	2.92	1.26
Imp 43	3.64	99.	3.67	.71	3.18	1.42	3.75	.70	3.59	.59	3.31	1.25
Imp 44	3.37	62.	3.67	.50	2.00	1.71	3.30	1.03	2.73	1.03	3.00	1.22
Imp 45	3.34	68.	2.78	.97	2.24	1.35	2.39	1.59	2.77	1.19	2.62	1.33
Imp 46	2.95	1.10	3.25	.71	2.00	1.50	1.96	1.51	3.05	1.17	2.77	1.36
Imp 47	3.17	66.	3.56	.53	1.65	1.46	1.93	1.54	2.27	1.45	2.00	1.35
Imp 48	2.95	68.	.322	.67	2.06	1.52	2.96	1.07	2.59	1.10	1.92	.76
Imp 49	2.84	76.	2.44	1.24	3.06	1.30	3.31	1.17	2.82	1.05	3.23	4.
Imp 50	3.55	.67	3.44	.73	3.41	1.06	3.62	98.	3.36	99.	3.46	1.13

	Rehabilitation	litation	Psych. & Social	& Social	Business	ness	Nurses	ses.	Physical &	cal &	Other	ıer
	Counselors	selors	Workers	kers	Professionals	ionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Professionals	sionals
	M	SD	¥	SD	M	SD	M	S	M	SD	Σ	SD
Imp 51	2.59	1.08	2.38	1.06	2.24	1.30	2.66	1.42	2.59	1.05	2.38	96.
Imp 52	2.83	1.27	2.13	1.64	3.24	1.30	3.28	1.19	3.36	.79	3.15	1.21
Imp 53	3.13	1.09	2.56	&	3.06	1.39	3.52	.91	3.50	.91	2.92	1.26
Imp 54	2.68	1.00	2.11	1.05	2.53	1.42	2.21	1.40	2.50	1.22	1.92	1.32
Imp 55	2.32	1.29	1.88	66.	2.29	1.72	2.62	1.42	3.91	.29	2.69	1.60
Imp 56	2.61	1.20	2.00	1.00	2.65	1.46	3.17	1.10	3.09	.87	3.38	.87
1mp 57	2.75	1.22	2.11	1.17	1.59	1.58	2.25	1.55	2.90	1.22	2.75	1.22
Imp 58	2.84	1.26	2.67	1.12	3.24	1.35	3.45	1.06	3.18	1.01	3.00	1.22
1mp 59	2.34	1.44	1.75	1.39	2.82	1.29	3.00	1.36	2.95	1.36	2.69	1.38
Imp 60	2.51	1.31	1.67	1.00	2.65	1.32	3.14	1.11	2.59	1.14	3.00	.91

APPENDIX J

	Rehabi	Rehabilitation	Psych. & Social	& Social	Business	ness	Nurses	ses	Physical &	cal &	2	Other
	Count	Counselors	Workers	kers	Professionals	sionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Profes	Professionals
	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	\blacksquare	SD	M	SD	\blacksquare	SD
Imp 61	3.37	.74	2.89	.78	2.94	76.	3.45	.78	2.95	.92	2.92	1.12
Imp 62	3.30	98.	3.00	1.00	2.59	1.12	3.21	1.03	3.24	.83	2.69	1.25
Imp 63	3.13	.92	2.67	1.00	1.82	1.51	2.14	1.33	2.43	1.08	1.69	1.03
Imp 64	2.97	86.	2.44	1.13	1.94	1.34	2.61	1.31	2.24	1.22	1.54	.97
Imp 65	2.66	1.06	2.22	1.20	1.76	1.39	2.54	1.45	3.24	<i>TT</i> :	2.15	1.14
Imp 66	2.00	1.27	1.88	1.36	1.76	1.68	2.43	1.43	3.38	.74	2.38	1.33
Imp 67	2.77	1.11	2.44	.73	2.59	1.33	3.03	1.09	2.71	1.23	3.23	.73
Imp 68	2.14	1.16	1.75	1.28	1.94	1.48	2.36	1.28	2.71	1.06	2.46	1.27
Imp 69	3.12	.94	2.33	1.41	2.18	1.63	3.07	1.09	3.05	1.16	3.17	1.11
Imp 70	2.96	1.05	2.56	1.24	2.69	1.14	2.62	1.27	2.57	1.21	3.38	.51

	Rehabi	Rehabilitation	Psych.	Psych. & Social	Busi	Business	Nurses	Ses	Physi	Physical &	Other	ıer
	Com	Counselors	Woı	Workers	Profes	Professionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Professionals	sionals
	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	X	SD	X	SD
Imp 71	3.00	1.24	1.38	1.19	3.24	.83	3.72	.65	2.86	1.56	3.08	1.61
Imp 72	3.25	76.	2.33	1.41	2.71	1.21	3.34	98.	2.81	1.36	2.77	1.30
Imp 73	3.27	.85	2.67	1.22	3.24	1.09	3.17	1.10	2.90	1.22	3.46	.52
Imp 74	2.34	1.31	1.75	1.39	2.41	1.46	2.62	1.18	2.43	1.43	2.38	1.33
75 gm	2.73	1.14	2.13	1.46	2.18	1.74	2.38	1.57	2.33	1.24	2.38	1.45
76 gm	2.89	66:	2.00	1.32	2.24	1.25	2.75	1.24	3.43	.51	2.62	1.12
77 qm	3.24	<u>∞</u> .	2.44	1.13	2.53	1.37	3.24	1.02	3.71	.46	3.15	1.07
178	2.56	1.13	1.89	1.05	2.35	1.27	2.79	1.37	2.24	1.30	2.00	1.29
62 dwg	3.22	86.	2.78	.97	2.12	1.27	2.43	1.37	2.57	1.08	2.46	1.20
(mp 80	3.24	.92	3.33	.87	1.82	1.19	2.07	1.39	2.71	.78	2.08	1.12

APPENDIX J

	Rehabilita	itation	Psych. & Social	& Social	Business	ness	Nurses	ses.	Physi	Physical &	2	Other
	Counselors	selors	Workers	kers	Profes	Professionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Profes	Professionals
	Z	SD	\mathbf{Z}	SD	M	S	\mathbf{Z}	SD	M	SD	M	S
Imp 81	3.39	92.	3.44	8	2.06	1.30	2.25	1.43	2.86	.91	2.23	1.09
Imp 82	3.65	.63	3.44	.73	2.94	1.14	3.55	.63	3.43	09.	2.69	1.32
Imp 83	3.10	.85	3.33	.87	2.00	1.41	2.74	1.26	2.71	1.10	2.54	76.
Imp 84	2.93	.92	2.89	1.05	1.94	1.34	2.46	1.20	2.76	68.	2.31	1.11
Imp 85	2.63	1.07	2.89	.93	1.82	1.47	2.33	1.21	2.57	1.03	2.00	1.00
Imp 86	2.36	1.12	2.89	1.27	1.59	1.58	2.21	1.40	2.43	1.25	1.62	1.12
Imp 87	3.12	.91	2.56	88 .	3.06	1.43	3.48	.87	3.24	.70	3.54	99.
Imp 88	2.55	1.17	1.25	1.04	2.41	1.18	2.62	1.29	2.19	1.25	2.23	1.42
Imp 89	3.08	1.04	2.56	1.01	2.65	1.41	3.28	1.16	2.76	1.04	2.92	1.4
Imp 90	2.68	1.33	2.38	1.41	2.94	1.14	3.11	1.20	3.14	.91	2.85	1.07

	Rehab	Rehabilitation	Psych.	Psych. & Social	Busi	Business	Nm	Nurses	Physi	Physical &	පි	Other
	Coun	Counselors	Woı	Workers	Profes	Professionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Profes	Professionals
	M	SD	Z	SD	Z	SD	¥	SD	M	SD	M	SD
Imp 91	3.21	86.	2.56	1.24	2.76	1.60	3.32	86.	3.41	.73	3.33	1.15
Imp 92	2.68	1.18	2.22	1.48	2.76	1.48	2.90	1.26	2.32	1.09	2.31	1.38
Imp 93	2.78	1.38	1.88	1.81	3.00	1.12	3.52	.91	3.14	1.04	3.46	1.13
Imp 94	2.45	1.31	2.11	1.36	2.18	1.51	2.62	1.24	2.23	1.19	2.17	1.19
1mp 95	3.22	1.07	2.67	1.58	2.88	1.58	3.59	.87	3.55	96.	3.31	1.25
96 duar	3.32	06:	2.67	1.12	2.35	1.54	2.89	1.52	3.68	48	3.15	1.28
76 dw]	2.54	1.45	1.13	1.55	2.76	1.56	3.07	1.25	2.82	1.37	3.46	.78
86 dw]	3.28	96:	2.67	1.32	1.24	1.15	2.00	1.59	1.77	1.41	1.46	1.39
66 dw]	2.86	1.07	2.00	1.00	2.24	1.64	2.36	1.62	2.77	.75	1.38	1.12
mp 100	2.37	1.36	1.13	1.55	2.06	1.68	2.28	1.44	2.18	1.37	2.08	1.26

APPENDIX J

	Rehabi	Rehabilitation	Psych. &	Psych. & Social	Business	ness	Nurses	ses	Physical &	cal &	8	Other
	Comi	Counselors	Wor	Workers	Professionals	sionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Profes	Professionals
	¥	SD	M	SD	M	S	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD
np 101	2.43	1.41	1.00	1.07	2.65	1.54	2.52	1.53	2.18	1.37	2.62	1.33
rep 1	3.13	.91	3.22	1.20	2.76	.75	3.25	1.00	3.18	08.	2.85	1.21
rep 2	3.19	.91	2.78	1.20	2.82	88 .	2.93	1.12	3.14	66:	2.85	66:
rep 3	2.73	98.	3.89	.33	2.12	1.41	2.75	% :	2.23	.81	2.23	.93
Yep 4	3.09	.82	3.78	4.	1.94	1.48	2.79	1.10	2.73	86.	2.15	1.14
rep 5	1.86	1.19	1.78	1.30	2.12	1.05	1.93	1.39	2.00	1.07	2.15	69:
2 rep 6	3.18	96:	2.89	1.27	2.94	.83	2.96	1.40	3.23	.92	3.00	1.15
rep 7	3.26	.75	3.56	.73	2.29	1.31	2.25	1.14	1.52	1.03	2.23	1.54
rep 8	2.72	.85	3.67	.71	2.00	1.46	2.14	1.04	1.45	1.30	1.69	1.49
rep 9	3.03	95	2.62	1.06	1.88	1.50	1.32	1.31	2 .	.85	1.54	1.71

	Rehabi	Rehabilitation	Psych.	Psych. & Social	Busi	Business	Nm	Nurses	Physical &	cal &	2	Other
	Coun	Counselors	Woı	Workers	Profes	Professionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Profes	Professionals
	M	SD	Z	SD	Z	SD	M	SD	Σ	S	Z	SD
rep 10	1.62	1.15	1.88	1.25	1.47	1.18	62.	66:	.55	.80	.92	98.
⁷ rep 11	2.27	1.34	2.22	1.30	2.88	1.17	2.32	1.54	1.45	1.01	2.62	1.26
rep 12	1.68	1.46	1.25	1.16	2.12	1.11	1.11	1.17	1.09	1.34	1.62	1.50
rep 13	3.01	1.08	2.89	1.27	2.88	1.11	2.89	1.34	2.68	1.43	2.69	1.32
rep 14	2.48	.97	2.22	1.39	2.06	1.25	3.43	1.10	2.91	1.31	2.23	1.17
² rep 15	2.81	68.	3.67	17.	2.18	1.42	2.71	1.24	2.41	1.22	2.38	1.12
⁷ rep 16	2.95	.91	3.11	1.17	2.24	1.25	2.96	1.10	2.57	1.21	2.54	1.20
Yep 17	1.73	1.30	1.75	1.28	1.88	1.65	1.36	1.37	1.86	1.36	2.23	1.09
rep 18	1.58	1.23	1.50	1.41	2.12	1.58	2.00	1.61	2.36	1.29	2.31	1.44
Prep19	2.74	1.05	2.11	1.36	2.41	1.06	2.43	1.32	2.86	1.21	2.54	1.13

APPENDIX J

	Rehabilitation	litation	Psych. &	Psych. & Social	Business	ness	Nurses	Ses	Physical &	cal &	Other	Ē
	Count	Counselors	Wor	Workers	Professionals	sionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Professionals	ionals
	¥	SD	M	SD	M	S	M	S	M	SD	M	SD
Prep 20	2.07	1.27	1.13	1.36	1.82	1.33	1.57	1.48	2.23	1.41	2.31	1.18
Prep 21	1.71	1.23	1.50	1.69	2.24	1.20	2.00	1.47	1.91	1.60	2.00	1.53
Prep 22	1.85	1.28	2.25	1.75	2.00	.94	1.79	1.47	2.36	1.33	2.15	1.21
Prep 23	3.07	%	3.11	.93	2.35	1.17	2.43	1.40	2.45	96.	2.08	1.12
Prep 24	3.41	.85	3.78	4.	3.29	.77	3.46	.79	3.14	66.	2.85	1.28
Prep 25	3.52	.73	3.44	1.01	2.88	66:	3.21	1.07	2.82	1.01	2.85	1.57
Prep 26	3.30	.83	3.67	.50	2.29	1.21	2.14	1.27	1.45	1.18	1.77	1.59
Prep 27	3.20	62.	3.33	.71	2.12	1.32	1.71	1.44	1.57	1.21	1.77	1.17
Prep 28	3.28	.83	2.89	1.36	2.00	1.54	1.67	1.47	2.00	1.20	2.15	1.21
Prep 29	2.92	1.07	2.89	1.05	1.94	1.56	1.89	1.40	2.18	1.18	1.85	1.41

APPENDIX J

	Rehabi	Rehabilitation	Psych.	Psych. & Social	Business	ness	Nm	Nurses	Physi	Physical &	ਠ	Other
	Coun	Counselors	Woı	Workers	Professionals	sionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Professionals	sionals
	M	S	X	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	S	M	SD
Prep 30	3.07	.91	2.62	.92	1.76	1.15	1.22	1.34	1.45	1.14	1.54	1.39
Prep 31	2.61	1.24	2.44	1.24	3.06	76.	2.59	1.47	2.05	1.29	2.85	66.
Prep 32	2.54	1.15	2.11	1.17	2.41	1.18	2.07	1.49	1.82	1.14	2.69	.85
Prep 33	2.72	.87	2.33	1.12	2.88	.93	2.63	1.04	2.82	1.10	2.92	98.
Prep 34	2.39	1.10	2.33	1.50	1.88	1.17	3.04	1.26	2.77	76.	2.31	1.03
Prep 35	2.69	1.22	2.33	1.50	2.65	1.17	3.11	1.28	2.36	1.36	2.46	1.51
Prep 36	2.87	1.07	2.44	1.59	2.41	1.23	2.56	1.37	2.23	1.60	2.38	1.19
Prep 37	2.34	1.17	1.63	1.51	2.41	1.37	2.48	1.37	2.45	1.57	2.46	1.33
Prep 38	1.98	1.27	1.56	88 .	1.94	1.25	2.00	1.39	2.82	1.33	2.15	1.07
Prep 39	3.32	.85	3.33	.71	2.12	1.41	1.89	1.37	2.05	1.43	2.33	1.44

APPENDIX J

	Rehabi	Rehabilitation	Psych.	Psych. & Social	Busi	Business	Nm	Nurses	Physical &	cal &	8	Other
	Comi	Counselors	Woı	Workers	Profes	Professionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Profes	Professionals
	X	SD	Z	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	¥	SD
Prep 40	2.46	1.01	3.22	.83	2.24	1.25	2.58	1.24	2.00	1.23	1.92	1.26
Prep 41	1.52	1.18	1.67	1.41	1.88	1.17	1.52	1.40	1.55	1.47	1.77	1.17
Prep 42	3.38	.92	2.78	1.30	2.35	1.27	2.48	1.29	2.68	.95	2.38	1.39
Prep 43	3.45	.78	3.56	88 .	2.88	1.22	3.07	1.11	3.14	68.	3.23	1.30
Prep 44	3.24	.78	3.89	.33	2.19	1.56	2.58	1.21	2.41	1.18	2.54	1.39
Prep 45	3.08	1.01	2.56	1.24	2.24	1.25	1.78	1.50	2.09	1.51	2.15	1.41
Prep 46	3.06	.97	3.50	.53	2.00	1.37	1.12	1.24	2.27	1.28	2.23	1.17
Prep 47	3.29	.83	3.78	4.	1.71	1.57	1.07	1.24	1.36	1.40	1.69	1.38
Prep 48	3.13	27.	3.56	.53	2.06	1.25	2.74	1.10	1.77	1.34	1.92	1.04
Prep 49	2.10	1.06	1.56	1.33	2.71	1.05	2.46	1.53	1.86	66:	2.46	.78

APPENDIX J

	Rehabi	Rehabilitation	Psych.	Psych. & Social	Business	ness	Z	Nurses	Physi	Physical &	පි	Other
	Comi	Counselors	Woi	Workers	Professionals	sionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Profes	Professionals
	X	SD	Z	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD
² rep 50	3.09	.94	3.00	.71	2.53	1.01	3.43	1.07	3.32	68.	3.15	1.21
Yep 51	2.54	1.08	2.25	1.49	2.00	1.22	2.04	1.43	2.27	1.32	2.15	8 .
² rep 52	2.32	1.25	2.25	1.39	2.71	1.05	2.25	1.60	2.68	1.13	2.77	1.17
² rep 53	2.68	1.11	2.56	1.13	2.65	1.06	3.14	1.18	2.82	1.22	2.69	1.44
Yep 54	2.55	1.03	2.00	1.41	2.53	1.07	1.57	1.40	1.50	1.34	2.15	1.14
² rep 55	1.86	1.15	1.63	1.06	2.00	1.46	2.64	1.42	3.68	.57	2.31	1.49
² rep 56	2.12	1.22	1.56	1.33	2.47	1.18	2.46	1.37	2.27	1.28	2.92	1.04
² rep 57	2.66	1.26	1.78	1.48	1.82	1.59	1.44	1.65	2.67	1.35	2.42	1.24
⁷ rep 58	2.33	1.20	2.33	1.50	2.47	1.23	2.57	1.37	2.55	1.30	2.54	1.13
Yep 59	1.66	1.30	1.75	1.28	2.06	1.34	2.04	1.58	1.91	1.51	2.31	1.25

	Rehabi	Rehabilitation	Psych.	Psych. & Social	Business	ness	Na	Nurses	Physi	Physical &	Other	ज
	Com	Counselors	Woı	Workers	Profes	Professionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Professionals	sionals
	¥	SD	Z	SD	Z	SD	X	SD	¥	SD	M	SD
rep 60	1.55	1.26	1.56	1.33	1.76	1.20	1.89	1.45	1.68	1.36	2.23	1.48
rep 61	3.10	.93	2.89	1.05	2.65	1.11	3.07	1.33	2.76	1.09	2.38	1.33
rep 62	3.14	06:	3.22	.83	2.59	1.06	2.41	1.28	2.90	.94	2.46	1.33
rep 63	3.27	.81	2.22	.83	2.00	1.41	1.52	1.40	1.76	1.18	2.00	1.41
rep 64	2.99	.78	2.33	1.00	1.82	1.29	2.19	1.27	1.67	1.20	1.54	1.05
rep 65	2.65	86.	2.22	76.	1.65	1.46	2.22	1.31	3.19	.75	2.08	95
rep 66	2.25	1.15	1.25	68.	1.82	1.55	2.00	1.39	3.33	76.	1.92	1.19
rep 67	2.21	1.23	1.89	.78	2.53	1.18	2.36	1.39	2.43	1.25	3.31	.85
тер 68	2.22	1.09	2.38	1.41	1.94	1.30	2.00	1.27	2.76	1.30	2.54	1.27
rep 69	3.07	.87	3.11	1.17	2.06	1.43	2.93	1.30	2.86	1.20	2.58	1.31

APPENDIX J

	Rehabi	Rehabilitation	Psych. & Social	¿ Social	Business	ness	Nurses	ses	Physical &	cal &	Other	ler
	Com	Counselors	Workers	kers	Professionals	sionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Professionals	ionals
	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD
Prep 70	2.53	1.14	2.00	1.12	1.87	96.	1.89	1.40	1.95	1.40	2.77	.
Prep 71	2.31	1.33	1.75	1.04	2.76	.83	3.29	1.01	2.29	1.55	2.62	1.56
Prep 72	2.87	1.12	2.11	1.36	2.47	1.28	2.89	1.34	2.57	1.29	2.46	1.51
Prep 73	2.90	1.09	2.56	1.51	2.82	&	2.93	1.05	2.81	1.12	3.00	1.29
Prep 74	2.10	1.35	1.88	1.25	2.12	1.41	1.79	1.42	2.05	1.32	2.23	1.48
Prep 75	2.03	1.23	2.00	. 1.31	1.94	1.48	1.59	1.34	1.33	1.15	1.77	1.54
Prep 76	2.10	1.04	1.56	1.33	2.00	1.32	2.07	1.36	3.05	.80	2.08	1.32
Prep 77	2.62	86.	2.22	1.20	2.29	1.21	2.25	1.46	3.14	.91	2.62	1.26
Prep 78	2.17	1.14	2.22	1.09	2.00	1.12	2.56	1.40	1.81	1.29	1.38	1.39
Prep 79	3.24	8.	3.44	.53	2.18	1.24	1.93	1.44	2.00	1.18	2.62	1.33

APPENDIX J

	Rehabi	Rehabilitation	Psych.	Psych. & Social	Business	ness	Nurses	ses	Physi	Physical &	පි	Other
	Comi	Counselors	Woı	Workers	Professionals	sionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Profes	Professionals
	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD
Prep 80	3.32	.71	3.44	.73	2.41	1.37	1.74	1.35	1.90	1.14	2.31	1.44
Prep 81	3.27	.74	3.33	1.00	2.53	1.37	1.89	1.34	2.19	1.17	2.31	1.44
Prep 82	3.40	.78	3.00	1.32	2.18	1.19	3.14	1.15	3.19	.81	2.46	1.33
Prep 83	3.16	.81	3.44	1.01	2.12	1.22	2.19	1.10	2.14	1.15	2.31	1.25
Prep 84	2.91	.87	3.11	.93	2.41	1.37	2.22	1.05	2.33	76.	2.46	1.20
Prep 85	2.80	· 6.	3.33	.87	2.18	1.47	1.85	1.22	2.00	1.22	2.23	1.30
Prep 86	2.72	.95	3.33	1.32	2.00	1.54	1.81	1.18	1.62	1.20	1.77	1.17
Prep 87	2.37	1.05	2.11	1.69	2.71	1.16	2.82	1.19	2.48	1.29	3.08	.95
Prep 88	2.55	1.08	2.13	1.46	2.65	1.17	2.43	1.35	2.38	1.50	2.46	1.33
Prep 89	2.86	.95	2.44	1.33	2.41	1.18	3.07	1.27	2.57	1.03	2.69	1.55

APPENDIX J

	Rehabi	Rehabilitation	Psych.	Psych. & Social	Busi	Business	Nm	Nurses	Physical &	cal &	8	Other
	Coun	Counselors	Woı	Workers	Profes	Professionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Profes	Professionals
	M	SD	Z	SD	Z	S	M	SD	M	SD	Z	SD
rep 90	2.11	1.21	2.25	1.75	2.29	1.31	2.67	1.27	2.57	1.33	2.38	96.
тер 91	2.51	1.12	2.44	1.24	2.41	1.33	2.89	1.15	2.86	66:	2.75	1.42
rep 92	2.17	1.10	2.11	1.45	2.47	1.33	2.32	1.33	2.14	1.21	1.77	1.36
rep 93	2.17	1.23	2.00	1.60	2.53	1.07	2.86	1.30	2.95	1.00	2.69	1.44
rep 94	2.05	1.17	1.89	1.36	1.88	1.50	1.75	1.43	1.73	1.12	1.67	1.30
rep 95	2.58	1.26	2.56	1.59	2.47	1.33	2.96	1.17	2.91	1.23	3.00	1.29
тер 96	2.93	1.09	2.11	1.54	2.35	1.37	2.15	1.68	3.32	68.	2.85	1.14
тер 97	1.65	1.26	1.38	1.51	2.35	1.37	2.00	1.41	2.00	1.35	3.00	1.00
тер 98	3.26	8 .	2.78	76.	1.82	1.33	1.22	1.34	98.	.83	1.77	1.79
Tep 99	2.67	1.03	2.44	1.01	1.88	1.36	1.44	1.48	2.14	1.21	1.08	95

APPENDIX J

	Rehabi	Rehabilitation	Psych. & Social	& Social	Business	ness	Nu	Nurses	Physi	Physical &	Other	Jer
	Counselo	selors	Workers	kers	Profes	Professionals			Occ. Th	Occ. Therapists	Professionals	sionals
	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	Z	SD	M	SD		S
Prep 100	1.66	1.26	1.26 1.38	1.19 2.00		1.41	1.32	1.31	1.18	1.14	1.31	
Prep 101	1.60	1.28	1.28 1.00 1.07 2.47	1.07		1.28	1.75	1.75 1.53	1.09	1.09 1.23	1.23 1.92	1.38

REFERENCES

References

- Akabas, S. H. (1976). Affirmative action: A tool for linking rehabilitation and the business community. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, <u>42(3)</u>, 20-23;42.
- Akabas, S.H., Gates, L.B., & Galvin, D.E. (1992). <u>Disability management: A complete system to reduce costs, increase productivity, meet employee needs, and ensure legal compliance</u>. New York: AMACOM.
- Anderson, J.K. & Parente, F.R. (1982). Rehabilitation counselors forecast their future. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, 48(1), 36-42.
- Ayer, M.J., Wright, G.N., & Butler, A.J. (1968). <u>Counselor orientation:</u>
 Relationship with responsibilities and performance. University of Wisconsin, Regional Rehabilitation Research Institute.
- Babbie, E. (1983). The practice of social research (3rd ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Backer, T.E. (1987). The future of rehabilitation in the workplace: Drug abuse, AIDS, & disability management. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling</u>, <u>19(2)</u>,38-41.
- Berven, N.L. (1979a). The role and functions of the rehabilitation counselor revisited. Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin, 22, 84-88.
- Berven, N.L. (1979b). Training needs of state agency rehabilitation counselors. Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin, 22, 320-329.
- Berven, N.L. (1987). Improving evaluation in counselor training and credentialing through standardized simulations. In B.Edelstein and E. Berler (Eds.) Evaluation and accountability in clinical training. New York: Plenum, 203-229.
- Bolton, B. (1985). Measurement in rehabilitation. In E. Pan, S.S. Newman, T.E. Backer, & C.L. Vash (Eds.), <u>Annual Review of Rehabilitation</u>, (pp. 115-144). New York: Springer.
- Boyatzis, R.E. (1982). The competent manager: A model for effective performance. New York: Wiley-Interscience.
- Carruthers, M.J. (1993). Targeting disability management. Risks & Benefits Journal, 3(3), 14-17.
 - Case management definition. (1992) The case manager, 3(1), p.8.

- Chelius, J., Galvin, D.E., & Owens, P. (1992). Disability: It's more expensive than you think. <u>Business and Health</u>, 11(4), 78-84.
- Crystal, R.M. (1987). Developing a business-industry emphasis in the curriculum. Rehabilitation Education, 1, 139-141.
 - Dent, G.L. (1990). Effective disability management. Business Insurance
- Desmond, R.E. (1985). Careers in employee assistance programs. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling</u>, 16, 26-30.
- Diamond, C.R., & Petkas, E.J. (1979). A state agencies view of private-for-profit rehabilitation. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, 45(3), 30-31.
- DiMichael, S.G. (1967). New directions and expectations in rehabilitation counseling. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, 33(1), 38-39.
- Emener, W.G., & Rubin, S.E. (1980). Rehabilitation counselor roles and functions and sources of role strain. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling</u>, <u>11(2)</u>, 57-69.
- Feinberg, L.R., & McFarlane, F.R. (1979). Setting-based factors in rehabilitation counselor role variability. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling</u>, <u>10</u>, 95-101.
- Fine, S.A. (1973). <u>Functional job analysis: An approach to a technology for manpower planning</u>. Kalamazoo, Mi.: W.E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research.
- Fine, S.A., Holt, A.M., & Hutchinson, M.F. (1974). <u>Functional job analysis: How to standardize task statements</u>. Kalamazoo, Mi.: W.E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research.
- Fine, S.A., & Wiley, W.W. (1971). An introduction to functional job analysis: A scaling of selected tasks from the social welfare field. Kalamazoo, Mi.: W.E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research.
- Fraser, R.T., & Clowers, M.R. (1978). Rehabilitation counselor functions: Perceptions of time spent and complexity. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling</u>, 9, 31-35.
- Galvin, D.E. (1983). Health promotion, disability management, and rehabilitation in the workplace. <u>The Interconnector</u>, <u>6(2)</u>, 1-6.
- Galvin, D.E. (1986). Employer-based disability management and rehabilitation programs. Annual Review of Rehabilitation.

- Galvin, D.E. (1991). <u>The disability management research review</u>. Washington D.C: Institute for Rehabilitation and Disability Management, Washington Business Group on Health.
- Galvin, D.E., Habeck, R.V. & Kirchner, K.A. (1992). A report from the leadership forum on disability management. Institute for Rehabilitation and Disability Management of the Washington Business Group on Health.
- Garvin, R.E. (1985). The role of the rehabilitation counselor in industry. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling</u>, 16(4), 44-47, 50.
- Gilbride, D.D., Connolly, M., & Stensrud, R. (1990). Rehabilitation education for the private-for profit sector. Rehabilitation Education, 4, 155-162.
- Gilbride, D.D., Stensrud, R., & Johnson, M. (1994). Current models of job placement and employer development: Research, competencies and educational considerations. Rehabilitation Education, 7(4), 215-239.
- Gottlieb, A., Vandergoot, D. & Lutsky, L. (1991). The role of the rehabilitation professional in corporate disability management. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, 57(2), 23-28.
- Griswold, P.P. & Scott, J.W. (1979). The state rehabilitation agency and private rehabilitation: a partnership long overdue. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, 45(3), 32-33; 74.
- Gutowski, M. (1979). <u>Rehabilitation in the private sector: Changing the structure of the rehabilitation industry</u>. Washington, D.C.: The Urban Institute.
- Habeck, R.V. (1991). Managing disability in industry. NARPPS Journal & News, 6(4), 141-146.
- Habeck, R.V. (1993). Achieving quality and value in service to the workplace. Work Injury Management, 2(3), 1; 3-5.
- Habeck, R.V. & Ellien, V. (1986). Implications of worksite practice for rehabilitation counselor education and training. The Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling, 17(3), 49-54.
- Habeck, R.V. & Munrowd, D.C. (1987). Employer-based rehabilitation practice: An educational perspective. Rehabilitation Education, 1, 95-107.
- Habeck, R.V., Leahy, M.J., Hunt, H.A., Chan, F. & Welch, E.M. (1991). Employer factors related to workers' compensation claims and disability management. Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin,34(3), 210-226.

- Habeck, R.V., Kress, M., Scully, S., & Kirchner, K. (1994). Determining the significance of the disability management movement for rehabilitation counselor education. Rehabilitation Education, 8(3), 195-240.
- Hair, J.F., Anderson, R.E., Tatham, R.L., & Black, W.C. (1992). <u>Multivariate</u> data analysis with readings. New York: Macmillan Publishing Company.
- Harrison, D.K., & Lee, C.C. (1979). Rehabilitation counseling competencies. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling</u>, <u>10</u>(3), 135-141.
- Havranek, J. (1993). Historical perspectives on the rehabilitation counseling profession and the disability management movement: The emergence of a new paradigm. NARPPS Journal, 8(4), 157-167.
- Havranek, J. (1994). In D.E. Shrey & M. Lacerte (Eds.) <u>Principles and practices of disability management in industry</u>. Winter Park. PMD Publishers Group, Inc.
- Heppner, P.P., Kivlinghan, D.M., & Wampold, B.E. (1992). Research design in counseling. Brooks/Cole Publishing Company: Pacific Grove, California.
- Hunt, H.A. (1988). The incidence of workers' compensation claims in Michigan. Final report to Bureau of Workers' Disability Compensation, Michigan Department of Labor. Kalamazoo: W.E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research.
- Hunt, H.A., Habeck, R.V., VanTol, R., & Scully, S. (1993). <u>Disability prevention among Michigan employers</u>. (Technical Report # 93-004). Kalamazoo, MI: W.E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research.
- Jacques, M.E. (1959). <u>Critical counseling behavior in rehabilitation settings</u>. Iowa City, IA: State University of Iowa, College of Education.
- Janikowski, T.P. (1990). Rehabilitation counselor competencies: Recommendations for identification and assessment. <u>Rehabilitation Education</u>, <u>4</u>, 185-193.
- Jenkins, W., Patterson, J.B., & Szymanski, E.M. (1992). Philosophical, historic, and legislative aspects of the rehabilitation counseling profession. In R.M.Parker & E.M. Szymanski (Eds.) Rehabilitation counseling: Basics and beyond (2nd ed., pp.1-41). Austin, TX: PRO-ED.
- Kilbury, R.F., Benshoff, J.J. & Riggar, T.F. (1990). The expansion of private sector rehabilitation: Will rehabilitation education respond? Rehabilitation Education, 4(3), 163-170.

- Klemp, G.O. (1980). <u>The assessment of occupational competence</u>. (Report to the National Institute of Education). Washington D.C.
- Leahy, M. J. (1986). <u>Competency importance in rehabilitation roles and settings</u>. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison.
- Leahy, M.J. (1994). <u>Validation of essential knowledge dimensions in case</u>
 <u>management</u>. (Technical Report: Case Management Research Project) Rolling
 Meadows, IL: The Foundation for Rehabilitation Certification, Education, and Research.
- Leahy, M. J., Shapson, P. & Wright, G.N. (1987). Professional rehabilitation competency research: Project methodology. <u>Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin</u>, 31, 94-106.
- Leahy, M.J., Szymanski, E.M., & Linkowski, D.C. (1993). Knowledge importance in rehabilitation counseling. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling</u>, <u>24</u>(4), 36-45.
- Leahy, M.J., Wright, G.N., & Shapson, P.M. (1987). Rehabilitation practitioner competencies by role and setting. Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin, 31, 199-131.
- Lewin, S.S., Ramseur, J.H. & Sink, J. (1979). The role of private rehabilitation: Founder, catalyst, competitor. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, <u>45(3)</u>, 16-19.
- Lynch, R.K. & Herbert, J.T. (1984). Employment trends for rehabilitation counselors. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling</u>, <u>15(3)</u>, 43-46.
- Lynch, R.K. & Martin, T. (1982). Rehabilitation counseling in the private sector: A training needs survey. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, 48(3), 51-53;73.
- MacDonald, M. (1990). You can control your disability costs. <u>Business & Health</u>, 21-36.
- Matkin, R.E. (1980). The rehabilitation counselor in private practice: Perspective for education and preparation. Journal of Rehabilitation, 46(2), 60-62.
- Matkin, R.E. (1982). Rehabilitation services offered in the private sector: A pilot investigation. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, <u>48</u>(4), 31-33.
- Matkin, R.E. (1983a). Insurance rehabilitation: Counseling the industrially injured worker. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling</u>, <u>14(3)</u>, 54-58.
- Matkin, R.E. (1983b). The roles and functions of rehabilitation specialists in the private sector. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling</u>, <u>14(1)</u>, 14-27.

- Matkin, R.E. (1987). Content areas and recommended training sites of insurance rehabilitation knowledge. <u>Rehabilitation Education</u>, 1, 233-246.
- Matkin, R.E. & Riggar, T.F. (1986). The rise of private sector rehabilitation and its effects on training programs. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, <u>52(2)</u>, 50-58.
- McMahon, B.T. (1979). Private sector rehabilitation: Benefits, dangers, and implications for education. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, 45(3), 56-58.
- McMahon, B.T. & Matkin, R.E. (1983). Preservice graduate education for private sector rehabilitation counselors. <u>Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin</u>, 27(1), 54-60.
 - Merrill, J. (1985). Defining case management. Business and Health, August, 5-9.
- Mitchell, K. (1982). <u>The self-insured employer and rehabilitation: A disability management model</u>. Unpublished report.
- Muthard, J.E., & Salomone, P. (1969). The roles and functions of the rehabilitation counselor. Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin, 13, 81-168.
- Nadolsky, J. M. (1975). Specialization: Its nature and effects. <u>Vocational</u> Evaluation and Work Adjustment Bulletin, 8(1), 2-7.
- National Commission on State Workmen's Compensation Laws. (1972). <u>The report of the national commission on state workmen's compensation laws</u>. Washington D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- National Rehabilitation Planners. (1993). <u>Hospitals and work disability: A summary fact sheet</u>. Columbus, OH: National Rehabilitation Planners.
- Nunnally, J.C. (1970). <u>Introduction to psychological measurement</u>. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Olsheski, J.A. (1993). Comments on buys. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u> <u>Education, 17(1)</u>, 14.
- Organist, J. (1979). "Private sector rehabilitation practitioners Organize within NRA". <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, 45(3), 52-55.
- Parham, J.D. & Harris, W.M. (1978). <u>State agency rehabilitation counselor functions and the mentally retarded</u>. Lubbock, Texas: Texas Tech University, Research and Training Center in Mental Retardation.

- Parker, R.M. & Thomas, K.R. (1981). Rehabilitation at the crossroads: Is professional rehabilitation experiencing growth pains or death throes? <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling</u>, 12, 85-86.
- Pati, G.C. (1985). Economics of rehabilitation in the workplace. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, <u>51</u>(4), 22-30.
- Patterson, C.H. (1957). Counselor or Coordinator? <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, <u>23(5)</u>, 13-15.
- Patterson, C.H. (1967). Specialization in rehabilitation counseling. <u>Rehabilitation</u> Counseling Bulletin, 10(4), 147-154.
- Pedhazur, E.J. & Schmelkin, L.P. (1991). <u>Measurement, design, and analysis: An integrated approach</u>. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates: Hillsdale, New Jersey.
- Porter, T.L., Rubin, S.E., & Sink, J.M. (1979). Essential rehabilitation counselor diagnostic, counseling, and placement competencies. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation</u> Counseling, 10(3), 158-162.
- Primoff, E.S. (1980). The use of self-assessments in examining. <u>Personnel Psychology, 33</u>, 283-290.
- Rasch, J.D. (1992). RCE curricula and insurance rehabilitation. <u>Rehabilitation</u> <u>Education</u>, <u>6</u>, 33-39.
- Reagles, K.W. (1981). Perspectives on the proposed merger of rehabilitation organizations. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling</u>, <u>12</u>, 75-79.
- Rousmaniere, P. (1989). Too many cooks, no chef. Health Management Quarterly, 11 (2).
- Rubin, S.E. & Emener, W.G. (1979). Recent rehabilitation counselor role changes and role strain: A pilot investigation. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation</u> Counseling, 10(3), 142-147.
- Rubin, S.E., Matkin, R.E., Ashley, J., Beardsley, M.M., May, V.R., Onstott, K., & Puckett, F.D. (1984). Roles and functions of certified rehabilitation counselors. Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin, 27, 199-224.
- Sales, A. (1979). Rehabilitation counseling in the private sector: Implications for graduate education. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, 45(3), 59-61;72.

- Sather, W.S., Wright, G.N., & Butler, A.J. (1968). An instrument for the measure of counselor orientation. Madison: University of Wisconsin, Regional Rehabilitation Research Institute.
- Sawyer, G. (1976). The industrially injured: Proceedings of the national training institute. Chicago: Medical Rehabilitation Research and Training Center.
- Scher, P.L. (1979). NARPPS-Key to survival of rehabilitation in the nineteen eighties. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, 45(3), 50-51;74.
- Schwartz, G.E., Watson, S.D., Galvin, D.E. & Lipoff, E. (1989). The disability management sourcebook. Washington: Washington Business Group on Health.
- Scofield, M.E. (1987). Opportunities for rehabilitation counselors in the private sector. Rehabilitation Education, 1, 197-199.
- Scope of practice for rehabilitation counseling. (1994, Fall). <u>CRC The Counselor</u>, p.4-5.
- Scully, S.M. & Habeck, R.V. (1993). The role of the rehabilitation counselor in disability management. Unpublished manuscript, Michigan State University.
- Shawhan, C. (1983). Rehabilitation placement issues: The educator's perspective. JPD Professional Supplement.
- Serlin, R.C. (1987). Hypothesis testing, theory building, and the philosophy of science. <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>, 34, 365-371.
- Shrey, D.E. (1979). The rehabilitation counselor in industry: A new frontier. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling</u>, 9(4), 168-172.
- Shrey, D.E. (1990). Disability management: An employer-based rehabilitation concept. In S.J. S.J. Scheer (Ed.) <u>Multidisciplinary Perspectives in Vocational</u>
 <u>Assessment of Impaired Workers</u>. Aspen Publishers.
- Shrey, D.E. (1992). Employer-based work return transition programs and the deinstitutionalization of America's injured workers. Work Injury Management, 1(4), 4-6.
- Shrey, D.E. (1994). Worksite disability management and industrial rehabilitation. In D.E. Shrey & M. Lacerte (Eds.) <u>Principles and practices of disability management in industry</u>. Winter Park: PMD Publishers Group, Inc.

- Szymanski, E.M., Linkowski, D.C., Leahy, M.J., Diamond, E.E., & Thoreson, R.W. (1993). Validation of rehabilitation counseling accreditation and certification knowledge areas: Methodology and initial results. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling</u>, 24(4), 24-31.
- Tate, D.G., Habeck, R.V., & Galvin, D.E. (1986). Disability management: Origins, concepts, and principles of practice. <u>Journal of Applied Rehabilitation</u>
 <u>Counseling</u>,
 17(3), 5-11.
- Thomas, K.R. (1982). A critique of trends in rehabilitation counselor education toward specialization. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, 48(1), 49-51.
- Victor, R.B. (1989). <u>Medical cost containment in workers' compensation:</u> <u>Innovative approaches</u>. Boston: Workers' Compensation Research Institute.
- Walker, M.L. & Myers, R.W. (1988). A counter proposal: Defining the rehabilitation professional. Rehabilitation Education, 2, 49-57.
- Welch, G.T. (1979). The relationship of rehabilitation with industry. <u>Journal of Rehabilitation</u>, 45(3), 24-25.
- Whittington, H.G. (1975). A case for private enterprise in mental health. Administration in Mental Health, Spring.
- Wright, G.N. (1980). <u>Total rehabilitation</u>. Boston MA: Little, Brown and Company.
- Wright, G.N. & Fraser, R.T. (1975). <u>Task analysis for the evaluation</u>, <u>preparation</u>, <u>classification</u>, <u>and utilization of rehabilitation counselor track personnel</u>. (Wisconsin Studies in Vocational Rehabilitation Monograph No. 22, Series 3). Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin.
- Wright, G.N., Leahy, M.J., & Shapson, P. (1987). Rehabilitation skills inventory: Importance of counselor competencies. <u>Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin</u>, 31(2), 107-118.
- Zadny, J.J. & James, L.F. (1977). Time spent on placement. Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin, 21(1), 31-35.

I.				
•				
•				
•				
,				
•	,			
•				
•		·		
•				
•				
•				
•				
*				
)				
1				
•				
1				
•				
•				
•				
•				
,				
,			•	
1				
•				
•				
•				
•				
•				
•				
r				
v				
J.				
>				
•				
_				
•				
•				

